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HEAD OFFICE

16th Floor, Tower 5, The Gateway
Harbour City

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Telephone : (852) 2802 2165

Fax © (852) 2802 2697

E-mail . ir@centurysunshine.com.hk
Website © www.centurysunshine.com.hk
AUDITORS

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
Unit 1903A-1905, 19/F.

8 Observatory Road

Tsim Sha Tsui

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
0O-Bank Co., Ltd.
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LISTING INFORMATION

Listing : Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”)

Stock code : 509

SHARE INFORMATION

Company’s shares of :4,581,116,8483 Shares
HK$0.02 each
(the “Shares”) in issue
(31 December 2023)

Market capitalisation - HK$45,811,168
(31 December 2023)

Board lot size : 5,000 Shares

LOSS PER SHARE FOR 2023

Basic 1 HK5.17 cents
Diluted : HK7.46 cents

DIVIDEND PER SHARE FOR 2023

Interim : HKS$NIl
Final (proposed) - HK$Nil
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Principal:
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Cayman Islands

Hong Kong:
Tricor Investor Services Limited /
17/F, Far East Finance Centre /

16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong /
REGISTERED OFFICE /
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Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

| would like to thank all for the unfailing support and total confidence in Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, “Century Sunshine” or the “Group”). On behalf of the
board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company, | am pleased to present the annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”) of the Group for the perusal of our stakeholders.

INDUSTRY REVIEW

“Overcapacity in the compound fertiliser industry, weak demand.”

In the past two years, the international political and economic environment has been complex and volatile, and
energy and fertiliser prices have remained unstable. In 2023, the capacity utilisation rate of China’s compound
fertiliser market was only 40%. Many compound fertiliser enterprises in major provinces such as Shandong and
Jiangsu have withdrawn their production capacity. Compound fertilisers are located at the end of the fertiliser
industry chain, and the irregular price fluctuations in the upstream sector have disrupted the seasonal production
and stocking rhythm of fertilisers. As a result, the capacity utilisation rate is difficult to improve, customers are
cautious in their purchases, and market demand has declined.

BERFEEEES (BM)
Compound fertiliser output (ten thousand tons)
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Chairman’s Statement

BUSINESS REVIEW

The fertiliser business is in a situation of internal troubles and external difficulties. Apart
from the overall downturn in the industry, the internal factors that have affected the
performance of the Group’s operations are mainly due to the impact of the pandemic
and the resulting financial shortage caused by debt restructuring. Additionally, the debt
restructuring of our domestic subsidiaries in China (the “Domestic Subsidiaries”) has not
yielded satisfactory results, making the operation of the company extremely challenging.

The schemes proposed by the Company was approved by the requisite statutory majorities
of the scheme creditors on 15 June 2023. The schemes were subsequently approved
by the Hong Kong Court on 26 July 2023, and the Singapore Court on 31 July 2023.
The Schemes became effective on 31 August 2023. Since then, the Joint Provisional
Liquidators had made the application to the Grand Court of Caymans Islands (the “Grand
Court”) for the withdrawal of the Cayman Petition and the discharge of the appointment of
joint provisional liquidators. On 24 October 2023, the Grand Court granted an order that
the Cayman Petition be dismissed and the joint provisional liquidators be unconditionally
released as joint provisional liquidators of the Company. The provisional liquidations of the
Company has been dismissed.

While the offshore debt restructuring of the Group has been successfully completed,
the substantial professional fees associated with the debt restructuring have placed a
heavy burden on the production and operation of the Domestic Subsidiaries, as they are
fully reliant on their support. At the same time, due to the impact of the offshore debt
restructuring, the Group is currently unable to obtain new financing in the meanwhile,
intensifying the pressure on its working capital.

According to the regulations of the Shandong Provincial Government regarding “Recolation
of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial Parks and Independent Development”, all
the factory buildings of our subsidiary, Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company
Limited, have been demolished for several years. However, since the government has not
yet issued corresponding policy implementation details, despite numerous promises and
active efforts from the local government, and our full cooperation, no progress has been
made so far.

Currently, the debt restructuring of our Domestic Subsidiaries is still ongoing. The shortage
of working capital, combined with the escalation of litigation and enforcement. It has
become more difficult to carry out the debt restructuring of our Domestic Subsidiaries,
which also restrict its normal business operations.

In addition to the aforementioned challenges, the significant fluctuations in raw material
prices in recent years have resulted in tight working capital for the Company. Unable to
procure raw materials in line with market trends, the management has made the decision
to reduce production capacity and maintain minimal production levels to minimise the risk
of losses and sustain the Group’s operations. The prolonged low capacity utilisation has

also led to an unstable management team, impacting work efficiency and exacerbating the &

difficulties in production and operation.

13
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FREHREE FREHRESE
Chairman’s Statement Chairman’s Statement
AEES—FLEHMUWBEERELR  eHAEBR TR —HEREEBRESR AR ([HER Another main business sector of the Group is the magnesium product business, which is

i FNDEL SEEFETT BE-FXSERY S0 ELG R ALET operated by our subsidiary, Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

ik . B R S E R N E( AR EEE e ITEBEEROER)URTHEE R BN M o (*REMT”). The price of magnesium has been continuously declining, reaching its lowest

= EENELARAREEENEL RENBETFATFERIESSER AT ([ agneSIl.lm point in three years, which has squeezed the profit margins of magnesium enterprises.
BRI ER T S T E R TN AR S UERTH RN - BIESE Product Meanwhile, in response to the requirements of the Chinese Government’s Ministry of

Ecology and Environment and other functional departments regarding the promotion
of ultra-low emissions in the coking industry, as well as the guidelines for industrial
restructuring issued by the National Development and Reform Commission, the local
government in Hami, Xinjiang, where REMT’s subsidiary Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium
Products Co., Ltd. (“Xinjiang Tengxiang”) is located, has mandated that designated

BACHNIERANRERRENSFLAELE RRAVREFTERAKREES  BARE
—IMBEICELLRENECERE N ERELEREEERE R BRETRRSI#
RBRE BRERE BEAFESFZERESTN  BHISKKETRUERESH R -

Jﬁ tzﬁ industry production facilities must undergo upgrading and renovation. This includes major

magnesium production enterprises like Xinjiang Tengxiang, which primarily utilise semi coke
BEt R K —E2 R EAEEE TN ER TSR AT REREMEE T f£& residual gas for magnesium refining. The environmental upgrade and renovation require
BEELT TEBMSLSIIFREMGE SRS AEER  NESTENE( - A & a significant amount of capital investment. The management is actively seeking financing
EEFEBGAISEE USRS BE FTARMETAEeE  HEMEED B HEM and exploring various financing methods, including but not limited to introducing venture
AT AL TS QLB HEL T - AEMbIESEBA SRS BASEALTES capital, equity financing, project partnerships, and other financing options. They are making

WTRSCLEE RPBEEEE GRS A BELE  SEEGRFERSHDE efforts to find the best possible solution to meet the funding requirements.

AOHe  RESEERFANNTERRPRFBHEF N - ARG - KRR -—FHRAE
B7Em T BAEE EEESRIERNERESMSEL SKRERBASBTHEAS

BE NFERFANNBRRPHEEE - . . , o ,
It is anticipated that the global economy may face the risk of weakening in the coming
A year, which could result in a moderate downward fluctuation of commodity prices. In such
ﬂ(aﬂj circumstances, the management and executive team should enhance self-development,
address any weaknesses, and adapt to market changes. Simultaneously, the management

PROSPECT

TABREAEBEIRKRE EFT2RE B  ROREGERHNEZERC—EURY is actively creating conditions to fully leverage the financing platform of the listed
AEBBA DI EHBIAROHRGE  BIMEKEAIERNEH - BRENEREANIRBANE:R company, broaden financing channels, and strive to provide financial support for the
AARTHENRY  HEEPEZETHEHNRIBRIAFBZENGE - 2024FEREE B RS normal operations of its subsidiaries. The Group also places great importance on talent
RENBACEEZRBEPAELANEERZE  SREE 8 =17 ERBEE | development. Whether within the Company or among its subsidiary’s management teams,

we will continue to actively attract talent, strengthen the foundation, and provide broader
opportunities for the Group’s future development, thus ensuring its competitiveness in
a fiercely competitive market environment. Overall, the upcoming year presents both
challenges and opportunities for the Group. The management will take appropriate
measures to respond to market changes, explore financing channels, and prioritise talent
development, aiming for sustained growth in a competitive environment.
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On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all shareholders,
members of the board of directors, clients, banks, partners, and all staff members for
their unwavering support to the Group. The successful completion of the offshore debt
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”), the
overall revenue of the Group reached approximately
HK$315,582,000 (2022: approximately HK$531,605,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 40.6% compared
to the previous year. The overall gross loss margin recorded
25.5% (2022: gross profit margin 12.3%), and the loss after
tax amounted to approximately HK$475,136,000, reflecting
a decrease of approximately 55.0% compared to the same
period last year, which incurred a loss of approximately
HK$1,055,367,000. Among them, revenue from the
fertiliser business for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$52,061,000 (2022: approximately HK$141,858,000),
reflecting a decrease of approximately 63.3%. Within
revenue of the fertiliser business, the brand licensing revenue
accounted for approximately HK$6,614,000. Brand licensing
is a business strategy adopted by the Group to maintain
a certain market share, brand penetration, and generate
additional income in the face of severe market fluctuations.

Despite the successful implementation of the offshore debt
restructuring scheme by the Group on 31 August 20283,
after three years of efforts, the substantial professional fees
associated with the debt restructuring have placed a heavy
burden on the production and operation of our domestic
subsidiaries in China (the “Domestic Subsidiaries”), as they
are fully reliant on their support. At the same time, due to
the impact of the offshore debt restructuring, the Group is
currently unable to obtain new financing in the short term,
intensifying the pressure on its working capital.

In addition to the aforementioned challenges, the significant
fluctuations in raw material prices in recent years have
resulted in tight working capital for the Company. Unable
to procure raw materials in line with market trends, the
management has made the decision to reduce production
capacity and maintain minimal production levels to minimise
the risk of losses and sustain the company’s operations.
The prolonged low capacity utilisation has also led to an
unstable management team, impacting work efficiency and
exacerbating the difficulties in production and operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group’s magnesium product business, held through
“REMT” generated revenue of approximately HK$263,491,000
for the Year (2022: approximately HK$383,899,000),
reflecting a decrease of approximately 31.4% compared to
the previous year. The gross loss margin was approximately
32.4% (2022: gross profit margin 12.1%). The decline in sales
revenue of REMT was primarily attributed to the continuous
downturn in magnesium prices, reaching the lowest point
in three years, which has squeezed the profitability of
magnesium enterprises.

PROGRESS OF RESTRUCTURING

The schemes proposed by the Company was approved by
the requisite statutory majorities of the scheme creditors on
15 June 2023. The schemes were subsequently approved by
the Hong Kong Court on 26 July 2023, and the Singapore
Court on 31 July 2023. The Schemes became effective on
31 August 2023. Since then, the Joint Provisional Liquidators
had made the application to the Grand Court of Caymans
Islands (the “Grand Court”) for the withdrawal of the Cayman
Petition and the discharge of the appointment of joint
provisional liquidators. On 24 October 2023, the Grand Court
granted an order that the Cayman Petition be dismissed and
the joint provisional liquidators be unconditionally released.

According to the regulations of the Shandong Provincial
Government regarding “Recolation of Industries from
City Urban Area to Industrial Parks and Independent
Development” (“the Plan”), all the factory buildings of our
subsidiary, Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company
Limited (“Shangdong Hongri”), have been demolished for
several years. However, since the government has not
yet issued corresponding policy implementation details,
despite numerous promises and active efforts from the local
government, and our full cooperation, no progress has been
made so far.

Currently, the debt restructuring of our Domestic Subsidiaries
is still ongoing. The shortage of working capital, combined
with the escalation of litigation and enforcement. It has
become more difficult to carry out the debt restructuring
of our Domestic Subsidiaries, which also restrict its normal
business operations.

17
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B2
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PROSPECT

2024 will be a highly challenging year, and the management
team needs to actively respond to the current operationa
difficulties by implementing proactive strategies and
measures to address the challenges. The management team
also needs to handle bank loan litigation cases properly and
seek solutions. The management team will exert maximum
effort to continue advancing the monetisation of Shangdong
Hongri land and fully leverage the advantageous conditions
of offshore listing platforms for financing, aiming to broaden
financing channels and meet the Group’s financing needs.
Meanwhile, the management team will actively attract talent,
injecting fresh vitality into the sustainable development of
the Group and its operational teams. Overall, 2024 poses
significant challenges for the management team of the Group,
and we will approach them with a positive attitude and
pragmatic actions to resolve issues and drive the Group’s
development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FEEBERE KEY OPERATIONAL DATA

FRZARER T BLZEBEHIEE2022F FHIE  Unaudited key operational data for the Year, together with

BEHEBEEO T  TRAVNN T EEHKBBEANE the comparative figures for the corresponding period in 2022,

FINE L EFTHRI99% © are as follows. Main businesses listed below contributed over
99% of the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

(a) TEERZHEE : (a) Sales volume of major products:
2023 2022 #, CRA)
Increase/
Mg i (Decrease)
Tonnes Tonnes %
BEEBER Fertiliser business
KEEE From production 13,815 35,572 (61.2)
K E MR E From brand licensing 37,812 106,029 (64.3)
51,627 141,601 (63.5)
BEEMEK Magnesium product business 12,300 11,098 10.8
(b) LtEZETEEGZFYERE - (b) Average selling price of major products
produced:
2023 2022 N
- | &It W Decrease
HK$/Tonne HK$/Tonne %
BEPHER Fertiliser business 3,290 3,594 (8.5)
EEMER Magnesium product business 21,337 34,592 (38.3)
(c) LEZEEEZE () FIFE: (c) Gross (loss)/profit margin of major
products produced:
(R
2023 2022 =R
(Decrease)
Percentage
% % point
BREER XD Fertiliser business (3.0) 6.5 (9.5)
EEMEB Magnesium product business (32.4) 12.1 (44.5)
AEEZEBEBRIR The Group’s overall (25.5) 12.3 (37.8)

performance

19
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Management Discussion and Analysis

R4 %5 [E1 kR
BEERARER

NEE S F 15U 25 #315,582,000/% 7T (2022
F : 49531,605,0008 70) + B EF R 40.6% °
Hf - AEBNEZLER  BERBEBRR
BEEMERD AME416.5%583.5% (20224 :
#926.7% M72.2%) °

B EID R ZE AN F WA 952,061,000 7T (2022
F : #9141,858,000%7C) + [AIEL R 2> £963.3% ©
BEEMEFEREENEL10.1% (2022F : 49
15.7%) o ZHIRH AN EBEHBNES TR -
MZEMFERVBAEREHRK  A£E—B
ERGEEERBEURDEERR - AFZHEL
13,815MF (20224 : #935,5720F) + A b T F& 49
61.2% ° M EHER T2 MR E LG/ & E W
KTBENFE  NERREEHREEERELNI.0%
(20224 : EFIRHB6.5%) > AL A AR E
MBEBENMELE M NEB2022F 8 H
T RERE FAZmEEES 37,8120
(20224 : #9106,02008) * BB A 496,614,000
7 7T (20224F : 4914,012,000/%87T) °

FINANCIAL REVIEW
OPERATING INCOME AND GROSS LOSS

The Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$315,582,000 during the Year (2022: approximately
HK$531,605,000), being a decrease of approximately 40.6%
YoY. Of which, the Group’s dual core businesses: fertiliser
business and magnesium product business accounted for
approximately 16.5% and 83.5% (2022: approximately 26.7%
and 72.2%) respectively.

During the Year, revenue from fertiliser business was
approximately HK$52,061,000 (2022: approximately
HK$141,858,000), being a decrease of 63.3% YoY. Overall
gross profit margin for fertiliser business was approximately
10.1% (2022: approximately 15.7%). Suffering from
insufficient fund resulted from onshore and offshore debt
restructuring and high volatility in raw material price in the
past two years, the Group further compressed its production
scale to reduce operational risk. Sale quantity for the Year is
approximately 13,815 tonnes (2022: approximately 35,572
tonnes), being a decrease of 61.2% YoY. Impacted by
instable material price and impaired operation efficiency from
reduced scale, sale of fertiliser recorded a gross loss margin
of approximately 3.0% for the Year (2022: gross profit margin
of approximately 6.5%). To increase revenue and maintaining
certain market share and brand penetration, the Group
developed brand licensing since 2022. During the Year,
37,812 tonnes (2022: 106,029 tonnes) were licensed and
contributing revenue of approximately HK$6,614,000 (2022:
approximately HK$14,012,000).
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During the Year, revenue from magnesium product business
was approximately HK$263,491,000 (2022: approximately
HK$383,899,000), decreased by approximately 31.4%
YoY. The global economic slowdown in 2023, alongside
a challenging economic environment, impacted industries
worldwide. In the PRC, magnesium ingot prices followed a
generally decreasing trend. Despite interim recoveries in the
middle of the year, a persistent downturn commenced in
the fourth quarter of 20283, significantly contributed to our
revenue shortfall. Despite a slight increase in the Group’s
sales volume of magnesium products, from approximately
11,098 tonnes in 2022 to approximately 12,300 tonnes in
20283, the average selling price of the Group’s magnesium
products decreased from approximately HK$34,592 per
tonne in 2022 to approximately HK$21,337 per tonne. This
substantial price drop was the primary driver behind the
revenue decline. Consequently, magnesium product business
recorded a gross loss margin of 32.4% for the Year (2022:
gross profit margin of approximately 12.1%)

OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET

Other net gains or losses for the Year amounted to a net
loss of approximately HK$15,336,000 (2022: a net gain
of approximately HK$16,595,000), being a decrease of
approximately 192.4% YoY. This was mainly due to the
decrease in sale of scrap materials by metallurgical flux
business by approximately HK$12,174,000 YoY. Besides,
magnesium product business also recorded a loss of
approximately HK$13,701,000 on sale of long-idle raw
materials to realise cash during the Year.

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Selling and marketing expenses were approximately
HK$4,728,000 (2022: approximately HK$7,839,000), which
mainly consisted of market operating expenses, sales staff
salaries, and sales and distribution expenses. The decrease in
selling and marketing expenses was in line with the decrease
in revenue.
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ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses during the Year amounted to
approximately HK$264,683,000 (2022: approximately
HK$395,525,000), representing a YoY decrease of
approximately 33.1%. Administrative expenses mainly
included staff compensation, depreciation and amortisation
and professional expenses. The decrease mainly due to the
one-off recognition of expenses in the aggregate amount
of approximately HK$111,276,000 in 2022, including
the provision of approximately HK$82,656,000 for the
Resettlement Compensation for Shandong Hongri’s Plan and
provision for long outstanding prepayments of approximately
HK$28,620,000 for magnesium product business.

GAIN ON DEBT RESTRUCTURING

Gain on debt restructuring of approximately HK$649,045,000
was recognised during the Year upon the effective of the
Company’s Creditors’ Scheme on 31 August 2023 (2022:
gain on debt restructuring of approximately HK$140,076,000
was recognised by the Group upon the effective of REMT
creditors’ scheme on 31 May 2022). For details, please see
Note 10 to the financial statements.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs were approximately HK$178,819,000 (2022:
approximately HK$191,776,000), representing a decrease
of approximately 6.8% YoY. The Company’s has effective
implemented its Creditors’ Scheme, which eliminated the
recognition of any further default interests in respect of its
offshore debt.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

The income tax credit for the Year was approximately
HK$8,537,000 (2022: approximately HK$6,365,000),
representing a YoY increase of approximately 34.1%.
Following the significant drop in revenue and profit, PRC
Enterprises Income Tax also decreased, besides, there were
also reversal of overprovision for previous years during the
Year.
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MATERIAL ITEMS CONTRIBUTED TO
LOSS FOR THE YEAR

During the Year, the Group recognised the following
impairment and allowance on assets in aggregate of
HK$612,886,000 (2022: approximately HK$645,913,000):

1. Impairment of non-current assets

During the Year, the management of the Group reviewed
that two cash-generating unit of the Group, fertiliser
business and metallurgical flux business segment
(“CGU 1”) and magnesium product business segment
(“CGU 2”) underperformed and incurred losses due to
the unfavourable market conditions and constraints to
working capital and debt restructuring of the Group.

The Group engaged independent valuer to perform the
valuations of CGU 1 and CGU 2 of the Group as at
31 December 2023. Impairment of HK$246,257,000
(2022: HK$$348,965,000) and HK$355,018,000 (2022:
HK$61,530,000) have been recognised for CGU1 and
CGU2 respectively, totally HK$601,275,000 (2022:
HK$410,495,000) for the Year.

For details, please see Note 23 to the financial
statements.
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2. Allowance for expected credit losses
on trade receivables, deposit and other
receivables
Under HKFRS 9, companies are required to account
for what they expect the loss to be on the day they
issue the invoice and revise their estimate of that loss
until the date they get paid. The concept of expected
credit losses (ECLs) means that companies are
required to look at how current and future economic
conditions impact the amount of loss. However, it
does not mean that such losses had actually occurred
nor should happen in coming years. Instead, ECLs
reflect information available at the reporting date
and it should need to be assessed for each financial
year. Independent valuers were engaged by the
Group to assess the ECLs for the trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables as at 31 December
2023. Affected by the ongoing COVID-19 epidemic,
the Group’s receivables collection was significantly
delayed. Therefore, an allowance of approximately
HK$11,611,000 (2022: approximately HK$235,418,000)
was made for the Year.

For details, please see Notes 27 and 28 to financial
statements.

MARGIN

During the Year, the Group’s after-tax loss was approximately
HK$475,136,000 (2022: approximately HK$1,055,367,000),
representing a YoY decrease of approximately 55.0%.

If excluding the non-recurring impairment and allowance
on assets in aggregate of approximately HK$612,886,000
(2022: approximately HK$645,913,000) and the recognition
of a provision for the Resettlement Compensation of
approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$82,656,000) in relation to
Shandong Hongri’s Plan and the gain on debt restructuring
of approximately HK$649,045,000 (2022: HK$140,706,000),
the adjusted after-tax loss from operations for the Year was
approximately HK$511,295,000 (2022: HK$467,504,000),
being an increase of 9.4% YoY. The increase in adjusted
loss was mainly due to the significant loss recorded by
magnesium product business during the Year.
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The Group will continue to monitor the market movements
and will timely adjust its business strategies in response to
various market conditions so as to minimise the associated
price risk and for resumption of performance. In addition,
the Board is also taking various measures to improve and
strengthen the operation and management of the Group.
These measures include (i) restructuring internal capital
and debt, and seeking potential investors to participate
in fundraising plans; and/or (ii) taking further cost control
measures on capital investment and operation to reduce the
overall operating costs of the Group.

The Company is committed to continuing seeking positive
feedbacks from creditors to support the plan and will
make further announcements in respect of any substantial
development of the restructuring plan.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

LIQUIDITY, LIABILITIES AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity in 2023 was mainly derived from cash
generated from business operations during the Year. As at
31 December 2023, total amount of bank and cash balances
of the Group was approximately HK$61,306,000 (2022:
HK$86,369,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total borrowings
was approximately HK$1,705,534,000, decreased by
approximately 13.1% as compared to that of 2022 of
approximately HK$1,963,590,000, which was mainly due to
the depreciation of RMB and the effective of the Company’s
Creditor’s Scheme. The Group’s gearing ratio (calculated by
total borrowings over total assets) was approximately 52.9%
in 2023 (2022: 45.0%).
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had pledge of its
assets, details of which are disclosed in Notes 31 and 34 to
the financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, other than those disclosed in Note
41 to the financial statements, the Group did not have any
material capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, other than those disclosed in Note
46 to the financial statements, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the issued share capital of the
Company were HK$91,622,337, divided into 4,581,116,843
shares of HK$0.02 each.

PROJECT OVERVIEW

Dolomite Mine

The Group’s dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City,
Jilin Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by open-pit
method, and therefore no additional exploration works are
involved or required. Only simple infrastructure works for
open-pit mining are involved in the development activities,
and no underground exploration or structural works are
involved. The dolomite mined is raw material for producing
magnesium products of the Group. The transportation cost
for raw material is relatively low due to the close proximity of
the mine to the production base of the Group.
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The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the
Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 31 December
2023, the anticipated resource and reserve volumes were
determined based on the yearly reduction of quantity mined
to calculate the remaining resource and reserve volumes.
There is no material change in the assumptions of estimation
by the Group as compared with those previously disclosed.
The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the
Group’s internal geological experts. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group completed a dolomite output of
39,227 tonnes. As compared with that as at 31 December
2022, there was no material change in the resource estimate
and ore reserve of the dolomite mine during the Year.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities, exploration
activities and development activities of dolomite for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were HK$NIl.

Serpentine Mine

The Group’s serpentine mine is situated in Donghai County,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by
open-pit method, and therefore no additional exploration
works are involved or required. Only simple infrastructure
works for open-pit mining are involved in the development
activities, and no underground exploration or structural
works are involved. The serpentine mined is sold directly
as metallurgical flux for iron and steel smelting and is raw
material for producing silicon magnesium fertilisers of the
Group. The transportation cost for raw material is relatively
low due to the close proximity of the mine to the production
base of the Group.

The resource/reserve of the serpentine mine of the Group
was reported under the JORC system when it was acquired
in 2010. As at 31 December 2023, the anticipated resource
and reserve volumes were determined based on the volume
at the time of acquisition with the yearly reduction of quantity
mined to calculate the remaining resource and reserve
volumes. There is no material change in the assumptions of
estimation by the Group as compared with those previously
disclosed. The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed
by the Group’s internal geological experts. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, there were no serpentine output.
As compared with that as at 31 December 2022, there was
no material change in the resource estimate and ore reserve
of the serpentine mine.
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The expenditures incurred for 2023 in development activities
were mainly CAPEX in relation to production safety monitoring
and alert system project of the mine. Such expenditures have
been capitalised and included in the consolidated statement
of financial position for 2023. The expenditures incurred in
mining activities were mainly for direct wages, materials,
energy, transportation, depreciation and amortisation, etc.
Such expenditures have been included in cost of sales and
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for 2023.

The expenditures incurred in development and mining
activities of serpentine for the year ended 31 December 2023
were approximately HK$14,949,000 and HK$7,299,000
respectively while the expenditures incurred in exploration
activities were HK$Nil.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s
businesses. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by our Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to our Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects
ability to meet business objectives arising from the movement
in market demand, product prices, foreign exchange rates,
and interest rates. The management of our Group keeps
continually monitoring these exposures closely to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner against such risks.

Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from primarily Renminbi, HKS,
Singapore dollars, US$ and Australian dollars. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations. The Group does not presently hedge
the foreign exchange risks. The Group periodically reviews
current assets and liabilities held in currencies other than HK$
to evaluate its foreign exchange risk exposure and consider
the usage of hedging instruments when necessary.
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Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group
analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and
considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner
through variety of means when appropriate.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk exposure
of our customers. The Group strictly followed the “client
account management procedures” established in 2004.
The procedures required and ensured that all clients were
regularly assessed and be kept track of their accounts based
on their transaction records and credit history. The Group
specified and assigned to each customer, as according to
their operation and credit status, a series of credit measures
such as credit ratio, credit period, credit rating, credit terms
and guarantee. The client account management procedures
were effective to control the credit risk of the Group.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks
basically rests with functional departments of the Group
and its subsidiaries. Key functions of the Group is to guide
their standard operating procedures, limits of authority
and reporting framework. Our management will assess key
operational exposures and impacts brought by our business
development regularly, implement relevant measures and
improve the internal control so that risk can be addressed
and mitigated on a timely and effective manner.

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of extension
of its return period relative to the expected return or
occurrence of losses on any particular investment attributable
to changes of external factors. The Group is well aware of
the importance of exploring various business opportunities
and territories on a continual basis to the development of
our businesses, which shall be implemented as the top
agenda of the year. Key concern of investment projects will
be balancing risk and return across different investments,
and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment
decision-making process. Proper investment assessment
and due diligence procedures have been set up and detailed
analysis will be made before approving investments. Regular
updates on the progress of the investments of our Group
would be submitted to the Board.
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Manpower and retention risk

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because
of the Group’s rapid business development while at the
same time facing severe competition over specialists from
the industry and turnover of manpower. Our Group may
face the risk of not being able to recruit and retain key
personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence to cope with the expansion of
business which would meet the business objectives of our
Group. Our Group will conduct a thorough analysis over
its remuneration system, as well as incentive mechanism
and optimise the compensation structure so as to ensure
remuneration packages can align reasonably with market
standard and maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile,
recruitment channels are broadened and the talent pool
of senior management are strengthened, so as to further
enhance the promotion opportunities and career path of
employees. Systematic staff training are also being further
enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness of training and
the dissemination of good corporate cultures.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly means
increasing attention of PRC government paid to environmental
rules and policies and more strict regulatory requirements. As
subsidiaries and newly acquired enterprises have been put
into operation for a long while and may lag behind certain
environmental and duty requirements promulgated by PRC
government. The Group monitors impact on our business
development closely arising from changes in environmental
policy and external factors. Acting in an environmentally
responsible manner and performing social responsibilities, the
Group is committed to improving and maintaining the long
term sustainability of the communities in which it operates.
The Group endeavours to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopt effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving
and waste reduction. Green initiatives and measures have
been adopted in daily operation of the Group. Such initiatives
include recycling of resources, energy saving measures and
water saving practices.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in mainland China while the Company
is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations
in mainland China and Hong Kong. During the year ended
31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report, to the
best of our knowledge, the Group has complied in all material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the business of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND
KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was 572 (2022: 674)
as at 31 December 2023. The remuneration of employees
was determined by the Group with reference to their
performance, work experience and current market conditions.
Employee benefits include medical insurance, defined
provident fund scheme, discretionary bonus and employee
share option scheme. There has been no labour dispute or
significant change in the number of employees that affect the
normal operations of the Group. The Directors believe that
the Group maintains admirable relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners, shareholders, investors
and banks to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with
our key stakeholders closely, the Group has formulated
corresponding scheme about investor relationship, and also
holds tailored activities for various stakeholders from time
to time, such as annual/ extraordinary general meetings,
on-site visits, seminars and road-shows. Accordingly, our
senior management have kept good communication, prompt
exchange of ideas and sharing of business latest update
about development of the Group with them when appropriate.
Other than disclosed in this annual report, during the Year,
there was no material dispute between our Group and its
business partners or banks.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHI Wen Fu, aged 61, Chairman of the Group who is
responsible for overall strategic planning and key operating
decisions. Mr. Chi started his law firm in Fuzhou in 1995, in
which he was the Managing Partner. Prior to that, Mr. Chi
joined Fuzhou Justice Bureau Commerce Law Office after
qualifying as a lawyer in the PRC in 1989. In early 1998,
Mr. Chi originated an initial research on organic agricultural
production and funded a R&D project on microbial compound
fertilisers. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Chemical Analysis and
Law. Mr. Chi established the Group in 2000.

CHI Jing Chao, aged 41, Chief Corporate Affairs Officer
of the Group who is responsible for the overall corporate
activities. Mr. Chi has 10 years of experience in corporate
affairs. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Financial and Administrative
Management. Mr. Chi has joined the Group since August
2004. Mr. Chi was also an executive director of REMT during
the period from 27 June 2019 to 31 July 2021.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

CHEUNG Sound Poon, aged 63, is currently an
independent non-executive director of REMT. Mr. Cheung
is currently a senior audit manager at Chui & Kwok (CPA).
He was an audit senior at Gary W.K. Yam & Co. (CPA).
Mr. Cheung has over 40 years of experience in accounting
and auditing. He was an independent non-executive director
and the chairman of audit committee of the board of the
Company between February 2004 and May 2007.

SHENG Hong, aged 61, Director of SWIFTOWN
Development Limited and General Manager of SWIFTOWN
(Shanghai) Trading Limited. The SWIFTOWN Group is
principally engaged in design and sales of metallic products.
Mr. Sheng has over 20 years of experience in management
of corporation and investment. He was employed by China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from 1986 to
1996. Mr. Sheng holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering
Mechanics from Tongji University, Shanghai.

SHEN Yi Min, aged 60, a qualified lawyer to practise
securities laws in the PRC since July 1996. Mr. Shen
graduated from Fudan University in the PRC with a major in
Economics Law in 1992. Mr. Shen was a partner of Fujian Zhi
Li Law Office* ({8 @ 232 280 = 75 F7) and the former principal
of Fujian Fuzhou Foreign Economics Law Office* (f@ & &
BN T EIME B EM BT in the PRC. Mr. Shen was an
independent non-executive Director and a member of audit
committee of the Board of the Company from May 2003 to
September 2008.

COMPANY SECRETARY

LUK Sai Wai, Simon, aged 60, Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the Group. Mr. Luk is responsible for
financial, management accounting and secretarial affairs of
the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Luk was appointed
as Financial Controller for several listed companies in Hong
Kong and was experienced in finance and management.
Mr. Luk holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Business Administration
from Hong Kong Baptist University and a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration from University of Strathclyde. He is
a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales, an associate member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a member of
Society of Registered Financial Planners, Hong Kong. Mr. Luk
has joined the Group since May 2010.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

HU Jie, aged 54, Production Director of the Group,
is responsible for fertiliser production and operation
management of the Group. Mr. Hu studied in mechatronics,
and has over 20 years of experience in the fertilizer industries.
He has served in various positions, such as the Head of
fertiliser factory, the General Manager of the production
technology department, the Head of the main chemical
factory and the General Manager of the purchasing and
branding department. Mr. Hu has joined the Group since
2007.

CHEN Jihua, aged 50, graduated from Beihang University
with a major in Polymer Materials. He is responsible for the
supply and sales management of the fertilizer business in this
group. Mr. Chen has over 20 years of experience in fertilizer
marketing. He has previously held positions such as Deputy
Manager of the Warehousing Department, Manager of the
Procurement Department, Deputy General Manager of the
Production Base, and General Manager of the Procurement
and Trade Center at Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock
Company Limited. Mr. Chen joined the group in 2016.

WANG Yongxiang, aged 55, is responsible for the ore
production and operation management of the Group.
Mr. Wang majored in planning and surveying of mining
industry with over 20 years of experience in agricultural
fertilisers production and mining. Prior to joining the Group,
he was the Production Technician and Engineer at Donghai
serpentine mine in Jiangsu Province, and the Head of Sulfuric
Acid Factory. Mr. Wang has joined the Group since 2007.
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The Company is committed to achieve and maintain high
standards of corporate governance and business integrity.
The Board believes that good corporate governance will
not only improve management accountability and investors
confidence, but will lay a good foundation for the long-term
development of the Company.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

Throughout the year of 2023, the Company has complied with
the code provision as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance Report
under Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
except for the following deviations as explained below with
considered reasons:

(@) Under code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer (the “CEO”) should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual.
However, there is no separation between the roles
of chairman and CEO under the current corporate
structure of the Company, details of which have been
disclosed in the paragraph headed “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” below.

(b) Under the code provision E.1.2, the chairman of the
Board should attend the annual general meeting. The
chairman of the Board was unable to attend the annual
general meeting held on 29 June 2023 as he was
obliged to be away for a business trip on that date.
Mr. Cheung Sound Poon, an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, attended and chaired the
said annual general meeting to answer questions from
shareholders.
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THE BOARD

The Group is governed by the Board which is responsible for
strategic leadership and overall supervision of the Group. The
Board exercises a number of authorities which include:

- Formulating the Group’s overall strategies

- Monitoring and controlling operational and financial
performance

- Formulating strategies for risk management

- Reviewing effectiveness of internal control system

- Approving financial results and public announcements

- Approving annual operating budgets

- Approving major acquisitions or disposals and capital
projects

- Reviewing and approving major investments and
material borrowings

- Setting dividend policy

- Approving appointment of Directors

- Setting the Group’s remuneration policies

The Board is also responsible for performing the functions set
out in code provision D.3.1. The Board will meet to develop,
review and monitor the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, to review and monitor training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors and to review the compliance of the Company with
the CG Code and the disclosure in the corporate governance
report.

During the year of 2023, in relation to the corporate
governance functions, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the regulatory
and statutory requirements, and the disclosure in the
corporate governance report.

During 2023, the Chairman had met the independent
non-executive Directors individually without the presence of
other executive Directors.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises 5 Directors in which 2 are executive
Directors, 3 are independent non-executive Directors. The
number of independent non-executive Directors constitutes
more than one-third of the Board. The composition of the
Board as at the date of this report and their profiles are set
out on page 32 and 33 of the annual report respectively.

The Board delegates powers to executive Directors for the
day-to-day management of the Group and the implementation
of major strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board
whereas executive Directors should provide such explanations
and information to the Board in a timely manner to enable the
Board to monitor the performance of management.

Non-executive Director brings in valuable expertise and
experience to the Company and serves important functions
as well as provides strategic advices to the management.

Independent non-executive Directors ensure that the Board
is accountable for the interest of all shareholders and
handles matters in an objective manner. The 3 independent
non-executive Directors have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for efficient and effective delivery of its
functions. The Board has received from each independent
non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Board considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Mr. Chi Jing Chao have a family
relationship of uncle and nephew. Save as disclosed, there is
no other relationship among members of the Board.

Upon reviewing (i) the directorships and major commitments
of each Director; and (i) the attendance rate of each Director
at the meetings of the Board and its committees, the Board
is satisfied that all Directors have spent sufficient time in
performing their responsibilities during 2023.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Upon the resignation of Mr. Shum Sai Chit as Chief Executive
Officer on 30 July 2021, Mr. Chi Wen Fu, founder of the
Group, the chairman and an executive Director, has been
appointed as the CEO of the Company.

This structure does not comply with code provision A.2.1.
However, the Board is of the view that it is in the best
interests of the Group to adopt a single leadership structure,
as Mr. Chi possesses extensive experience and knowledge
in the PRC market and he is playing a significant role in
establishing strategic decisions and overall management of
the Group. It enables the Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and efficiently. Further, it is difficult for
the Board to find a candidate with suitable qualification
and expertise in the market to fill the position of CEO at
this stage of debts restructuring. With the single leadership
structure, sufficient safeguards are established to ensure the
management is accountable to the Board. The Chairman/
CEO ensures Board meetings are held regularly and when
necessary. The Chairman/ CEO ensures that Board members
are provided with complete, adequate, accurate and timely
information on a regular basis to enable them to be fully
cognizant of the affairs of the Group. The Chairman/CEO
ensures all Directors have unrestricted access to document
or information kept by the Group and professional advice
when necessary.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION

Any potential new Directors, being individuals who
are suitably qualified and expected to make a positive
contribution to the performance of the Board, will be identified
by the existing Directors and the Nomination Committee and
submitted to the Board for approval.

In accordance with the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
and every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once
every 3 years. Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company, but being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

If an independent non-executive Director serves more than 9
years, his further appointment will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by shareholders.
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Directors being appointed by the Board after the preceding
general meeting of the Company, shall also retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, but
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Sound Poon, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Shen
Yi Min, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a fixed term of 2 years commencing from 1
April 2023 and 1 January 2024 respectively, subject to the
provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the
articles of association of the Company and save that either
such Director or the Company may terminate the appointment
by giving at least 3 months’ prior written notice. Annual
emoluments payable to independent non-executive Directors
and non-executive Director will be reviewed according to their
estimated time to be spent on the Company’s matters and
their working experience with the Company.

All existing executive Directors are entitled to a fixed
remuneration per annum respectively. In addition, each
executive Director is also entitled to a discretionary
management bonus calculated as a percentage of the
audited consolidated net profit of the Group attributable to
the owners of the Company (after tax and non-controlling
interests and the payment of such management bonuses
but before extraordinary and exceptional items), which
percentage shall be determined by the Board provided that
the aggregate amount of the bonuses payable to all executive
Directors in respect of each financial year of the Company
shall not exceed 5% of such net profit. The remuneration of
each executive Director is subject to the annual review of the
Board with reference to his/her contribution in terms of time,
effort and his/her expertise.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors and
senior management during the year are disclosed in Note 14
to the financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable
expenses incurred during the performance of their duties to
the Company and are eligible for share options under the
share option scheme of the Company.

BOARD PROCESSES

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and leads
the Group in an ethical, responsible and effective manner.
The Board meets on a regular basis and arranges ad-hoc
meetings for any specific matters that may arise.
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BEEEN2023F KA EE - NREAA MR
EEHEEseen LEQORHEARERS
ZR0EE

HiTES Executive Directors

WX E (L) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman)

HE R Chi Jing Chao

BUFHTES Independent Non-Executive
Directors

RER Cheung Sound Poon

Bt Sheng Hong

THER Shen Yi Min

The Board met 5 times in 2023. The attendance of individual
Directors at Board meetings, committee meetings and
general meetings is set out in the following table:

fritifE/ BTzes
Attended/held
EZg ERZEE REZEE  FWzEg
e = g3 - RRAE
Audit  Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee = Committee =~ Committee General

Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings

4/5 - 1 - 01
5/5 - - il 01
5/5 5/5 11 17 1
5/5 5/5 1 il 11
5/5 5/5 - il N

ZREMENEFEXHHIREFTEXAEREES
FARAMKXTERES  BHETHRISRERS
EH EFEEAREFTCTERLURERRT
AINEARBRFLRE - HEBRRAE
ERNEFSLAELERRBERZEETEA
R"ER FREFESNEERTEREEZL
FAMFRAETRBERZ TR

Agendas and the accompanying board papers are circulated
in full to all Directors at least 3 days before the Board or
committee meeting. Board decisions will then be resolved
either by vote at Board meetings or by written resolutions. If a
substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board
has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with
by a physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the Board
committees taken by the company secretary of the Company
and, together with any supporting papers, are available for
inspection to all Directors. The minutes record the matters
discussed by the Board or its committees, the decisions
made and any concerns or dissenting views raised by the
Directors.

If a Director has a conflict of interests in relation to a
transaction or proposal to be considered by the Board, such
Director is required to declare his/her interest and abstain
from voting. Such matter shall be considered at a Board
meeting by Directors who have no material interest in the
transaction or proposal.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND
CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director would receive
an induction package covering the Group’s business and
the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a
listed company. The Group also regularly updates Directors
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable legal and regulatory requirements regarding
subjects necessary for performing their duties. In addition,
the Company has been encouraging and offering to pay
for Directors to attend seminars on the latest development
of applicable laws, rules and regulations so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills.
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BIEREEIRMEMELE  SEEFMN2023%1 81  According to the records provided by the Directors, the
HZE2023F12 A31 B EAMES IR T - training received by each of the Directors during the period
from 1 January 2023 up to 31 December 2023 is summarised

as follows:
BESERR
i;nz%-“lﬁﬁ(ﬂﬁ%ﬂ)
Type of
continuous
professional
development
training ™"
HITES Executive Directors
MY E Chi Wen Fu B
St ¥ A Chi Jing Chao B
BUKEHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors
RE AR Cheung Sound Poon A/B
B Sheng Hong B
LR R Shen Yi Min B
Mzt - notes:
1. B fEsE 1. Training types:
A HEEESRERE A:  Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)
B: MER=E FYhEBEALAT XK E B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating
ERENET PR REMEBE to the Company’s business or directors’ duties and
EHTRTRESE AN ER responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing

Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements etc.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing business strategies and management of the
daily operations of the Group to the senior management who
is required to report back to the Board. Functions reserved to
the Board and the management are reviewed periodically. The
Board and each individual Director is empowered to access
any Company’s information from senior management and
the company secretary at all times. The Directors are kept
informed on a timely basis of major changes that may affect
the Group’s businesses, including amendments on relevant
rules and regulations. During the year, Directors are provided
with monthly updates on the Company’s performance,
position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties. Directors are allowed
to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense, but no request was made
by any Director for such independent professional advice in
2023.

The Board monitors and reviews performance of the
management based on several key performance indicators
such as financial figures, investor relations, corporate
governance and internal control. The principal measures
include review of management accounts, review of internal or
external auditor reports and feedbacks from stakeholders.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the year, the Board has implemented a board diversity
policy which has been effective since 1 September 20183.
The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

According to Rule 13.92, the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited will not consider diversity to be achieved for a single
gender board. Henceforth, the Board is planning to improve
the gender diversity at board level and across the workforce,
and are in the process of seeking one or more suitable
candidates of different gender to join the Board on or before
31 December 2024.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 5 Directors.
Among which, 2 of them are executive Directors and the
other 3 of them are independent non-executive Directors. The
Directors are of diverse educational background and possess
a wide spectrum of professional qualifications and business
experience. Other than gender, the Board is of significant
diversity, whether considered in terms of professional and
educational background and skills.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code”) as the code
of conduct of the Company regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. The Company made specific enquiries to all
Directors and all Directors have confirmed in writing that they
have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code during the year.

BOARD’S COMMITTEES

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board
has established audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”),
and nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”).
These committees function within clearly defined terms
of reference. Independent non-executive Directors play
a significant role in these committees to ensure that
independent and objective views are taken.

The terms of reference of these committees are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of Mr. Cheung Sound Poon
(chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Sheng Hong and
Mr. Shen Yi Min for the reporting period, who are both
independent non-executive Directors. All committee members
possess appropriate qualifications such as accounting and
financial management.

The Audit Committee met 5 times in 2023 to review with
the senior management and external auditors the Group’s
significant internal controls and financial matters as set out in
the Audit Committee’s terms of reference. The functions of
the Audit Committee include the following matters:

- Reviewing the Group’s financial statements with
recommendation to the Board for approval

- Reviewing the Group’s compliance of the regulatory and
statutory requirements

- Reviewing the Group’s internal control and risk
management

- Reviewing significant accounting and audit issues

- Reviewing the Group’s connected transactions

- Overseeing and managing the relationship with external
auditors

The Audit Committee has power to conduct investigations
into any matter within the scope of responsibility of the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is authorised to
obtain independent professional advice if it deems necessary
for discharging its responsibilities. The Audit Committee
has obtained a written confirmation from the auditors on
their independence and objectivity as required under the
Section 290 (revised) of the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants prior to the commencement of the audit
of the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023.

During the year, the Audit Committee has carried out the
above functions in the respective Audit Committee meetings
and also has been satisfied with the review of the audit
scope, process, effectiveness and independence of the
auditors.
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In the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Company’s auditors had an
emphasis of matter on the material uncertainties relating to
the going concern basis (“Emphasis of Matter”). The Audit
Committee has communicated with the Auditors regarding
the basis of the Emphasis of Matter. In the opinion of the
Auditors, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and recommended to
the Board for approval of the interim and annual financial
statements for 2023. There was no disagreement between
the Board and the Audit Committee on the re-appointment of
the auditors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 4
members, namely Mr. Cheung Sound Poon (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Chi Jing Chao (executive Director), Mr. Sheng
Hong (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Shen Yi
Min (independent non-executive Director).

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
formulate transparent procedures for setting remuneration
policies and packages for Directors and the senior
management of the Group. Its duties include:

- Reviewing and recommending to the Board the
remuneration packages of individual executive and
non-executive Directors and the senior management of
the Group

- Reviewing the administration of the share option
scheme of the Company

- Reviewing the appropriateness of compensation for
Directors and the senior management of the Group

No Director is involved in determining his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee met once in
2023 to review the existing remuneration policies of the
Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 3 members,
namely, Mr. Chi Wen Fu (chairman of the Nomination
Committee and executive Director), Mr. Cheung Sound Poon
(independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Sheng Hong
(independent non-executive Director).

Its duties include:

- Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board

- Recommending any change to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategies

- Identifying capable and qualified individuals to become
Board members

- Assessing independence of independent non-executive
Directors

- Making recommendation on appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors

- Developing and maintaining a policy for the nomination
of Board members

- Developing and maintaining a board diversity policy and
to ensure its effectiveness

- Monitoring the implementation of the Board diversity
policy and to review and to make recommendations on
any revisions of such policy

The Nomination Committee met once in 2023 for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, making
recommendation to the Board regarding change of roles
of board members and re-appointment of retiring Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In carrying out the responsibility for identifying suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will give adequate consideration to
the board diversity policy.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company had appointed Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai
Limited as the independent auditors of the Group. Apart
from audit services, Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
did not provided any non-audit services during the year.
Provisions of non-audit services may include professional
services for professional review.

The following principles are considered when determining the
appointment of the auditors in non-audit services:

- No management decision made by the auditors
- Independence of the auditors not to be impaired
- Quality of service

- Cost of service

The Board was authorised in the annual general meeting to
determine the remuneration of the independent auditors.

The remuneration paid/payable by the Group to the
independent auditors for the year of 2023 are as follows:

FHET
HK$’000

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Audit and audit related services 1,900

AFEEZHRBEB ELERBASIMEHFMERA
AEZ AEHSREBETZRRBEAE
LE®R BRZEGEREFTSEDS RIS
BT CBERBEAELEBRZELERHAEGE
A=A AR QB AARE 2 B -

The accounts for the year were audited by Prism Hong
Kong and Shanghai Limited whose term of office will expire
upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that Prism Hong
Kong and Shanghai Limited be re-appointed as the auditors
of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparation of the financial statements for each financial
period, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and its subsidiaries and in compliance with
the requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Listing Rules.

The auditors acknowledge their responsibilities in the
auditors’ report as set out on pages 68 to 75 of the annual
report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system
of internal controls and risk management with a view to
ensuring that shareholders’ investments and the Group’s
assets are safeguarded. Such system is designated to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. This responsibility is primarily fulfilled on its behalf by
the Audit Committee. In the year under review, the Audit
Committee, as delegated by the Board, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group,
covering all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions.

The foundation of a strong system of internal control is a
solid control environment. This is dependent on the following
components:

- Business ethics and culture of the organisation;
= Quality and competence of its personnel;

- Direction provided by the Board; and

- Effectiveness of the management
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group improves its business and operational activities by
identifying the areas of significant business risks via a regular
review and taking appropriate measures to control and
mitigate these risks. The management of the Group reviews
all significant control policies and procedures and highlights
all significant matters to the Board and Audit Committee.

The implementation of risk management of the Group was
assisted by the Group’s internal audit department so that the
Group could ensure new and emerging risks relevant to the
Group’s operation are promptly identified by management,
assess the adequacy of action plans to manage these
risks and monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the
action plans. These are on-going processes and our Audit
Committee reviews the Group’s risk management systems
periodically.

Audit committee reported to the Board the implementation
of the Group’s risk management and internal control policy
which, among other things, included the determination of
risk factors, evaluation of risk level the Group could endure
and effectiveness of risk management measures. Based on
the reports from the Group’s internal control department and
the Audit Committee, the Board considers the Group’s risk
management and internal control system is adequate and
effective and the Group has complied with the provisions on
risk management and internal controls as set out in the CG
code.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the
Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements or circulars
is not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or
misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company recognises the importance of open
communication and fair disclosure. It is the Company’s policy
to ensure that all shareholders are equally informed of all
major corporate developments.

All shareholders have proper notice of any general meeting
of the Company at which the Directors and the committees’
members are available to give explanation on any query
raised by the shareholders. Major information of the Company
could be obtained from the Company’s website or financial
reports and circulars sent to the shareholders. Any enquiries
by the shareholders requiring the Board’s attention can also
be sent in writing to the Investor Relations Manager of the
Company whose contact details are set out in the paragraph
headed “Shareholders’ Rights — (c) Right to Put Enquiries to
the Board” below.
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Resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the
Company shall be decided on a poll, save that the chairman
of the meeting may in good faith allow a resolution which
relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be
voted by a show of hands. Procedures for conducting a poll
will be explained to the shareholders at each general meeting
and questions from shareholders regarding the voting
procedures will be answered. The poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively in the manner prescribed under the Listing Rules.

As part of a regular program of investor relations, senior
executives may hold briefings or road shows after the
results announcement and attend conferences with
institutional investors and analysts to engage in two-way
communications on the Company’s performance, objectives
and developments. Company visits can be arranged by the
Company upon specific request.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(a) Right to Convene Extraordinary General

Meeting

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more members holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
2 months after the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company
at the Company’s head office and principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 16th Floor, Tower 5, The
Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, and such request may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the requisitionist(s).
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(b)

(c)
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(b)

(c)

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong and upon the confirmation
of the branch share registrar that the request is in order,
the company secretary of the Company will ask the
Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
serving sufficient notice in accordance with all relevant
statutory and regulatory requirements to all registered
members. On the contrary, if the request is verified as
not in order, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, an extraordinary general
meeting will not be convened as requested.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself/themselves may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to Put Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to
propose new resolutions at general meetings under
the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the articles of
association of the Company. Shareholders who wish
to propose a resolution may request the Company to
convene an extraordinary general meeting following the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regard the procedures for proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to the procedures
made available on the website of the Company at
www.centurysunshine.com.hk.

Right to Put Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing for the attention
of Investor Relations Director of the Company whose
contact details are as follows:

16th Floor

Tower 5, The Gateway

Harbour City

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2802 2697

Email: ir@centurysunshine.com.hk
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The Investor Relations Director of the Company shall
forward the shareholders’ enquiries and concerns to
the Board and/or relevant committees of the Board to
answer the shareholders’ questions where appropriate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Luk Sai Wai, Simon is an employee of the Company
and has been appointed as the company secretary of the
Company with effect from 1 May 2010. The biographical
details of Mr. Luk are set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management Profile”.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Luk has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on
29 June 2023, a special resolution was passed by the
shareholders of the Company to amend the existing
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company so
as to bring them in line with certain recent amendments made
to the Listing Rules and to incorporate certain housekeeping
amendments. For details, please refer to the circular of the
Company published to Shareholders on 29 May 2023.

An updated version of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company is available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

At the Company’s last annual general meeting held on 28
June 2023, all the resolutions relating to the adoption of
financial statements, re-election of Directors, reappointment
of auditors and grant of general mandates to issue and
repurchase shares have been duly passed. The forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to
be held on/or before 30 June 2024 or any other dates as
specified in further notice of annual general meeting to be
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange later.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023, which are set out on
pages 76 to 227.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND
GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities and other particulars of its principal subsidiaries
are shown under Note 24 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance by operating
segments is set out in Note 8 to the financial statements.
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group mainly operated in the PRC and the Group’s revenue
are mainly derived from the PRC and non-current assets of
the Group are mainly located in the PRC as at 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022. No analysis of the Group’s
result and assets by geographical area is disclosed.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on pages 76 to 77.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December
2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is set out on pages 16 to 25
of the annual report.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last 5 financial years is set out on page 228 of the
annual report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 17 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in Note 38 to the financial statements.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

(a) Share options granted to directors and
selected employees
For share options granted, exercised and lapsed during
the year ended 31 December 2023, details are set out
in Note 40 of the financial statements and the section
named “Share Option Schemes” contained in this
Directors’ Report.
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LISTED SUBORDINATED NOTES

On 5 June 2017, the Company issued listed subordinated
notes (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme) with the face value of SGD101.75 million.
The notes carried a coupon rate of 7.0% and were listed
on the Singapore Stock Exchange. The note matured
on 3 July 2020 and was defaulted. Upon the effective of
Scheme of Arrangement on 31 August 2023, the notes were
compromised into the Scheme. On 29 January 2024, the
notes were also delisted from the Singapore Stock Exchange.

Details of the movements of the notes during the year ended
on 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 34 of the financial
statement.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 80 to 81 and Note
39(b) to the financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2023
amounted to HK$486,147,000 (2022: HK$NIl).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year 2023 and 2022, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year and up to the
date of the annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of the
annual report are:

Executive Directors
Chi Wen Fu (Chairman and CEQ)
Chi Jing Chao

Non-Executive Director
Guo Mengyong (passed away on 9 May 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Cheung Sound Poon

Sheng Hong

Shen Yi Min

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon
will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or its parent
company was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors or the management
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
that competed or might compete with the business of the
Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to Article 167 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director shall be liable for any loss, damages
or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the
Company in the execution of the duties of his office or in
relation thereto.

A Directors liability insurance is currently in place, and was
in place during the year, to protect the Directors of the
Company against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against them.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 32 to 34 of the annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(a) Share option scheme of the Company
In order to attract and retain the best quality employees
for the development of the Group’s businesses and to
provide additional incentives or rewards to selected
qualifying participants, the Company adopted a share
option scheme on 26 June 2019 (the “Scheme”). The
qualifying participants mainly include employees of the
Group, Directors and contractors, suppliers or service
providers of the Group who have contribution to the
Group. The Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years since its
establishing date. The remaining life of the Scheme is
approximately 5.5 years (expiry on 26 June 2029).

As at 31 December 2023, options to subscribe for a
total of 279,900,000 Shares were outstanding under the
Scheme. Details of the movements in the options are
set out in Note 40 to the financial statements.
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(b) Share option scheme of a subsidiary

REMT

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees
for the development of REMT’s businesses and to
provide additional incentives or rewards to selected
qualifying participants, REMT adopted a share option
scheme on 4 December 2017 (the “REMT Scheme”).
The qualifying participants mainly include employees,
directors, contractors, suppliers or service providers
who have contribution to REMT. The REMT Scheme,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years since its establishing date. The
remaining life of the REMT Scheme is approximately 4
years (expiry on 4 December 2027).

As at 31 December 2023, no options were outstanding.
Details of the movements in the options are set out in
Note 40 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTEREST IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2023, the relevant interests and short
positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQO”)), as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO were as
follows:
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Chi Wen Fu ("Mr. Chi")
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Chi Jing Chao
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Sheng Hong
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(i) Long Positions in Shares and Share
Options of the Company

ERAT

120235

12A31H

BRITRA

LB

Percentage

FERGHA BEERESZE of issued share

Number of Shares held (Kt*2)  capital of the
BARS INGL £ &t Number of Company as at
Personal Corporate Options held 31 December
interests interests Total (note 2) 2023
249,970,548  1,341,871,364  1,591,841,912 34.75%
(Wi5E1) (note 1) 20,000,000 0.44%

1,633,998 - 1,633,998 0.04%
8,000,000 0.17%

5,000,000 0.11%

1,775,000 - 1,775,000 0.04%
5,000,000 0.11%

300,000 - 300,000 0.01%
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notes:

1. These Shares are held by Alpha Sino International Limited
(“Alpha Sino”) and are deemed corporate interests by virtue
of Mr. Chi’s holding of 83.74% of the issued share capital
of Alpha Sino which entitled him to exercise or control the
exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general
meeting of Alpha Sino.

As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance Corporation
(“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014
(as amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd. The loan had been defaulted in 2020 due to cross
default.

2. Details of Options held are set out in the above section headed
“Share Options Schemes”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates had interests and short positions in the
Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of SFO.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of
the Company, as at 31 December 2023, persons who had
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares
of equity derivatives of the Company as recorded in the

regist
were

BFEROBE BEBREHR

er required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO
as follows:
{575 2 51 1820234
12A31HE #1T
BAZEBDL

Percentage of
issued share
capital of the

Company as at

Number of Number of 31 December
Shares held Options held 2023
1,591,841,912 34.75%
(FfF5E1) (note 1)
20,000,000 0.44%
(FM$5£3) (note 3)
1,341,871,364 29.29%
(FffF7E2) (note 2)
549,280,000 12.00%

(Ff5E2) (note 2)

GEX

—

X ERERARANAA H£1,591,841,912%
B fh R B = - E R (a)249,970,548 % X
MITHEEERER TAEZEED Kb
1,341,871,364 B D ER E B BB E D 17T
B A83.74% » BEULI T HE N AT R T ERE K
® T REHTE = — A L RERE
AR AR EIRERS -

HER B HA2014F7B10B 2 KB4
B 1EAARATERRENBTE  HARQF
549,280,0008% % 17 (18 & 72015F6 308 &
RAEBETRAN12%) MIFLHEES R A A
(B rl)  EAEBEESRARMNA
WAL ¢ BERESRR QA R2014F5H30
HEZ (R2015F12 A7TEKEIREYN) HE
s 2 WIS o ZE KB R2020F B R XiE
HMmEEEELD -

notes:

Mr. Chi Wen Fu has interest in an aggregate of 1,591,841,912
Shares of which (a) 249,970,548 Shares are beneficially owned
by him and registered in his name; and (b) 1,341,871,364
Shares are deemed corporate interests by virtue of his holding
of 83.74% of the issued share capital of Alpha Sino which
entitled him to exercise or control the exercise of one-third or
more of the voting power at general meeting of Alpha Sino.

As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance Corporation
(“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014
(as amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd. The loan had been defaulted in 2020 due to cross
default.
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2. IFC has interest in an aggregate of 549,280,000 Shares of
which pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to IFC as security for a loan agreement
dated 30 May 2014 (as amended and restated on 7 December
2015) entered into between IFC and Baishan City Tianan
Magnesium Resources Co. Ltd. The loan had been defaulted in
2020 due to cross default.

3. Details of Options held are set out in the above section headed
“Share Options Schemes”.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the period under review, none of the Directors nor the
management shareholders of the Company or their respective
associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”)) had any interest in a business that competed
or might compete with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are
as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 16.2%
— 5 largest suppliers in aggregate 43.4%
Sales

— the largest customer 16.9%
— 5 largest customers in aggregate 36.2%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders
which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers noted above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 42 to the financial
statements, there was no connected transaction during the
year and in last year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2022 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited, while the accounts for the year ended 31 December
2023 were audited by Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai
Limited whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming
annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited as the auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chi Jing Chao
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+85227742322

www.prism.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CENTURY SUNSHINE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 76 to 227, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements concerning the adoption of the going concern
basis on which the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared. The Group experienced a net loss
of approximately HK$475,136,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023 and had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$847,136,000 as at that date. These
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The directors
of the Company, having considered the measures being
taken by the Group, are of the opinion that the Group would
be able to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another
auditor who expressed a disclaimer of opinion on those
statements on 24 March 2023.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

In addition to performing the procedures in assessing risk
of going concern, the auditor’'s assessment of the risks of
material misstatement may need to be revised. The existence
of such events or conditions may also affect the nature,
timing and extent of the auditor’s further procedures in
response to the assessed risks.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT’D)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill,
intangible assets and mining rights

The key audit matter

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements and
the accounting policies in note 3.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
goodwill, intangible assets and mining rights were
approximately HK$1,854,183,000, HK$119,687,000,
HKS$Nil, HK$199,441,000 and HK$382,617,000 respectively.
Impairment losses of approximately HK$390,436,000,
HK$22,547,000, HK$151,116,000, HK$12,259,000 and
HK$24,917,000 had been recognised respectively.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment included but not limited to:

o Evaluated the independent valuer’s competence,
capabilities and objectivity;

° Understood the Group’s impairment testing process,
including the valuation model adopted, CGUs allocation
and assumption used;

° Evaluated the appropriateness of the model used to
calculate the recoverable amount;

o Evaluated the reasonableness of the budgeted revenue
and gross profit margin by considering the historical
performance, approved financial budgets with actual
performance; and

° Engaged our valuation expert to evaluate the
appropriateness of the discount rates and terminal
growth rates used.

We found that the management judgement and assumptions
were supportable by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all of
the information included in the annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF
THE COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chin Wang Leung.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chin Wang Leung
Practising Certificate Number: PO7806

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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2023 2022
Bt TET TABT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
WA Revenue 7 315,582 531,605
RN Cost of sales (395,915) (466,105)
£ (8) /7 Gross (loss)/profit (80,333) 65,500
Hfh W 2 3k B 1B F R Other gains or losses, net 9 (15,336) 16,595
HERTSHEEER Selling and marketing costs (4,728) (7,839)
TREX Administrative expenses (264,683) (395,525)
BREA W Gain on debt restructuring 10 649,045 140,706
Y% - E REERE Impairment of property, plant and
equipment 23 (390,436) (336,184)
EREEERE Impairment of right-of-use assets 23 (22,547) (29,408)
2B R E Impairment of goodwill 23 (151,116) -
BYAERE Impairment of intangible assets 23 (12,259) (44,903)
FEERE Impairment of mining right 23 (24,917) -
B E M EWERE - Net allowance for expected
& K E i U 5K T8 78 B credit losses on trade and bills
EEBERETE receivables, deposits and
other receivables 13 (11,611) (235,418)
HBEREEALEE Change in fair value of financial
guarantee liabilities 464 (39,045)
fE i =% FE Exchange differences, net 23,603 (4,435)
M%EMA Finance costs 11 (178,819) (191,776)
K FT S %5 Bl 5 18 Loss before income tax 13 (483,673) (1,061,732)
Frigtiike Income tax credit 12 8,537 6,365
FREER Loss for the year (475,136) (1,055,367)
THALEEFANEIE : Loss for the year attributable
to:
ZN/NECIE ZE DN Owners of the Company (236,690) (1,007,080)
FEHERRE Non-controlling interests (238,446) (48,287)
(475,136) (1,055,367)
BRER: Loss per share:
- EXRCGEMW) - basic (HK cents) 16 (5.17) (21.98)
-85 OB — diluted (HK cents) 16 (7.46) (21.98)
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2023 2022
FET FHE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRER Loss for the year (475,136) (1,055,367)
Hh2HEHEX - Other comprehensive expense
HIRPRBH net of income tax:
BREBINEBFIEEX 2 Exchange differences arising from
PE =28 translation of foreign operations (100,590) (260,279)
FRAHME2EMAX Other comprehensive expense
(MBRFTBH) for the year (net of income tax) (100,590) (260,279)
FREEIHALRE Total comprehensive
expense for the year (575,726) (1,315,646)
TIHATEEFAZE Total comprehensive
AR expense for the year
attributable to:
ZN/NCIE ZE DN Owners of the Company (318,608) (1,126,178)
FE 12 AR A 2 Non-controlling interests (257,118) (189,468)
(575,726) (1,315,646

BERTPY X B A 4R A M ISR — & D ©

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2023412 A31H
As at 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Bt 5 FHET FHT
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
WE - WENMEE Property, plant and equipment 1% 1,854,183 2,619,818
"EYHE Investment properties 18 89,014 95,176
EREEE Right-of-use assets 19 119,687 178,135
B Goodwill 20 - 151,116
| EE Intangible assets 21 199,441 224,066
BRI Mining rights 22 382,617 424,720
2,644,942 3,693,031
REBEE Current assets
BERARBEABRZ Equity instruments at fair
AR T H value through profit or loss 25 727 1,690
FE Inventories 26 122,652 223,161
EZ RN E N EREE Trade and bills receivables 27 4,595 55,606
TENRIE e REM Prepayments, deposits and
JE W R IR other receivables 28 272,826 296,047
J& 3R [Bl P 15 350 Income tax recoverable - 5117
RITRIRE R Bank and cash balances 29 61,306 86,369
FIELEEE Assets held for sale 30 115,365 -
577,471 667,990
REBAE Current liabilities
BoENEERENEZE Trade and bills payables 31 119,538 125,402
FEEH & A N E Ath FE N 1B Accruals and other payables 32 375,561 680,174
EHBE Contract liabilities 32 156,277 154,553
HEAR Lease liabilities 33 870 963
R FR R Income tax payable 2,974 5,276
BE Borrowings 34 769,387 1,750,179
1,424,607 2,716,547
REBEEFEE Net current liabilities (847,136) (2,048,557)
EEHERRBARG Total assets less current
liabilities 1,797,806 1,644,474
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

7202312 A31H
As at 31 December 2023

2023 2022
Bt 5 FET THAT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
B b e~ 5RIB Other payables 32 22,074 22,890
HEERE Lease liabilities 33 4,489 5,639
ETE Borrowings 34 927,579 205,512
—E LMK B AREITH Convertible bonds issued
R ES by a listed subsidiary 35 8,568 7,899
EFEW A Deferred revenue 36 66,881 69,354
BEENRIBEAE Deferred tax liabilities 37 138,085 150,467
1,167,676 461,661
EEFEE Net assets 630,130 1,182,813
AKATEEAELHRAE Capital and reserves
Ri#E attributable to owners
of the Company
B& 2 Share capital 38 101,419 101,419
1 Reserves 810,825 1,287,154
912,244 1,388,573
FERER Non-controlling interests (282,114) (205,760)
S Total equity 630,130 1,182,813

EEoR2024F3 8280t E R R T EH P The consolidated financial statements on pages 76 to 227 ere
FIE22TA A IHEK - WAH T ES approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

REE on 28 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:
M E puck=5ct
Chi Wen Fu Chi Jing Chao
EZE EZE
Director Director
FEMIMI B AN S I RET A — 2o o The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.



80

43R5t £ ACA R A7 Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

E =2023F12831HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

ARTEAAELR
Attributable to Owners of the Company
EXRE
BE  HIBE  iERR BRE
BA  RGEE  (HEG)  (HEG) (B B BERE HtRE  REEd Nt FERER @it
Capital
redemption Capital ~ Statutory Share Non-
Share Share reserve reserve reserve option  Translation Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium (note (i)  (mote (ii)) (note (i) reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
TEx TEx T T T#R T#R Tir Tn TEx TEx T THr
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
202051718 As at 1 January 2022 101419 1,363,356 4,526 13,666 289225 45,309 18,837 (219,701) 741446 2,348,083 115936 2,464,019
FREE Loss for the year - = = = - - - - (1007080 (1,007080)  (48287) (1,05,367)
FREMZERY Other comprehensive expense for the
(MBHER) year, (net of income tax)
REBNERAEE Exchange differences arising from
LEREE translation of foreign operations - - - - - - (119,098 - - (119,098 (141,181) (260,279
EREERREE Total comprehensive expense
for the year - - - - - - (119,099 - (1007080 (1126178 (189468  (1,315,646)
BRAERE Share option lapsed - - - - - (59) - - 596 - - -
ERERE Transfer to reserve - - - - 1,249 - - - (1,249) - - -
RERERHA Equity settled share-based
25 transactions - - - - - 3775 - - - 3775 - 3775
~BLTHBATEAS  Convertible bonds issued by alisted
R (Hss) subsidiary (Note 35) - - - - - - - - = = 1,049 1,049
S—FHHELRETH  Deferred tex related to issuance
MARESEBZELHE  of convertible bonds by a listed
subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - (169) (169)
T REGEZDN Change in ownership interest
Gl lEE 3 in subsidiaries without change of
23 (Hito) control (Note 45) - - - = = = - 162898 - 16288 (133108 29785
20225124318 As at 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023 101,419 1,353,356 4,626 13,666 290,474 48,488 (100,261) (66,808) (266,287) 1,388,573 (205,760 1,182,813
ERER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (236,600) (236,690) (238,446)  (475,136)
FRABZARS Other comprehensive expense for the
(MRHER) year, (net of income tax)
BERNERMES Exchange differences arising from
LERER translation of foreign operations - - - - - - (81,918) - - (81,918)  (18,672)  (100,590)
FREE(RY)/ Total comprehensive expense
B b for the year - - - - - - (81,918) - (236,690 (318,608)  (257,118)  (575,726)
BRI Share option lapsed - - - - - (30,972) - - 30,972 - - -
BETHE Transfer to reserve - - - - (7,409) - - - 7,409 - - -
RERERHAZ Equity settled share-based
X5 transactions - - - - - 1,639 - - - 1,639 - 1,639
T RIEHESE Change in ownership interest without
FEEREE (W3he5) change of control (Note 45) - - - - - - - (159,360) - (159,360) 180,764 21,404
12023512318 As at 31 December 2023 101,419 1,353,356 452 13666 283,065 19,155  (182,179) (216,168) (464,596) 912,244  (262,114) 630,130
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

#HZ2023F12A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

notes:

(i) Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value
of the Shares of the Company which was transferred from
the Company’s retained earnings upon repurchase and
cancellation of Shares by the Company.

(i) Capital reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of the subsidiaries that have been acquired
and capitalised pursuant to a group reorganisation over the
nominal value of the Company’s Shares issued in exchange
therefore.

(i) Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the
subsidiaries based on 10% of their net profit of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) statutory financial statements
and that for the purpose of certain safety production activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the
subsidiaries established in the PRC and the relevant PRC rules
and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to set aside
10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in the PRC
statutory financial statements as statutory reserve, except
where the reserve fund balance has reached 50% of the
subsidiaries’ registered capital. The reserve fund can only be
used to make good the subsidiaries’ previous years’ losses, to
expand the subsidiaries’ production operations or to increase
the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State
Administration of Work Safety of the PRC and other relevant
regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds
mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed
rates. These funds can be used for maintenance and/or
improvements of safety of these activities, and is not available
for distribution to shareholders.
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BIRENSE R
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

B ZE2023F12A31H L F[E
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
TER FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEH Operating activities
BRETISTRIE 1B Loss before income tax (483,673) (1,061,732)
FETIIEE fEL AR Adjustments for:
& Ko Depreciation and amortisation 219,459 270,432
B %8 Finance costs 178,819 191,776
HEWX BEREHER Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property,

THERENERE, (W) 5 plant and equipment and land use rights 134 ki
HBHA Interest income (774) (1,181)
MR R 45 E R 10 1 3K Equity settled share-based payments 1,639 3,775
BB EHNE Gain on debt restructuring (649,045) (140,706)
ZoREWTEREWREZEETELEE  Net allowance for expected credit losses on

B e B R 5 trade and bills receivables 12,272 203,705
HERRBERREE Net reversal of allowance for expected

EiE e R EE credit losses on other receivables (661) 31,713
BBEREBEAREED Change in fair value of financial guarantee

liabilities (464) 39,045
=L E e Gain on lapse of derivative financial liabilities

upon maturity - (18)
BRAREFABRZZ Loss on change in fair value of equity

BARTEz A AnBEZEEE instruments at fair value through

profit or loss 963 2,216
RNEFEERRAZRERE Impairment loss recognised in intangible

asset 12,259 44,903
K% HE KRR EERZ Impairment loss recognised in property,

EEE plant and equipment 390,436 336,184

REREEERRZRERBE Impairment loss recognised in right-of-use

assets 22,547 29,408
REERRZREBE Impairment loss recognised in goodwill 151,116 -
REREER 2R EEE Impairment loss recognised in mining rights 24,917 -
ME - BE REEME Written off of property, plant and equipment 3,654 1,628
T8 5 FE Written off of prepayments 1,321 40,350
N =58 %8 Exchange differences, net (23,603) =

BESBEHAN Operating cash flows before movements in

%“ EHERE working capital (138,684) (1,391)
FERD Decrease in inventory 93,125 111,371
B 5 EWHIA R ERZRR D Decrease in trade and bills receivable 22,562 98,828
TERFIE - mE MEMEKRFE (Increase)/decrease in prepayment, deposits

(&), m > and other receivables 7,201 (6,997)
BHENFIBRENZERD Decrease in trade and bills payables (1,419) (43,160)
EEER  HMENZKER Increase/(decrease) in accruals, other payable

B FERAHEEEN, (f4)  andreceipt in advance and contract liabilities 2,564 (68,322)
REEBEENTR S Cash generated from operations (14,651) 90,329
BR,/ () Fi5H Income tax refund/(paid) 4,250 (14,904)
KEEBFR(ER) ELWEREEFE Net cash (used in)/generated from

operating activities (10,401) 75,425
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
THET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BREETH Investing activities
REGRITIER Withdrawal of deposits with banks 9,523 -
BEYE BELEKE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (28,596) (53,756)
B A& Interest received 774 1,181
AWMBARZEAEZE 24 m  Net cash inflow in respect of change in
N % ownership interest of subsidiaries 95 155
HEME BERRENMSHIE  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment 5,108 5,181
RETEHFMANAESFE Net cash used in investing activities (13,096) (47,239)
METE Financing activities
BEEE Repayment of borrowings (1,099) (39,051)
EARFHE Interest paid (8,994) (7,387)
EEHEaE Repayment of lease liabilities (1,366) (357)
BREREH 2 ER Borrowing of shareholder loan 12,750 -
BITRAFBHRIA Proceed from issuance of share capital 8,811 -

MEZBHMEL, (HR)WE4LEHE Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities 10,102 (46,795)
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mEREIRNER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

B ZE2023F12A31H L F[E
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
THET FAT
HK$’°000 HK$’000
ReRERBECEBRLFE Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (13,395) (18,2095)
FONRERERALER Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year 76,602 101,964
SEEREBNTE Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes (1,967) (7,157)
FROBRERERELER Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year 61,240 76,602
ReREREEER Analysis of balances of cash and cash
EERDAT equivalents
Re Eﬂ*ﬂﬁbﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂz Bank and cash balances as stated in the
RITLRBLEH consolidated statement of financial position 61,306 86,369
EEAAEBE &JE‘TN%E%T)% Pledged deposits with banks pledged as
ERZEEBRITER security for borrowings and bills payable (66) (9,767)
REBReRERMINZEER Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
= consolidated statement of cash flows 61,240 76,602

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
BEMIFI I B ALR G I mEm —3 5 o consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

#HZ2023F12A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

GENERAL INFORMATION

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
fertiliser business, magnesium product business and
metallurgical flux business.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 21 January 2003 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. On 17 February 2004, the Company’s shares
were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”)
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and were withdrawn from the GEM
on 31 July 2008. Since 1 August 2008, the Company’s
shares have been listing on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. In the opinion of the directors, the immediate
and ultimate holding company of the Company is Alpha
Sino International Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands, and the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company is Mr. Chi Wen Fu.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000”) except
when otherwise indicated.

The schemes proposed by the Company was approved
by the requisite statutory majorities of the scheme
creditors on 15 June 2023. The schemes were
subsequently approved by the Hong Kong Court on
26 July 2023, and the Singapore Court on 31 July
2023. The Schemes became effective on 31 August
20283. Since then, the Joint Provisional Liquidators
had made the application to the Grand Court for the
withdrawal of the Cayman Petition and the discharge
of the appointment of joint provisional liquidators. On
24 October 2023, the Grand Court granted an order
that the Cayman Petition be dismissed and the joint
provisional liquidators be unconditionally released
as joint provisional liquidators of the Company. The
provisional liquidations of the Company has been
dismissed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B ZE2023F12A31H L F[E
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2.

ERAMIREBITEEMERS
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REFE AEEEHERKAATHEE

grtiing ((BASEAE]) B 2H
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FRMBHREEE RERE LD
1757 (BREE LY
BREEREI7H
202010 A K& 2022
F2RZERT)

BEGENFEIN SHABRRZIHE
REBEYGREE
AIEHREF25R A
]

BEGFEAESR BFHAEFTZIESE
BERT

BEGFEAFI12N BE-—XFEEMN

MEET BENMBEMEBHY
B FET TR
BRGRER 125 BRBMNE-F—
EEET STAEREAR A

RERERBIAIREETEBMBREE
A 5 AN £ B E B K2 DA BT HA 8 2 B s K00 B
XER/ RREGAVBRRMAREY
BEESERTE-

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first
time, the following new and amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) which are effective for the Group’s financial
year beginning on 1 January 2023:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020
and February 2022
amendments to
HKFRS 17)
Amendments to HKAS  Disclosure of Accounting
1 and HKFRS Practice  Policies
Statement 2

Amendments to Definition of Accounting
HKAS 8 Estimates
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets
HKAS 12 and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction
Amendments to International Tax Reform-Pillar
HKAS 12 Two Model Rules

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material effect on the
Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

#HZ2023F12A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

Amendments to

HKFRS 21

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to

HKAS 1

Amendments to

HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

Lack of Exchangeability®

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and the related
amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation
5(2020) Presentation
of Financial Statements
— Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause'

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants'

Supplier Finance
Arrangements'

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of other amendments to HKFRSs will have

no material

impact on the results and the financial

position of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

E =2023F12831HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The material accounting policies are set out below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

#HZ2023F12A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Going concern

The Group recorded loss of approximately
HK$475,136,000 (2022: HK$1,055,367,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2023, and, as of that date,
the Group’s net current liability was HK$847,136,000
(2022: HK$2,048,557,000). Further, as at 31 December
2023, the Group’s current and non-current borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$769,387,000 (2022:
HK$1,750,179,000) and HK$927,579,000 (2022:
HK$205,512,000) respectively, while its bank and
cash balance only amounted to approximately
HK$61,306,000 (2022: HK$86,369,000). The Group
was defaulted in repayment or could not fulfil certain
covenants of certain borrowings amounting to
approximately HK$764,387,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: HK$1,734,391,000), which have become
repayable on demand and are presented as current
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The condition indicates the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Notwithstanding this fact, the board of directors (the
“Directors”) consider it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis as the Group is expected to have sufficient
financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall
due for at least the next twelve months based on its
projected cash flow forecasts. The Directors have
reviewed the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, including its working capital and
bank and cash balances, together with the projected
cash flow forecasts for the next twelve months and the
Directors consider that the Group is financial viable to
continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the
Company have given consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue
as a going concern. Taking into account the Group’s
cash flow projection, including:

1. a debt restructuring that may involve refinancing
and/or a compromise or arrangement of the debts
and liabilities of onshore subsidiaries in mainland
China; and,

2. Putting extra efforts on the collection of trade
debtors to improve the debtors turnover days.

In addition, they will work to come up with the
following possible solutions so to improve the business
performance:

1. equity restructuring to facilitate the raising of cash
for the Company from third party investors through
equity issue;

2. potential investment in the Company from one or
more third party investor(s) to facilitate raising of
cash for the Company and potential disposal of
non-core business and non-operating fixed assets
of the Group.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made the
consolidated financial statements to adjust the value
of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and
to reclassify non-current assets as current assets and
non-current liabilities as current liabilities. The effects of
these potential adjustments have not been reflected in
the consolidated financial statements.
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Historical cost basis

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below. Historical cost is
generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs are to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measure ment date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Material accounting policy information

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii)
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect
the amount of the Group’s returns.

The Group reassess whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of these elements of control stated
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.
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Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income of subsidiaries are attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between entities of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs incurred to effect a business combination are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
the business combination are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income
Taxes;
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o assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s
employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 19
Employee Benefits;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to
share-based payment arrangement of the
acquiree or the replacement of the acquiree’s
share-based payment transactions with the
share-based payment transactions of the Group
are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see
the accounting policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard.

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
as if the acquired lease was a new lease at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of
low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at an amount equal to the lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.



BRABEAREIN  FZERERRKER
HWAAREFE HEERSEHEAEERY
BTRHAAENRBERERLIDIGER
BEFENSIERESN T ZARELR
BHEAETLARGRKET TRAIEESF
BECERSEOLIIFE -

EASER -BEBAHEBIRERR
FARELH  AHAREDREKER
HZRAnEFE Yt AERR—HER
EHBBCRE— D /EREAEN
REBEZAAREBZ AR BEETIENH
E-ZAEHRARSNIFEHHE] (FF
BRKRBERHES —F)RESKNKER
HEFESFERBRAZEINERMIELZ

A -

T EERTENRBARZAAREZH
BEHEE  BORRIAREW@MDLE -
NHERERIARERERREAHT
CENTE ERGEENESNETARK
BE - -NHE/EEXABZAARENRS
BERMEHAEEAAE HARESR
BIRNIEE PR -

HEBEHIEREN  AEELMFE
Z WU T AR TR U RE B (BRI R 3
EREGIEZAH) BEFAEEAAE
MmAEEZ WEHEE (WE) TREBERR
Hi2mE W (AER) AER - RIKRER
AN Ef 2 E R R IZ T BB
HEAFESRFAEZRWE S RRES
e BRASEERHELAKE L
PR 2 R EEARR -

¥R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

87} 55 ¥ < it 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

#HZ2023F12A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by
another standards, are measured at acquisition-date
fair value except for non-controlling interests that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are initially measured either
at fair value or at the present ownership instruments’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration
is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments
that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed
one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at each reporting date, and changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognized
in other comprehensive income and measured under
HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed directly of
the previously held equity interest.
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If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. The provisional amounts recognised at the
acquisition date are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets
or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other
assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or groups
of cash-generating units). Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.
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Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

97



98

43R5t £ ACA R A7 Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

87 55 ¥ = B 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

B ZE2023F12A31H L F[E
For the year ended 31 December 2023

s AKENBHNTREERREARER
BERRBRALEREEHNNEE
%

s AEEMEBENTAYTERIEHAE
EmEAHEMAENEE AAS%
BEAMECS BILD ERHELQD
DB KA A RITHITHER)

BRI WAREFFEGERES M REGE
il ) By FED B RE R

WATIREBEAEEFERETFFILHNEH
RERUBHNKEFTE  FTRERE=T
WERE IR ~ TN R SHE R RIA -

EHEERSHAR

BHBEERASERATEFBERAKRERD
HEEAE MRS BRI E RN (F R
R EGM) - HRIBE AWK HE LA
FORFERE - R BRKBEREAE
B A E R BRI ER - BIR B FEE
BERBAABEXA -

EHNABREAKRERED B FF WERE (X
BMWEERE)  MARTFEEE M

52

HRIG 2B -

HEFPHE-—ANER2ISHNEEFER
BHNREFE -ERZNHEH BHEEAS
HWNBHEERANABTSRFEEE
E25 e AKRE B T EBRRIRFERWK S

o The Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

° The Group’ performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct goods
or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract
with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on
a net basis. The Group recognised revenue from the
following major sources:
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Revenue from the processing and sales of fertiliser,
magnesium products and metallurgical flux is
recognized at a point in time when control of the
products has transferred, being at the point the
products are delivered to the customer and the
customer has accepted the products, and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer, and either the customer
has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract, net of value added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are
delivered and the customers accept the products,
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the
contract or modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option) and leases of low
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises
the lease payments as an operating expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.
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Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are
discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the
lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at
the commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and
by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a significant
event or change in circumstances resulting in
a change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using revised discount rate;
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o the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount
rate (unless the lease payments change is due to
a change in a floating interest rate, in which case
a revised discount rate is used); and

o A lease contracts modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial
measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease
payments made at or before the commencement
date and any initial direct costs, less lease incentives
received Whenever the Group incurs an obligation
for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised
and measured under HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The costs are
included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. They are depreciated over the shorter period
of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. The
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the
lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a
right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers those payments occurs
and are included in “Administrative expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term upon
exercising purchase options, the cost of the relevant
right-of-use assets and the related accumulated
depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to
property, plant and equipment.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

As a practical expedient, HKFRS 16 permits a lessee
not to separate non-lease components, and instead
account for any lease and associated non-lease
components as a single arrangement.
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Lease modification

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to
allocate the consideration under the contract to each
component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a
constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
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Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over a joint arrangement that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in relation
to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or
joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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Government Grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate
of interest is treated as a government grant, measured
as the difference between proceeds received and the
fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest
rates.

Retirement benefits costs

Pension Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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The Group also operates a defined contribution staff
retirement scheme registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
for its employees (including certain directors), the assets
of which are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the eligible employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
ORSO Scheme. When an employee leaves the ORSO
Scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employer
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions
payable by the Group may be reduced by the relevant
amount of forfeited contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Payments to defined contribution plans are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.
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Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis.
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For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities, and the
related assets separately. The Group recognises a
deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference can
be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary differences. Current and deferred tax are
recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate
to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than construction
in progress are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in
the consolidated statement of financial position. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.
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An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. A leased property which is
recognised as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if the
Group as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a
finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes
an investment property when there is a change in use,
as supported by observable evidence, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of
that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in properties
revaluation reserve. The properties revaluation reserve
in respect of that item will be transferred directly to
retained earnings when it is derecognised.

If a property held for sale becomes an investment
property when there is a change in use, as supported
by observable evidence, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that property at
the date of transfer is recognised in profit or loss.

If an investment property becomes an owner-occupied
property when there is a change in use, as supported
by observable evidence, the fair value of that property at
the date of transfer is the deemed cost for subsequent
accounting for that property as an item of property,
plant and equipment.

If an investment property becomes a property under
development for sale in the ordinary course of business
when there is a change in use, as supported by
observable evidence, the fair value of that property at
the date of transfer is the deemed cost for subsequent
accounting for that property as an property under
development.



REEE

ERKBHEREE
EBEWBAAARERAFHNELEET
AR ZAR R ET #3H M AT REHRUER BT
- EABARERAFHNELEENER
R AR AL R HIRE R S o fhET A
FEREMREHETASESRERRETT
Bz MEFNGFEECZETITITEY
WARR - BEBUBHEAERERFHNE
2 AR R AR A B 18 REHRE R RS -

A 2 T AU 5 oA AL 0 9 o 1
R AR AR S 45 L TR B
L R 4T 2 7 7 4 o 1B (O
A 7 0 5718 50R B AR T 2 P
£EH ) ML RRAE N MR E RS
R -

REBEHPRIBHEEEE

EXBAHTRBNETVEEREENH
BR URKEBHNQIAEGRER/E
PAS) M6 HERR o

RERERE REBAHTRBENASR
BIR(ERF R BT E E TR AR R 5t
BHENMEMREBEEBRSR EERS
BURBNELEEMER -

R

REREEMER I HRRFGEE N
PRI Rt 3 R EDREE BRI -
REEREESRUBES R EFES
TEEisH - MBI EEE R - AIIRBERER

¥R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

87} 55 ¥ < it 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

#HZ2023F12A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised
in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in business combination with finite useful lives
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses on the same basis
as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and
evaluation assets, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The mining
rights are amortised on the production quantities over
the total estimated mineral reserve. Mining rights are
written off to the profit or loss if the mining property is
abandoned.

113



114

87 55 ¥ = B 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

B ZE2023F12A31H L F[E
For the year ended 31 December 2023

#‘E

T‘i?%;z}iz$£ﬁi—f A3 H B E B BUEE S
?‘f!ﬂzﬁ?”ﬁﬁﬁz?ﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬂji/ In#E
i’J/i - FERERFERMGEER

nﬁXZféquﬁXZlSLA&Hj%Fﬁ LR

ﬁﬁ&%ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ

RIFEMBRRARA  ReERRITERE
B (AFRASRERFR) LERR
FEMARH(BERIH
EZ%E1HEXE%i)m/»\L@JIEE&§ B
FERSENSEMNRS BEEZPRR
PR -REZEBWHRWMEEPE S AE

£IHE - BR&

misHE  MIFEREXEMAE

MiZeRERERME  BHEaRBSEE
MEREEIXMATHNEERREEED
HEARZRERNRKEERTES - I
BRAEERSBEENEKED - 255

SRR HRRKR 2T BREEERK

HEHENEE

FRBEECRAEMREEIZBBLE
SMERBHEEAMED AL BR
RELENBEE O BEXREEAREH
ERIRETARLE  YEEXRRNEE
ZEEZ—REBGR  BHEHN M
Re EEEVLAHLEELAR B
ERHEANRSBEAMEF —FRAEER

BERARETKEE -

DHEARBIEHENEENIERDEERR
ZHEIBREER QA ERBERA (ABE

ERE)FTE -

43R5t £ ACA R A7 Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated
using the first-in, first-out/weighted average method.
Net realisable value of inventories represents the
estimated selling price less the estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on
hand and demand deposits) and cash equivalents.
Cash equivalents are short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather for investment or other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents, as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. Such classification requires the asset
must be available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

Non-current assets classified as assets held for sale are
measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.
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All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the
financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”), and fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are
met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.

1. Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. For financial assets, the effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) excluding expected
credit losses, through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition.
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The amortised cost of a financial asset is the
amount at which the financial asset is measured at
initial recognition minus the principal repayments,
plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted
for any loss allowance. The gross carrying
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost
of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI.
For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset.
If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Financial assets at FVTOCI (debt instruments)

The Group’s debt instruments are classified and
measured subsequently at FVTOCI if both of the
following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial
assets; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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Debt instruments are initially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs. Subsequently, changes in
the carrying amount of debt instruments as a result
of foreign exchange gains and losses, impairment
gains or losses, and interest income calculated using
the effective interest method are recognised in profit
or loss. The amounts that are recognised in profit
or loss are the same as the amounts that would
have been recognised in profit or loss if these debt
instruments had been measured at amortised cost. All
other changes in the carrying amount of these debts
instruments are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the heading of
investment revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances
are recognised in profit or loss with corresponding
adjustment to other comprehensive income without
reducing the carrying amounts. When these are
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an
irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as
at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the
equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments, instead, they will be
transferred to retained earnings.
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Dividends from investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the
‘investment and other income’ line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL. Specifically:

o Investments in equity instruments are classified as
at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a
contingent consideration arising from a business
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition;

o Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if such designation eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would arise from measuring
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and
losses on them on different bases.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument).
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Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on investments in debt instruments that are
measured at amortised cost. The amount of expected
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognizes
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increase in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular debtor,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or
the length of time or the extent to which the fair
value of a financial asset has been less than its
amortised cost;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a
low risk of default, ii) the debtor has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term, and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a debt instrument to have low credit risk when the
asset has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in
accordance with the globally understood definition or
if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that
the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument
for impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a financial guarantee contract, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the debtor; or

° information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 30 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a
function of the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this
is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at
the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the
exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the
reporting date, together with any additional amounts
expected to be drawn down in the future by default
date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s
understanding of the specific future financing needs
of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is
estimated as the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the original effective interest
rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the expected credit losses is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases.
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For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of
the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected loss
allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account, except for
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not
reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.
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On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
In addition, on derecognition of an investment in a debt
instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. On
derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition
to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained earnings.

Modification of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the
contractual cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise
modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are
modified, the Group assesses whether the revised terms
result in a substantial modification from original terms
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment
is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of
the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees
paid net of any fees received, and discounted using
the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per
cent different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial asset.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets
that do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount
of the relevant financial assets will be calculated at the
present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the financial assets’ original effective
interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial
assets and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset
is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group
entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a
financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or
when the continuing involvement approach applies, and
financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group, are
measured in accordance with the specific accounting
policies set out below.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is 1) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies, 2) held for trading, or 3) it is designated as at
FVTPL.
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A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

o the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.
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Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with
any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any
interest paid on the financial liabilities and is included in
the line item in profit or loss.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL,
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in
the fair value of liability is recognised in profit or loss.
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s
credit risk that are recognised in other comprehensive
income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings
upon derecognition of the financial liability.

Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts issued
by the Group that are designated by the Group as at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination,
2) held for-trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Modification of financial liabilities

A substantial modification of the terms of an existing
financial liability or a part of it (whether or not
attributable to the financial difficulty of the Group) is
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial
liability. The Group considers that the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value
of the cash flows under the new terms, including any
fees paid net of any fees received and discounted
using the original effective interest rate, is at least
10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability. Accordingly, such exchange of debt
instruments or modification of terms is accounted
for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred
are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. The exchange or modification is
considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities
that do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount
of the relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at
the present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the financial liabilities’ original effective
interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial
liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial
liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date of
modification.
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Convertible loan notes

Convertible loan notes issued by the Group that contain
both the liability and conversion option components
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing market
interest of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the
convertible loan notes and the fair value assigned to the
liability component, representing the conversion option
for the holder to convert the loan notes into equity, is
included in equity (convertible loan notes equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of
the convertible loan notes is carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. The equity
component, representing the option to convert the
liability component into ordinary shares of the Company,
will remain in convertible loan notes equity reserve
until the conversion option is exercised (in which case
the balance stated in convertible loan notes equity
reserve will be transferred to share premium. Where
the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the
balance stated in convertible loan notes equity reserve
will be released to the retained earnings. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.
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Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities of the Group are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted at
the date of grant is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period/recognised as an expense in full
at the grant date when the share options granted vest
immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to retained earnings.
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Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, contract costs and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss,
if any. The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating unit, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a post-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
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allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s
share-based payment transactions, leasing transactions,
net realisable value of inventories for the purpose
of impairment assessment, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically,
the Group categorised the fair value measurements into
three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follow:

o Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

o Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

o Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
determines whether transfer occur between levels of the
fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are
measured at fair value on recurring basis by reviewing
their respective fair value measurement.

Related Parties Transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

1. A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group.
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2. S TIEMRGH BIEEALT 2. The party is an entity where any of the following

RERE condition applies:

iy ZERAARAIBR—SEZ ()  The entity and the Group are members of the
IDA=WNEII same group.

i) —HEEBAS TEMNBEAQ (i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of
ARG ERA(KS—EBHNY the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
ANE B ARKBERHE A fellow subsidiary of the other entity).

A]) o

iy ZERAAEEHER —F= (iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
FHEERR - the same third party.

vy " HMERAF=ZFEEMNEE (iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
NA MR —BERAEZE=F and the other entity is an associate of the
BEREMEBE AT o third entity.

v) EBERAASBNEASEELSH (v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
BrERMEEB N SR LA for the benefit of employees of either the
BEMTE WAEEXRGE Group or an entity related to the Group. If the
EZar 8 Bl A B R R Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
HIEHEBNESE - employers of the post-employment benefit

plan.

(Vi) BEIMNFTHBALEZES ST (vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
HEES] o a person identified in (1).

Vi) RMOM#BMNALTHERZESE (vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
R BN BZERE (ZEE influence over the entity or is a member of
MR ETEERBEKE - the key management personnel of the entity

(or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) ZERIZEEIBEE 21 (vii) the entity, or any member of a group of
ARKERARAEERAEE which it is a part, provides key management
ZRHARIRERETEESBEAER personnel services to the Group or to the
7% o parent of the Group.
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Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(o) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

(a) Estimated Impairment of Property, Plant
and Equipment, Right-of-use Assets,
Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Mining
Rights
The Group evaluates whether property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill,
intangible assets and mining rights have suffered
any impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
the assets may not be recoverable, in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 3.
The recoverable amounts of the Group’s CGUs
represent the higher of the asset’s fair value
less costs to disposal or its value-in-use. The
calculations of fair value less costs to disposal
or value-in-use require the use of estimates and
assumptions. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the
future revenue in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts. As at 31
December 2023, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill,
intangible assets and mining rights subject to
impairment assessment were approximately
HK$1,854,183,000 (2022: HK$2,619,818,000),
HK$119,687,000 (2022: HK$178,135,000), HK$NIil
(2022: HK$151,116,000), HK$199,441,000 (2022:
HK$224,066,000) and HK$382,617,000 (2022:
HK$424,720,000) respectively after taking into
account the impairment losses of approximately
HK$390,436,000 (2022: HK$336,184,000),
HK$22,547,000 (2022: HK$29,408,000),
HK$151,116,000 (2022: HKS$NIl), HK$12,259,000
(2022: HK$44,903,000) and HK$24,917,000
(2022: HK$NIl) in respect of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill,
intangible assets and mining rights that have been
recognised respectively.

Details of the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill,
intangible assets and mining rights are disclosed
in Notes 23.
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(b)

(c)

Estimated Useful Lives of Right-of-use
Assets, Property, Plant and Equipment,
Intangible Assets and Mining Rights

The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives and related depreciation/
amortisation charges for its right-of-use assets,
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and mining rights. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets of similar
nature and functions and the mineral reserve
determined by independent technical adviser. It
could change significantly as a result of technical
innovations and competitor actions in response
to market conditions. Management will increase
the depreciation/amortisation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it
will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, the Group did not change the estimated
useful lives of right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and mining
rights.

Income Tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are certain transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination may be uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.
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(d) Provision for Expected Credit Losses on

Trade and Bills Receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate
ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns
(i.e., by geography, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and
other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the
Group’s historical observed default rates.
The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
products) are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Notes 5
and 27 to the financial statements.
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(e)

Consolidation of entities in which the
Group holds less than a majority of voting
rights

The Group considers that it controls Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(BENMREERZERARRQAF) (‘REMT”) even
though it owns only 40% of the voting rights.
This is because the Group is the single largest
shareholder of REMT with a 40% (2022: 60.1%)
equity interest. Although the Group does not own
a majority of the equity interests in REMT, taking
into account the Group’s power to participate in
the operational and financial activities of REMT,
distribution of key shareholders and their beneficial
shareholders as well as historical voting patterns,
the directors of the Company are of the view that
the equity holdings in REMT are dispersed in a
way that other shareholders have not organised
and the practical risk to organise their holdings to
outvote the Group in the shareholders’ meetings
of REMT is remote so that the Group’s voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to
direct the relevant activities of REMT unilaterally.
Therefore, the directors of the Company are of the
view that the Company has de facto control over
REMT.



¥R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

87} 55 ¥ < it 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

#HZ2023F12A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. #MTITAH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) £HITRHEF (a) Categories of Financial Instruments
2023 2022
FHE T BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EWMEE Financial assets
HEEKATER Financial assets measured at
SRIEE amortised cost 88,099 165,273
BAREFTAERZA Financial assets at fair value
EMEE through profit or loss 727 1,690
88,826 166,963
cHMBE Financial liabilities
bR =1 Amortised cost 2,228,066 2,798,558
(b) BERBEEHERKEF (b) Financial Risk Management Objectives

AEENEIZEERTABERAA
B ABRZNRATAE BEZREK
AR KRR - HMRKRIE 1R
T ROIMBESHEHR BIRNHEA
LRENEE Bt ERKHMWEN
KRB -BA—HLETHBRRETH
AgmkEs HEAEREER - R
TAHBREBEMNERE EZ%F
TRTAAMNEREEIMNERR
MERRE - HEMERRERR  EEER
Kome & & BB o LA 5 a0 f7] 2%
MZERBRHBER AEENERE
RREEASZENTARANE
MTEMSKEAEEMERAE
EMBRAMEXINEETNZE -

and Policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
equity instruments on fair value through profit or
loss, trade and bills receivables, other receivables,
deposits, bank and cash balances, trade and bills
payables, accruals and other payables, convertible
bonds issued by a listed subsidiary, lease liabilities
and borrowings. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, other
price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The Group’s overall risk management programme
focus on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.
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(i)

(ii)

SFEm AR
ERNAEEARBOEBRS
BELRBEBEIENSWB AR
MINBEEHEE MU AIRE
AZBEAMINER K - NEE
BAYERIINER S  BENR
BEATIINEEIRBEK - A&
B ERAEERIMER R - A
ERERZEHHMEANIEE

AN

a0 o
ZN

EIE
K%l/,ﬁ”ﬁﬁf'éa}fﬁﬁfﬁ
R BIOTRBEEEHRRTE
1ﬁ%2/‘fﬂﬁﬂfﬂ (182
R 2 HM E29K34)

EEE’\%:EE?“%$‘$IEEEE’J
BRAEFERRRILIFEAX -
I&tﬁf\ilﬂq”ﬂilﬂ%ﬁxﬁ

0 B sk H A $ H5 4E

AEENAEYBEBREMT
BRRFABZRITREBR R A E
NMEEBEZHESRANXER -
A HRB|OTEHREZHAR
AHME RAUEASEES
e S O o

HEE ST

it & P22023F12 4318 7] & #
REEZHNERERAE EFA

/TR0 & 2 (5 FR0.1%)

(2022%F : 10fE &2  AEE
FEHBEESEM SR LD

322,000/ 7T (20224 : FEFi
%R, R 4 #634,000
L) e

(i)

(ii)

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group does not have significant
exposures to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in
the functional currencies of the respective
subsidiaries. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor
its significant foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to pledged bank
deposits, bank and cash balances and
fixed-rate borrowings (see Notes 29 and 34
respectively for details).

As management considers the Group’s
exposure to the above fair value interest rate
risk is not significant, no interest rate swaps
or other hedging activities are undertaken by
management during the year.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to bank balances
and variable-rate borrowings carried at
prevailing market rate. However, such
exposure is minimal to the Group as the
bank balances are all short-term in nature.

Sensitivity Analysis

If interest rates on variable-rate borrowings
as at 31 December 2023 had been 10
basis points (0.1% per annum) (2022: 10
basis points) higher/lower than the actual
effective interest rate, the Group’s post-tax
loss for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$322,000 (2022: post tax
loss for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$634,000).
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(iv)

ABFHFEZIBRABERAR -
BEFAKEIFTRRR &ﬁ@
AUBERER - ANEBHA
ERRBEZZESEHRRNEEMNE
MZBRALTH -

BRI
AT BRESNRIERSE BB
HHZEAERRAREE -

WEEITAZEBRLERATE
10% (20224 : 10% ) * ~AEE
ZKEﬁﬁ&%%&ﬁmﬁé
Wz &R 418 A0 £973,0007%
JL (20226 - REEHZ BB
R EHMAR A WS R 10
#9169,000/ L) °

5 & fz
AEEEHERTREERL
ME=ZFETRG ERAE
ERBE  FTAEREEBEKRR
ETRXRINERHEAEZSEE
BERF - m%'ﬁﬁlA%
BERBUWRIBEERNE
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CEEEMRRIE  AEE

TEBHEEBER -

a5

¥R 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

87} 55 ¥ < it 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

#HZ2023F12A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(iii) Other Price Risk

(iv)

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in listed equity
securities in Australia. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks.
The Group’s other price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity instruments listed in
the Australia.

Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity
price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of respective instruments
has been 10% (2022: 10%) higher/
lower, the Group’s post-tax loss or other
comprehensive income for the year would
decrease/increase by approximately
HK$73,000 (2022: post-tax loss or other
comprehensive income for the year would
decrease/increase by approximately
HK$169,000).

Credit Risk

The Group trades only with recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group’s policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to
bad debts is not significant. For transactions
that are not denominated in the functional
currency of the relevant operating unit, the
Group does not offer credit terms without
the specific approval of the Head of Credit
Control.
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RERSAHRBRGBRELE
TRESN  AAERHAEE

B8 - BEEDERE BB
B (EEEY  ESE
BREEE R LR

A &8 sk H At 72 309 (5 AR B B9
AREBE)NZETFDEES
MAREEFREE - % HE
R AEMELER EBE
BEERRHEAMAUSARER

=1 B AT &R R R R4

B R A BB AR o

REBE WA EREER R R

HBEFEATER

AESEERE i

An impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date using a provision matrix to
measure ECL. The provision rates are based
on internal credit ratings for groupings of
various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region,
product type, customer type and rating and
coverage by letters of credit or other forms of
credit insurance). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value
of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading

assessment comprises the following

categories:
EZEWE EttemEE /HMbER

Other financial assets/

Internal credit rating

Description

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and
does not have any past-due amounts

Ea R HEFENERE AVECMARIE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but
usually settle in full

BzzE EHEAEERIABEER  BEREEH
B

Doubtful There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or
externally

QL ENSRANK  BRNPINPERNE
HEBEERREEEM

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

ER AER TAELREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect

f 35 ARE TEBARRRENERE mA%

By EERRE T

Trade receivables
Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired
rHEAREER
-EEERE
Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired
THEARERR
-BiEERE
Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

rHEAEERR
-BiEERE

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

rHRBEEER
—-EERE

Amount is written off

BHcE

other items
12m ECL

12EABRSEEES

12m ECL

12EABHREEBE

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

rHRBEEES
-BEERE

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

THRBEEER
-RERME

Amount is written off

BHLE



TRAMAEEHBETERHE

EERTENEREEDN

[2 Bz ik O

Financial assets
at amortised cost
REBHRAIRNERMEE

Trade receivables

B HEWHE

Deposits and other receivables

®e R HEMERTE

Pledged bank deposits

BEARTER

Bank balances
RITHH

Other items
HitEE
Financial guarantee contracts

MBERAN

Wi SABERFIR ABEAFR

Notes credit ratings

27

29

29

32

=
I:l/\

External

A3 to Aa2
A2ZAa2

A3 to Aa3
A3ZAa3

Internal

credit ratings lifetime ECL

Low risk

B

Watch list

B

Low risk

e

Loss
B8
N/A

TiEm
N/A
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The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial assets,
which are subject to ECL assessment:

128 A2 RS
FEER IRHAE
12-month or
Gross carrying amount
2023 2022
TERT THT
HK$’000 HK$'000

lifetime ECL - not 2,963 41,425
credit-impaired

2HEACERE
-REERE

lifetime ECL - not - -
credit-impaired

2 HEBEEER
~ S {EERE

lifetime ECL - not - 71,032
credit-impaired

2HEACERE
-REERE

Lifetime ECL - 221,233 465,507
credit-impaired

2HEACERE

FERE

12m ECL 22,864 29,850

12EAEHEERE

Lifetime ECL - 29,291 30,678
credit-impaired

2HRBEERE
—EERE

12m ECL 66 9,767

REARBEEER
12m ECL 60,834 75,790

REARREEER

12m ECL 40,133 42,089
REABRSEERE
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REZEEFEMS  AEE
EEAEEMEHREERIFHR
BT AT ERHEREE
BENBEREG KRABEX
AEEEBRUEERENES
AGN - AN BE PR e ik O K 8
HMRoM BEeEEEE
ZEHEMEREEEE -

ERASEEERRERMN —
By AEEREEEHER
FREBANIBEETHR - TRIE
HEBREHPBHEESRE (&
ZERE) NIREEEETG
B E 5 e R GRIE K 5 B & K ik
0 & # - %2023%12A318 -
B E 4218 5221,233,0005 7T
(20224 : 465,507,000/ 7T)
ZHEEEERENE S EWR
TH B 1@ B FE A e

el Low risk
BRLE Watch list
A&t Doubtful

For trade receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for debtors with significant
outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the
Group determines the ECL on these items on
a collective basis, grouped by aging status
and past due status.

As part of the Group’s credit risk
management, the Group applies internal
credit rating for its customers in relation
to its operation. The following table
provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed on a collective basis within lifetime
ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with
credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts
of HK$221,233,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$465,507,000) were assessed
individually.

2023 2022
THEEE EZENNE THEEZX BH5EKZE
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
TERT TAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
1.1% 2,963 1.2% 41,425
N/A RiEH - N/A i@ F -
N/A ~EH - 80.3% 71,032

2,963 112,457




HETE B R TDIREE 5 E WK
HEPFHANEORERE
HBREMGT TR BAMND
T BRANKSE AR ES
MATEMEREHARE -HZ
2023F12A31H IEFE » K
EEBRBRATERE SRR
FRIEFH IR R E B 59,0008 T
(2022% : 41,262,000/ 7T) °
F 1= B R (E FE UK BR SR R (A
B 4511,719,000/% 7T (20224 :
162,443,000/ 7T) ©

FREFIRBMCARE S
e LU LR
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The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on probability of default and loss
given default over the expected life of the
trade receivables and are adjusted for
forward-looking information that is available
without undue costs or effort. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
provided HK$9,000 (2022: HK$41,262,000)
impairment allowance for trade receivables,
based on collective assessment.
Impairment allowance of HK$11,719,000
(2022: HK$162,443,000) were made on
credit-impaired debtors.

The following table shows the movement
in lifetime ECL that has been recognised
for trade receivables under the simplified
approach:

2 HATE
FEEBEE 2HFE
(EFE BE(GEE
RAE) AR a5t
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL (not ECL
credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
TET FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
202241 H1H At 1 January 2022 43,263 309,357 352,620
R Transfer (13,948) 13,948 -
BRI EBE TR Impairment losses
recognized, net 41,262 162,443 203,705
& N 2 Exchange realignment (13,024) (20,241) (33,265)
20229 12H318 & At 31 December 2022 and
2023F1H1H 1 January 2023 87,58 465,507 523,060
LR Transfer (57,528) 57,528 -
W RR (B B R R Impairment losses recognized,
net 9 11,719 11,728
s Written-off - (294,608)  (294,608)
PEE 5, 38 =& Exchange realignment (1) (18,913) (18,914)
M2023F12H31H At 31 December 2023 33 221,233 221,266
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IR & N H b B WK IR A R {E
ERBREEME  AKEER
BREMFBEERRE NS
FER AR E B K IEIE AN -

For the purposes of internal credit risk
management of deposits and other
receivables, the Group uses past due
information to assess whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial

FHEEE
Average
loss rate
R2023% At 31
12A31H8 December
2023
e REMEYK  Deposits
R and other
receivables 2.9%
R2022F At 31
12A31H December
2022
e REMEYK  Deposits
;R and other

receivables 3.4%

recognition.

KA THBEE paf L)

Not Average
past due loss rate Past due Total
TER TR TR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
22,864 100% 29,291 52,155
29,850 100% 30,678 60,528
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The following tables show the movement in
ECL that has been recognised for deposits

B - and other receivables.
2HEE
FEFER 2HFH
128 A EH (k58 FBR(EER
FEER "E) HE) &t
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL (not ECL
credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
TER TET TERT TER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
$2022%1A1H At 1 January 2022 1,089 - - 1,089
LR Transfer (199) - 199 -
BAREEETE Impairment losses recognised, net 191 = 31,522 31,713
BHAE Exchange realignment (73) = (1,043) (1,116)
R2022412A31H K At 31 December 2022 and
2023F1A1H 1 January 2023 1,008 - 30,678 31,686
AR ERBEEE Reversal of impairment losses
R recognised, net (307) - (354) (661)
fE 5 = Exchange realignment (35) - (1,033) (1,068)
#2023%F12H831H At 31 December 2023 666 - 29,291 29,957
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(v)

EERBITERRBITERD
EERRER ARXZHTF
REERFAEBEREEHRE
BYeEEFRNRT AL
B2 E EINERE B R R P
ZHEEEFENEORERR
ENERABENERTAEDE
MERTTIF K M SR1T R A0 1218
AEMEEERE REFHE
KX BEBRITERRRT
mHmI2EAEREEBER
BRYTEKXR - H I & HER
EiaRE -

B HERE A

RBEBR EEEETRE
i YREMBEREGHNN
EERREBMBEL Al &
SEMEEVBERGONE
BEREEZEAEM2@EATERE
EEEMNSRETE AEER
& B B E B 49464,000%8
T BBMBEERAGNZFHE
BRI FES2 ©

REBELmEE

TERAMASEHERERRK
BREAGAOARTENTZEREA
BEZEHBR - LERZ
BEREMRROE R R A E
ANBRIZBEE 2 KA AR
EREHSEER -

==
=r
ot

(v)

For pledged bank deposits and bank
balances, credit risk is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for
pledged bank deposits and bank balances
by reference to information relating to
probability of default and loss given default of
the respective credit rating grades published
by external credit rating agencies. Based
on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on
pledged bank deposits and bank balances is
considered to be insignificant and therefore
no loss allowance was recognised.

Financial guarantee contracts

At the end of the reporting period, the
management has performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that there
has been an decrease in credit risk of the
financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly,
the loss allowance for financial guarantee
contracts issued by the Group is measured
at an amount equal to 12-months ECL. The
Group reversed allowance of approximately
HK$464,000 in the profit or loss. Details of
the financial guarantee contracts are set out
in Note 32.

Liquidity Risk

The table below analyses the maturity
profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
the end of the reporting period based on
the contractual undiscounted payments.
Specially, borrowings with repayment
on demand clause and amounts being
demanded by the creditors for immediate
repayment are included in the earliest time
band.
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2023
AERALR
Undiscounted cashflow
REXY AHRR
—EHT —EHE Eit L BEE
On demand Total
or less than Over undiscounted Carrying
1 year 1year  cash flows amount

TEn TiEn TiEn TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ZHENTERENZE  Trade and bil payables - 119,538 - 119,538 119,538
st ERAREMEMNZIE  Accruals and other payables - 335,428 22,074 357,502 357,502
MBEREH Financial quarantee contract - 153,744 - 153,744 40,133
HEAE Lease liabilties 6.99 1,207 7,010 8,217 5,359
EE Borrowings 1.14 915,882 1,276,605 2,192,487 1,696,966
R ES Convertible bonds 8.47 728 10,585 11,313 8,568
1,526,527 1,316,274 2,842,801 2,228,066
20224 2022
RBRAER
Undiscounted cashflow
ME¥3 REXT ARRR
7k —FUT —FHE RnAE RHE
Weighted
average On demand Total
effective or less than Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flows amount
TAL TAL THT THET
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ZHERTERENZE  Trade and bill payables - 125,402 - 125,402 125,402
A ZEREMEMNTE  Accruals and other payables - 638,085 22,890 660,975 660,975
HEERAHY Financial guarantee contract - 159,006 - 159,006 42,089
REAR Lease liabilities 7.08 1,378 8,501 9,879 6,502
B8 Borrowings 9.23 1,786,415 260,324 2,046,739 1,955,691
#kER Convertible bonds 8.47 669 10,644 11,313 7,899

2,710,955 302,359 3,013,314 2,798,558
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(c)

LREHE
AMEREEHRALEE R/ ER
TREENSRABETAAEN
T e

(c) Fair Value Measurements
This note provides information about how the
Group determines fair values of various financial
assets and financial liabilities.

(i) REBEEEHRBERLAAEFE (i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial
HEEELHEERLHMEF assets and financial liabilities that are
MR E measured at fair value on a recurring

basis
AEBHEOCHEERERE Some of the Group’s financial assets and
BEREMERRIZARETE - financial liabilities are measured at fair
TRATH & B &R a0 o] & E 5% value at the end of each reporting period.
EoMEENETRABEBENAR The following table gives information about
BE(LERMAGERTEEA how the fair values of these financial assets
E) - and financial liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and
inputs used).
RATEBEHAAE
Fair value as at
tHEE 2023F12f31H 2022512A31H DAERE HESEREERAHE
Fair value  Valuation techniques
Financial assets 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 hierarchy and key inputs
BOnEGABRZ  RBEERIM LTRA REBZIN LHRA F18 ERMEMBEAE
IRAT A (Hf5E25) B% 727,000 7T % 1,600,000 7
Equity instrument at fair  Listed equity securities Listed equity securities Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
value through profit or ~ outside Hong Kong: outside Hong Kong: active market
loss (Note 25) HK$727,000 HK$1,690,000

MIEFEANLB|AEFEIE B2
BRERZRMERE -

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2
and 3 in both years.
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Reconciliation for financial instruments
carried at fair value based on significant
unobservable input (level 3) is as follows:

2023 2022

FTHERT FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January - 18
Fair value gain - -
Gain on lapsed upon maturity - 18

M12H31H As at 31 December - -
BB Sensitivity Analysis
TTESRMAaBEIHEREFL The derivative financial liabilities lapsed last
B e year upon maturity.
MHFRFEETEBEEZLE (ii) Fair value of the Group’s financial
HEMFTEELHEERESH assets and financial liabilities that
BEMHLARE are not measured at fair value on

B 755 ¥R 5% B

RHNEREENSRABNK

[EREREESAYY

recurring basis

The directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximately their fair
values.
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6. REemRERE 6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AEBNBEBLREREE R b= The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
BREEVBRARMERGEE KA R ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings and
BHEERINEEMLETE - convertible bonds divided by total assets as shown in

the consolidated statement of financial position.

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE  KAEE/ER During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
B A aELREFECO%NA  R20234F strategy is to maintain a gearing ratio within 60%. The
K2022F 12 A31IEMEBELEMT gearing ratios at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as
follows:

2023 2022

FE T TAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

BERERTRERES Total borrowings and

convertible bonds 1,705,534 1,963,590

BE®E Total assets 3,222,413 4,361,021

BERX Gearing ratio 52.9% 45.0%

7. kA 7. REVENUE

NREEBTFTENSEERENES SELE The Group is principally engaged in fertiliser business,
R R AEER KREBWRERZ KA magnesium product business and metallurgical flux
DT business. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the

year is as follows:

2023 2022
THER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
REEEFZEHAWE Revenue from contract with
customers
HEREERER Sales of fertiliser products 52,061 141,858
HEZEEmM Sales of magnesium products 263,491 383,899
55 JoR 8l 48 B E S Sales of metallurgical flux products 30 5,848
315,582 531,605
WaaERRE: Timing of revenue recognition:
— 1 B 5] B4 A point in time 315,582 531,605
MERAERBHREE —FHERE - 1B All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As
EEEMBREENFISENETRETH permitted by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the
AR ERBISINTZERATH transaction price allocated to unsatisfied contracts is

& o not disclosed.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, being the chief operating decision maker, for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on the operating
divisions. The Group’s operating and reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 are therefore as follows:

- REEHER
- BERE®
- FREVBEIES

BRAKEZAIREDRERNN T2

DEKA R EE

Fertiliser business

Magnesium product business

Metallurgical flux business

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments

is presented below.

Segment Revenue and Results

AREBZAIREDHE D ZWARFEED

MR

H E2023F12A31H IEFE :

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2023:

BEENEE BERXK REBKEEER CL

Magnesium Metallurgical

Fertiliser product flux
business business business Total
TERT TER TER THERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AEBEA Segment revenue 52,061 263,491 30 315,582
A EEUA Inter-segment revenue = - - -
RENDEFHA Revenue from external customers 52,061 263,491 30 315,582
NEERE Segment results (376,347) (525,454) (36,453) (938,254)
HiEas s EiE Other gain or losses, net 22,010

UBERBEANE Change in fair value of financial

& guarantee liabilities 464
RRITBER Central administrative costs (38,119)
B EA N Gain on debt restructuring 649,045
M%ER Finance costs (178,819)
WP % Al B8 Loss before income tax (483,673)
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H 22022912831 H IFFE :

For the year ended 31 December 2022:

BEERER FEMRER BRARHES CE

Magnesium  Metallurgical

Fertiliser product flux
business business business Total
BT BT FTAEL THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
DEUA Segment revenue 141,858 383,899 5,848 531,605
AEBEKA Inter-segment revenue - - . ~
KEINBEFHIBA Revenue from external customers 141,858 383,899 5,848 531,605
DEBEE Segment results (660,750) (97,170) (38,151) (796,071)
HinF s Eia Other gain or losses, net (2,017)

ﬁﬁ‘“ﬁ*ﬁﬁ BRRE Change in fair value of financial

e guarantee liabilities (39,045)
RRITHER Central administrative costs (32,823)
KB Finance costs (191,776)
RETERAER Loss before income tax (1,061,732)

EX2Z D EBARINBEPFREE Z
WA > 2 EBER 5 IR R FIRANETL -

AHEDHBZEABRRARAEE S HE
HE - DEEEERN L BESERRITHE
R(BREFHFM & THMFRELE
B 2RERBBEZAANEEIRUBE
RIBATESMEBE WBRAETES
BRAREREAREARER LT H DA
RBEZHIRA -

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. Inter-segment
transactions are entered into at arm’s length.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
results represent the results from each segment without
allocation of central administrative costs including
directors’ emoluments, certain net other gains or losses,
change in fair value of financial guarantee liabilities, and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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PEHEERERE Segment Assets and Liabilities
R2023F12A31H 2 D EBEE K B EME, The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December
EZZBIFEZEARATZAIRE D LS 2023 and capital expenditure for the year then ended
DR : by reportable segments are as follows:
B RA
BREE  EEREH BEEK AHEH KR fit
Magnesium
Fertiliser product Metallurgical Total
business business flux business segment  Unallocated Total
TEL TEn TEn TEL TERL TEn
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
PHEE Segment assets 1,203,480 1,393,616 446,878 3,043,974 178,430 3,222,413
PHEE Segment liabilities 1,225,213 480,638 161,627 1,867,478 724,805 2,502,283
EXR% Capital expenditure - 28,068 14,948 43,016 - 43,016
R2022F12A31B 2 & E M A EME The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December
EZRIFEEZEARNBA I IR RE D2 2022 and capital expenditure for the year then ended
AN (I N by reportable segments are as follows:
RE o]
EHER  EEQEH RHER AHAE AR CH
Magnesium
Fertiliser product  Metallurgical Total
business business  flux business segment Unallocated Total

TAL TR TR TR TAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NHRE Segment assets 1581,227 1,985,092 543509 4110818 250203 4,361,021

AHEE Segment liabilities 1,219,906 455,510 171,418 1,846,834 1,331,374 3,178,208

BRES Capital expenditure 8,353 12,945 32,458 53,756 - 53,756




160

43R5t £ ACA R A7 Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

B} ¥5 ¥R R Bt 5T
Notes to the Financial Statements

E =2023F12831HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

RERERDBRAER D MEALER
ZBR:

- ’“*Eﬁﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁj&ﬁ’léﬁ R1T R
fﬁ MR MEMEEEREEIN
MBEEBDEEFNRED L

- KR HETHRBAABTHAR
R &% m%ﬁﬁﬁz 3F1 gEkE
TEMEMNZKIEBEN FIEEESAS
RREAREDE -

Rt EBEH

B E2023F12AB1H L FE :

ERE R (3E10) Gain on debt restructuring (note 10)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

= all assets are allocated to reportable segments
other than assets classified as held for sale, bank
and cash balances and other assets for corporate
use;

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments
other than convertible bonds issued by a listed
subsidiary, certain borrowings for corporate use
and certain other payables.

Other Segment Information
For the year ended 31 December 2023:

BEXERER SEREY RERHEHR Ll ait
Magnesium
Fertiliser product Metallurgical
business business flux business  Unallocated Total

TR TR TERL TR TR
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
- - - (649,045)  (649,045)

N% BERRENE (M517)  Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment (note 17) 83,319 99,625 14,873 3,129 200,946
RAMERE (ft18) Depreciation of investment property
(note 18) - - - 2,820 2,820
FREEENE (M19) Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(note 19) 4,781 1,479 1,408 1,106 8,774
BYEERRBEEHE Amortisation of intangible assets and
(M1 R22) mining rights (note 21 and 22) - 6,019 - - 6,019
25k %Z HRE LI&(TE%EHH Allowance/(Reversal of allowance) for
ERERRE/ (BERD) expected credit losses of trade
(Kfi2r) and bills receivables (note 27) 16,398 (3,948) (178) - 12,272
BeREMEUFERSEE  Alowance/(Reversal of allowance)
BRAB/ (BERR) for expected credit losses of
(Fiztos) deposits and other receivables
(note 28) (150) (44) (896) 429 (661)
HENE HERZENSE,/  Loss/(gain) on disposal of property,
() plant and equipment - (3,454) - 3,588 134
BAAEHABEZBRATIAZ  Losson change in fair value of
MEZYER equity instruments at fair value
through profit or loss - - - 963 963
SREERE Impairment of financial assets” 219,749 355,018 26,508 - 601,275
FER(He) Income tax (credit) (3,322) (129) (5,086) - (8,537)

5 %mﬁ‘lﬁ?a%%% PR Mo sk i - (B
CBE - BVEENRRRE -

*

Financial assets including property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, goodwill, intangible assets and
mining right.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022:

REEHEE  BERER RAKIEHR APE GH
Magnesium
Fertiliser product  Metallurgical
business business  flux business Unallocated Total
THEL THT THT THL THEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B EAE (fi510) Gain on debt restructuring (note 10) - (140,706) - - (140,706)
W BEREZENE (M17)  Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (note 17) 130,664 110,144 10,308 3,616 254,732
REMFNE (Fr18) Depreciation of investment property
(note 18) - - - 2,968 2,968
fEREZENE (MT19) Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(note 19) 5,959 1,439 1,509 1,008 9,915
BYEERRREER Amortisation of intangible assets and
(ME21%22) mining rights (note 21 and 22) - 1,448 1,369 = 2,817
ZHEUGERIEEEEEE  Netalowance for expected credit
58 (M5or) losses of trade receivables
(note 27) 98,609 104,178 817 106 203,705
EERTERAEEEE Net allowance for expected credit
BfETE (hiEs) losses of other receivables
(note 28) 30,215 18 1,443 37 31,713
HENE  BE RZERN Loss/(gain) on disposal of property,
BE/ (k) plant and equipment ?) (2,280) - 9,393 7,111
BARE JM%ZHMIEZ Loss on change in fair value of
\;ﬂ ZHER equity instruments at fair value
through profit or loss - - - 2,216 2,216
TESRERELZDAEWE  Fair value gain arising from derivative
financial liabilities - = - (18) (18)
EH(E2) /BX Income tax (credit)/expenses (11,627) 4,208 1,034 - (6,365)
HEFH Geographical Information

H E2023%F N20229F12 A31H IEFE * &
EEFERFTEHLERAEBEZRAY
KEPE - MR20235412 831 H k20224
12A818 * RE BRI D IERBEEH
RAE - EEEEAEEE RS HHE
BERAED

TEFFEH

B R A 220234 K2022F12 A31H IF F
EVWEEME -—SFF 2B BAERR
WAZ10% AW EEBRAEEXFNE
P27 o

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group mainly operated in the PRC and most of
the Group’s revenue are derived from the PRC and
most of non-current assets of the Group are located in
the PRC as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022. No analysis of the Group’s result and assets by
geographical area is disclosed.

Information about Major Customers

No information about major customers is presented
as no single customer contributed over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.
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9. Hftlr R EIRBH

9. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET

2023 2022
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
B U A Interest income 774 1,181
HEME  BMERXEDN (Loss)/gain on disposal of property,
(B8R) W= FHE plant and equipment, net (134) (7,111)
LN i Write-off of property, plant and
equipment (3,654) (1,628)
b /NI I WG = Ee - N Loss on change in fair value of equity
TERARBEEHEIE instruments at fair value through
profit or loss (963) (2,216)
PTA S R T BB HI1E K Gain on lapse of derivative financial
& liabilities upon maturity = 18
BT 48 B (BT &%) Government subsidy (note i) 1,332 4,077
3H & BER Sales of scrap materials (4,410) 15,409
HERERMEEE Loss on disposal of idled raw materials (13,701) 1,215
HE WA Rental income 6,046 4,010
HEWA S (ZH) Sundry income/(expense) (626) 1,640
(15,336) 16,595
Bt 5E note:

H E=2023F12A31B L FE  AEE
RENBESHMRENRMETENK
JF 5 3k #) T8 JT (20224F : 240,0008
)  TEERPERFHOEERER
7#1,331,0005 7T (20224 : 1,399,0005%
o) KA EBRFER RS AR HEB 2
B # B £ T8 T (20224 : 2,438,000/
JT) °

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recognised government grant of approximately HK$Nil
(2022: HK$240,000), which related to Employee Support
Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government,
HK$1,331,000 (2022: HK$1,399,000) which mainly
relates to social security contributions subsidised by
the PRC government and HK$Nil (2022: HK$2,438,000)
relates to compensation of Relocation of Industries
from City Urban Area To Industrial Parks by the PRC
government.
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10. GAIN ON DEBT RESTRUCTURING

(@)

In respect of the Company, the Company
Creditors’ Scheme was approved by the requisite
statutory majorities of the scheme creditors at
the meeting of the Company Creditors’ Scheme
held on 29 June 2023. The Company Creditors’
Scheme was also sanctioned by the High Court
of Hong Kong on 26 July 2023. Since then, the
Company Creditors’ Scheme became effective on
31 August 20283.

The schemes involve the pooling of scheme
assets into the scheme company, a company to
be incorporated in Hong Kong and administered
by the scheme administrators for the benefits of
the scheme creditors, and the scheme assets will
form the funds for the payment of term extension
interest, interim payment and term extension
repayment, the early repayment and the final
payment. The scheme assets consist of: (i) the
scheme share proceeds; (i) the Zhangzhou Land
proceeds and; (iii) the Shandong Hongri dividend.

i. Scheme shares proceeds:

Ming Xin Developments Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group, shall transfer a
total of 79,012,680 Rare Earth Magnesium
Technology Group Holdings Limited
(“REMT”) shares, comprising approximately
20% of REMT’s issued share capital. On
27 April 2023, the Company published an
announcement regarding the scheme share
transfer in compliance with the requirements
of the listing rules.
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ii. EMLHWFriFEE - ii.
SE N 4 (EL £ s s PR RE E T 40
B3 CEM) ERERIE BRA A
WA ) 15 M2023F8 A31H #£ 5t
MBFRHE  ARTE#
BRI + 1B B (10
B)EAAEE -

R2023F12A31H » &M £ b
MESRNAEBLEE VB E
MEAEEERIEEMERT
T o

iii. IWWRAARE iii.
Acronagrotrans Ltd# A [l AL
Bt TRMDBRRGEBRELD
50.5% - i I R AL Bt TR 7
BRARANERIEEEIT M
A@REBFENLURLIHO LI
AR g EREET AR
BEE - URLTHETUHE -

R2023F12A31H » I E + i
MESRNAEBLEE Y BHRE
RERAEEERRT -

BERARGEEAGTE  8F&
(BREFEEB A2 RIERTF
B #91,341,942,0005% JT & &
Rk R D ASFERRE R
7 - At B E2023F12 A31
BlEtFEERRAEHSEHEKE
49649,045,000% T °

BLZHEB B2EARAABH
A2023%F4H27H ~ 20235F5 A
3H K2023F5H12H B A ff o

Zhangzhou Land proceeds:

The Zhangzhou Land, the land use rights
of which are owned by Century Sunshine
(Zhangzhou) Ecological Technology Ltd.,
shall be disposed of for purpose of the
schemes after the second anniversary of 31
August 2023, subject to the release of the
Zhangzhou Land Potential Pledge, if one
exists.

As at 31 December 2023, the Zhangzhou
Land was still recorded in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements under
the category of right-of-use assets and
investment properties.

Shandong Hongri dividend
Acronagrotrans Ltd holds approximately
50.5% of the total equity interest in
Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock
Company Limited, which in turn owns the
land use rights of the Shandong Land which
is undergoing the land use change. Upon
the approval and occurrence of the land
use change, the Shandong Land shall be
disposed.

As at 31 December 2023, the Shandong
Land was still recorded in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements under the
category of right-of-use assets.

Pursuant to the Company creditors’
scheme, the liabilities, including the
principals and accrued interests of the
scheme debts, amounted to approximately
HK$1,341,942,000 have been discharged
and allocated into a 5-year term
extension loan. Accordingly, a gain on
debt restructuring of approximately
HK$649,045,000 has been recognised for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

For more details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 27
April 2023, 3 May 2023, 12 May 2023.
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2023
FER
HK$’000
BIEARRQTEE AT EIAIER  Liabilities assumed pursuant to the Company Creditors’
BE: Scheme:
BB (MfzE34) Borrowings (Note 34) (679,906)
BIEARRATERE AT 2|8 Asset transferred pursuant to the Company Creditors’
BE Scheme:
&I, Scheme Shares (12,991)
(692,897)
BIRARQFEE A EIMREE  Liabilities discharged pursuant to the Company
BfE: Creditors’ Scheme:
FEET B A & H b FE - 5018 Accruals and other payables 408,107
EE (M3E34) Borrowings (Note 34) 933,835
1,341,942
B EHEZ W Gain on debt restructuring 649,045
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(b)

EHEAEE —HEWBRQAWER K
SEERAR AR ([HERRD (&
BRI 601) @ MEER I ERE A
21 R2022F3 A1 H BT M R
BHREAGTESHZLLESTEATHE
M % Sat B G AR E - SR
B AT IR R2022F5 527 H EE
BB A RE o 18 - MERHRE
AT EIR2022F5 A31 B AR »

MR2022%F7 A25H @ sTEIE B AE W
BT ERTEIEEARLNEERKE
FEUZMTHFAPEZIERR

RIBSFMLERBMREERE ([EERE
Al BER B RRZEEARER AL
HEEXEPRRBE MEXRADH
BFUAER  BEMAB B (20224
5A31H) B BHAF - HERER
202247 A 3 1765,483,900% #1 &
BR(H8IRHN))  EFRFQARELY
29,680,000/ 7T (X AR R AHFE
BT B B920% ) LA 9 BIME 1 & HB
FE R BEREIMT R ZFER
HiEETTFEEEA BEARR
EEEAMERARB FEARRKSE
FRFEEEABRAINESF S
B

BIBEATBRRESERBREZR (B2
BB MG MEREBRITAS A
RE4911,313,0008 LA A] AR B 5 T
SNEBERE A - A St 1B %) A8,692,000
B -BEANESERRE R 5]
BMRES BB BE AT E A A
MERRAFAR -

In respect of a subsidiary of the Group, Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(“REMT”) (Stock code: 601), the REMT Creditors’
Scheme was approved by the requisite statutory
majorities of the scheme creditors at the meeting
of REMT Creditors’” Schemes held on 1 March
2022. The REMT Creditors’ Scheme was also
sanctioned by the High Court of Hong Kong on
27 May 2022. Since then, the REMT Creditors’
Scheme became effective on 31 May 2022.

As at 25 July 2022, the scheme administrators
have received the preference indication forms from
all scheme creditors and the admitted claims have
been allocated in the following manner:

Under the terms of the 5 years term extension
option (“Option A”), full repayment of admitted
claims will be made to the Option A creditors
and the repayment date will be extended for a
period of five years beginning from the effective
date on 31 May 2022. REMT issued 65,483,900
new ordinary shares (“Scheme Shares”) of fair
value of approximately HK$29,630,000 being
approximately 20% of the currently issued
shares of the company in July 2022 for the term
extension interest and term extension potential
extra payment, which be issued to the scheme
administrator to be held on behalf of the Option
A Creditors. The term extension interest will be
paid to each Option A Creditor by the Scheme
Company on an annual basis, or;

Under the terms of convertible bonds swap option
(“Option B), REMT issued convertible bonds
in the total principal amount of approximately
HK$11,313,000 to the external creditors with the
fair value of approximately HK$8,692,000. The
latter offers the conversion of admitted claims into
Convertible Bonds with a maturity date of the fifth
anniversary of the scheme effective date.
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Pursuant to the REMT Creditors’ Scheme, the
liabilities, including the principals and accrued
interests of the scheme debts, amounted to
approximately HK$377,622,000 have been
discharged and allocated into a 5-year term
extension option or a convertible bonds swap
option. Accordingly, a gain on debt restructuring
of approximately HK$140,706,000 has been
recognized for the year ended 31 December 2022.

For more details, please refer to the
announcements of the REMT dated 3 May 2022

o

and 26 July 2022.

2022
TAT
HK$’000
REFENEEEAGTE Liabilities assumed pursuant to the REMT
AEEE Creditors’ Scheme:
REES - aESD Convertible bonds — Liability components (Note 35)
(FF7E35) (7,643)
A ES - RIS Convertible bonds — Equity components (Note 35)
(P 7E35) (1,049)
B8 (7k34) Borrowings (Note 34) (198,594)
(207,286)
BEREREEHEAEEZE Asset transferred pursuant to the REMT
BE: Creditors’ Scheme:
=t &I 1 Scheme Shares (29,630)
(236,916)
BERSEREEEAGTZ#EE Liabilities discharged pursuant to the REMT
HWEE: Creditors’ Scheme:
FEET B A I H th FE 1 SRR Accruals and other payables 77,203
BE (KsE34) Borrowings (Note 34) 300,419
377,622
B EA 2 WS Gain on debt restructuring 140,706

167



168 42 B5 ¢ &= @ 12 iR 5 PR A& Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

87 55 ¥ = B 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

E =2023F12831HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

11. BEEH 11. FINANCE COSTS
2023 2022
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR EZEBEZAERX Interest expenses on listed
subordinated notes 35,656 51,504
HEBENFE Interest on lease liabilities 408 413
AR ESF B Interest on convertible bonds 669 256
BEREFANEHEEZEER Interest on borrowings wholly
IS repayable within five years 142,086 139,603
178,819 191,776
12. hieRESR 12. INCOME TAX CREDIT
RESERERANGEA) 1B EEEE The amount of (credited)/charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss represents:
2023 2022
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BVEAT 18 Current tax:
— FEDEMERH — PRC Enterprises Income Tax (1,385) 5,574
REB A (MFE37) Deferred taxation (Note 37) (7,152) (11,939)

(8,537) (6,365)




(a)

(b)

(c)

EEFFR

R2018F3H21H BN EZ SR
C217EH T (BE]) (B75) Bpl &
=) ([EBIEZR]) - 5| ARSI =X
M AR o &P E % 7820183 A28 H
KEEBRBEE TRXBRE-R
BRERMEMAS  AEKER
BN E2H BB UE M A5128.25%
B mMiBBE2E 8B AR A A
1Z16.5% M - THFE FIB R EM
BHNEERERBNENBEEEZR
— R TAB.5%EF -

AEEEERAE MEHBERR
Bl E &S R EERE T BR
EMELTER - BAEFESHME
E1%16.5%H & o #E2023%F12 531
BIEFESEEMNTIE (2022F : T
BIL) RERYEREBELER
Tl m ) o

i &G 1 % FF 13 872
RS IR E 22023F &
2022F12A31H L FERFBESE
2T ERBEF 225%FE -

B I} B 17 1R
ARBITIRBFAEES R BARMA
SHEETMKRLRERR2BRITE
VRHERLARFASESREH -
ARBRRBRERESKILZWE
ARANRERBRELESBEERE X
N BDETEM AL - I A R B R
BRZEESMEN -

(a)

(b)

(c)
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Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment)
(No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces
the two-tiered profits tax rate regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was
gazette on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25% and profits tax above HK$2 million will
be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

The directors of the Group considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered
profits tax rate as insignificant to the consolidation
financial statement. Hong Kong Profits Tax is
calculated at 16.5% for both years. No tax is
payable for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$NIl) since there were no assessable
profit generated in Hong Kong.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at
25% on the estimated assessable profits arising in
the PRC for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Overseas Income Tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law of Cayman
Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from
Cayman lIslands income tax. The Company’s
subsidiaries established in the British Virgin Islands
were incorporated under the International Business
Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands and,
are exempted from British Virgin Islands income
tax.
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R 5= [ B BR BT 1S 5 A0 BS 1R A B RE
AR B (b R e IREFTIS B R25% T
EREmBENERNT

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using a tax rate of 25%, the standard income
tax rate of the PRC enterprises, as follows:

2023 2022
THERT AT
HK$’000 % HK$’'000 %

FEMLER 2RBAT  Loss before tax from continuing

BB operation (483,673) (1,061,732)
RABMBH A Z25% Tax charge at applicable

(2022%F : 25%) 5t & income tax rate of 25%

MHIEX (2022: 25%) (120,918) 25 (265,433) 25
REMBERRLLH  Effect of different tax rates of

WEARMTREME  subsidiaries operating in

ZHE other jurisdictions (120,214) 24.9 19,228 (1.8)
BERHNBMAZF  Tax effect of income not

v taxable for tax purpose (2,131) 0.4 (37,260) 345
R HM 2 FEZ 2B Tax effect of expenses not

FE deductible for tax purpose 141,579 (29.3) 197,395 (18.6)
FREANABRRL Utilisation of previous

REEE unrecognised tax losses - - (3,072) 0.3
AERZEETHBER  Tax effect of estimated tax

NHBTE losses not recognised 93,147 (19.2) 82,777 (7.8)
EHER Income tax credit (8,537) 1.8 (6,365) 0.6

M2023FE12A31H » AEE KHER
TRIEEE491,671,047,0007 7T (2022
F 1 1,232,969,000/%8 7T ) AJ 4% 85 LA 4K
SHARCRIER TR A o £91,242,493,000
7 7T (20224 : 834,584,000/ 7T) 2
REEBEEREEFEZTRFE
REET A 12 B HA - T 49428,554,000
78 7T (20224F : 398,112,000/ 7T) Z
TRIBE A ERELEE - AR R
BAMVE BB ZERD RN ] E R
BAMNBEEBBEE RNZEHRE
518 2 IR IE B TE YR s W R TR o

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has
unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$1,671,047,000 (2022: HK$1,232,969,000),
which can be carried forward to offset future
taxable profit. Tax losses of approximately
HK$1,242,493,000 (2022: HK$834,584,000) will
expire after five years from the year of assessment
they relate to while tax losses of approximately
HK$428,554,000 (2022: HK$398,112,000) can
be carried forward indefinitely. The deferred tax
benefit of such tax losses has not been recognised
as it is not considered probable that future taxable
profit will be available to utilise the unused tax
losses.



44 2023 ANNUAL REPORT 171
811 ¥ ¥R R Bt 5T
Notes to the Financial Statements

#HZ2023F12A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

13. FABIR 13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

FABREEHR/ GIA)TIER

Loss for the year has been arrived at after
charging/(crediting):

2023 2022
FET TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEEFS Wages and salaries 52,167 66,209
ARt BEB SN 2R Share-based payment expenses 1,639 3,775
YA EREE PR IR EI A Payment to defined contribution
(Fff 5Ea) retirement plans (note a) 4,196 3,909
WEIRA (BIEESEHM) Total staff costs (including
directors’” emoluments) 58,002 73,893
A G Auditors’ remuneration
ERREZERIE Audit and audit related work
- EEEFMmESER - HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
N Limited - 2,300
- L emER e S — Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai
BRADQA] Limited 1,900 -
e K 5 Depreciation and amortisation 219,459 270,432

HEWE  MWENEENTH  Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property,

FEREZEER, (k=) F5E plant and equipment and land use

rights 134 7,111
Loss on change in fair value of equity

instruments at fair value through

profit or loss 963 2,216

BAREFARBR 2BA
TRAZAREZHER

ARG #E 45 & 2 BE R AE 7 2 Equity-settled share option expenses 1,639 3,775
BRRBAX 2FEKAR Cost of inventories recognised as an
expense 337,336 461,443
2 5 W IE M N E E Allowance for expected credit losses
JEEAE BB RE on trade and bills receivables 16,220 203,880
e hEMEWFIETEE{EE Alowance for expected credit losses
E R on deposits and other receivables 438 31,717
BOoZ SrENZENEKRZE Reversal of allowance for expected
TEHEEEEREE credit losses on trade and bills
receivables (3,948) (175)
Boixe R HEMmEIWFKIBETEL Reversal of allowance for expected
EEEEEE credit losses on deposits and other
receivables (1,099) (4)
YIEE -~ BUE KR 8 Written off of property, plant and
equipment 3,654 1,628
T8 {5 3R IE 5 Written off of prepayments 1,321 40,350
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B ZE2023F12A31H L F[E
For the year ended 31 December 2023

GEE

(a)

note:

H B R Al R %Wﬂ%'KEIEE¢I (@)
1E B 17 — T8 /R BT & 3 D3R IR T 81 3R

ZEEBRN EREMRETE BB E K
HEIHRTE  AEEZREBH S L14%RZ

B YEABRFEHER I NER
MEREER XN EEZEIRKERET

ZEE -ZBEHEBRNIENRORAKGTE A
BERANEEMNEZHEESEM -

Zli’ﬁlai%ﬁé\i’éﬁéiz??#ﬂﬁﬁﬁié
A3 - mEe st BN EBEREE
BYERAETE - REBRBESFIE

EREFEEREEASABRERIMER

$E

SRR E 2B ,\1451)\25%hzﬁ]ﬁ¥<a+
Z K B2014F6A1HE REEK

1 EHR 2z ERAS A1,500/ T °

H E2023F12A31BLFE - A& E
MEREZSHEFEENERBELEY
4,196,000 7T (20224 : 3,909,000/
JC) ° 202312 4318 » AN B I & ##
MESTAEBEFABRBRLOAEER
RRM K (20224 : TF L) °

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the
Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement
plan for its employees in the PRC, which is a defined
contribution plan. The Group contributes approximately
14% of the employees’ salary as specified by the local
government, and the Group has no future obligations
for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The state
sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the entire
pension obligations to retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the MPF Scheme, a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its Hong Kong
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Since 1 June
2014, both the Group’s and the employees’ contributions
are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
aggregate amount of the Group’s contributions to the
aforementioned pension schemes was approximately
HK$4,196,000 (2022: HK$3,909,000). As at 31
December 2023, the Group was not entitled to any
forfeited contributions to reduce the Group’s future
contributions (2022: HK$Nil).



14. BEE - FETHRARRERFH
EEmHMAL

(a) EEFH

H E2023F12A31B L FEREE
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HE2023F12831HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
AND INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ Emoluments

The emoluments of each director for the year
ended 31 December 2023 is set below:

HRGAER EIHBRHKE

ik ¢ NRZEX AR CH
Employer’s

Share-based  contribution

payment  to pension
Fees Salaries expenses scheme Total
THET TET THET THET THET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

YTES Executive directors

WXE(ZE) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) - 2,160 116 18 2,204

Niksge Chi Jing Chao = 208 47 - 255

FUTES Non-executive director

SRE (M) Guo Mengyong (note 1) 12 - 11 - 23

BUFHTES Independent non-executive

directors

FER Cheung Sound Poon 60 - 29 - 89

Py Sheng Hong 35 - 29 . 64

TBE Shen Yi Min 50 - - - 50
157 2,368 232 18 2,775

B EE - note:

1. JA2023%F5H9H Bttt -

1. Passed away on 9 May 2023.
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E =2023F12831HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

HEC022F12A31BILEERES The emoluments of each director for the year
ZEHMETI AT ended 31 December 2022 is set below:

NROAEER  EEMEAE
e e HRZAX T EHR CEH
Employer's
Share-hased contribution
payment to pension
Fees Salaries eXpenses scheme Total
TR TAT TAT THR TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BTES Executive directors

WXE(2E) Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) - 2,173 201 18 2,392

hEE Chi Jing Chao - 9214 80 _ 294

FHUTES Non-executive director

PRE Guo Mengyong 35 - 50 _ 85

BUHTES Independent non-executive

directors

REX Cheung Sound Poon 60 = 72 = 132

Bt Sheng Hong 3% = 50 - 85

R (k1) Shen Yi Min (note 1) 50 = - - 50
180 2,387 453 18 3,038

3 - note:

1. FR2022F1A1BEEZF 1. Appointed on 1 January 2022



(b) ZfigEHFHMA L

(c)

RER AEBREUESHMA L
BIE—{r (2022F : —hL)EF - H
B F BN EXKE14. 2T
fif (20224 : WUf7) WHE AR AIEE
R TRAENGESHFMALSF
RE B FEBEHINOT -
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#HZ2023F12A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(b) Five Highest Paid Individuals

The five highest paid employees of the Group
during the year included one (2022: one) director,
details of whose remuneration are set out in Note
14 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining four (2022: four) highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
FET T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
HEARHE - BIRE - Basic salaries, share options, other
HAb R R EWH = allowances and benefits in kind 4,206 4,773
BRARECER - EEHEXK Pension costs-defined contribution
& &l plan 54 70
4,260 4,845

VIARBREENRRFMALZ
MEeBRIATHRIBHAREIWT :

The number of the highest paid employees who
are not the directors of the Company whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

AE
Number of individuals
2023 2022
= 21,000,000/ 7T Nil — HK$1,000,000 1 1
1,000,001/ 8 T E HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000
2,000,000/ 7T 3 8
4 4

H 220234 [K20229F12 8318 Ik F
B - AEEVEREITAARGES
FANGSHFHA TGS IES
DA 5 B 5k hn A AN £ [ B ) R R
S E A B E - RNE E2023F &k
2022F12A31H L FE - EARD
AEERAMNGESHFMALRENK
BRERNEERNETAEMS -

(c)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors of the Company and the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation
for loss of office. There was no director of the
Company and the five highest paid individuals
agreed to waive or waived any emoluments during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

15. K2 15. DIVIDEND
ARAREESTEEEE2023F12H31H The directors of the Company do not recommend
IEFEIRFEMAR B (20224F : THT) © the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31

December 2023 (2022: HKS$NIil).

16. BIREGE 16. LOSS PER SHARE
(a) EZF (a) Basic
EREABEERBEARARREAR A Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the
BEERNEE BRIAERERTY loss for the year attributable to owners of the
BRI EETH - Company by the weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2023 2022
HEGREANREBERAZE  Loss attributable to ordinary equity
NAEEESEAE AEN holders of the parent, used in the
B8 (FEn) basic loss per share calculation
(HK$’000) (236,690) (1,007,080)
DEITEBARIRE FHE Weighted average number of
(F8) ordinary shares in issue
(thousand shares) 4,581,117 4,581,117
SRERNERE Basic loss per share

(BB (HK cents per share) (5.17) (21.98)




(b)

i
BERBEEEERRELMEET
MEBEEEER UABRBBETER
BmEFOHAE - ARABBUAT
BEBEE AR BRERLETH
BARBTHAERES -

(b)
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#HZ2023F12A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Diluted

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has the
following of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
share options and convertible bonds issued by a
listed subsidiary.

2023 2022
AEFIREANEEAA S Loss attributable to ordinary equity
NAIEBESTE ARG holders of the parent, used in the
BB (L) basic loss per share calculation
(HK$’000) (236,690) (1,007,080)
[WiE Rl | 37T R # AR (&% Effect of convertible bond issued by
ob-Z N “REMT”:
RIEMBARNEER  Adjustment to the share of loss of
FEEGEEE subsidiaries based on their loss
(F#&T) per share (HK$'000) (105,005) -
BRiTESRBEEEEN Loss for the purpose of diluted loss
EiE (BT per share calculation (HK$'000) (341,695)  (1,007,080)
DETE B IMETHE  Weighted average number of
(FR%) ordinary shares in issue
(thousand shares) 4,581,117 4,581,117
IR E E B Diluted loss per share
(FRLBAL) (HK cents per share) (7.46) (21.98)

TEBRENS  AARRBEHARITE
BRERMM o REEE S BEEIT
- UEBEARARE (CAKRA
AzBRHFEHEMEEE) EANRSD
HE - BENMFAENROEE -
B3R AR 1T B AR A P B2 1T MO AR 10 &
BIEXE AR BERETFEESR
H £2023%F K2022F12A31H Ik F
EHRMOFEHLME  WEESRES
BRI BRI T AR Al A IS AR -

For the share options, a calculation is done to
determine the number of shares that could have
been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average market price of the Company’s shares
during the period) based on the monetary value
of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated as
above is compared with the number of shares that
would have been issued assuming the exercise of
the share options. The computation of diluted loss
per share does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s share options because the exercise
price of those share options was higher than
the average market price of shares for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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#H £2023F12/831B IEF & -
EREEEEERBRIEHRAND

it E
& 7]

BRES REABRRKRITEANBRRK

BB EREREREM -

17. W% - BB R R

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
computation of diluted loss per share assume the
conversion of the Company’s convertible bonds
since their assumed exercise would result in an

increase in loss per share.

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

HELH
kg:  HENE GHRR
(Br&() 8 HERBE HAZRE RE B EBIR it
Leasehold
land and Plant  Furniture
buildings  Leasehold and  and office Motor Construction
(note (i)) improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles Ship  in-progress Total
Thn TET Thn Thn TEn T Thr TR
HK§ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
S Cost
1202251418 As at 1 January 2022 2,534,010 13058 2,114,261 45,310 11,369 389 13650 4,832,047
hE Additions 1839 - 1,449 41 183 - 50,244 53,756
28 Transfers - - 53 - - - (53 -
HE Disposals - - 2,656) ] - - (11,169) (18,872)
s Written off (1,632) - (1202 - (615) - - (3449)
Eif% Exchanges alignment (187,290) (986) (159,385) (3833) 9m) (29 (12,694) (315,194)
12002127318 Asat 31 December 2022
Ro023%1 A1H and 1 January 2023 2,396,927 12,072 1,952,520 141 9,960 360 130978 4553288
RE Additions - - 5,662 - 1,507 - 35,847 43,016
g2k Transfers - - 96,714 - - - (96,714) -
EEEHENERE  Transfer o assets held
(R3ks0) for sale (note 30) (831,367) - (195,004) (29,390) - - - (1,005,751)
e Disposals (6,489) - (4,633 82 (1,762 - - (12,865)
i Written off - - (4.344) (183) (3,609) - - (8,102
S Exchanges alignment (83,601) (461) (82,646) (1,715) 422) 4 (6,386) (175,213)
2023%12f318  As at 31 December 2023 1,475,481 11,611 1,768,369 10,131 5,678 318 72,125 3,344,313
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HE2023F12831HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
AELH
kgF  HENE BiR
(B %6 HEREE HOZRE - hR ERIE Eh)
Leasehold
land and Furniture
buildings ~ Leasehold  Plantand  and office Motor Construction
(note (i)) improvements ~ machinery  equipment vehicles Ship  in-progress Total
AL AL TR THL ThTL TR TAT AL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ZFERERE Accumulated
deprecation and
impairment
#2020%1A1A As at 1 January 2022 531,497 7,613 834,597 21,754 8,043 389 19482 1423875
gl Charge for the year 108,770 433 143,234 1,782 563 = - 254,732
NEABANEE  Impaiment loss recognised
B in profit or loss 201810 52 117,606 2,240 233 - 18,773 336,184
HERLHE Eliminated on disposal - - (1583) ) - - - (1,580)
g Eliminated on written off - - (1.240) - (581) - - (1821)
Eif% Exchanges alignment (17,824) (567) (66,619) (1,662) (609) (29 (610) (77,920)
0200212318 Asat 31 December 2022
Ro023E1 A 1A and 1 January 2023 824,253 8,001 1,036,045 24,017 8,149 360 2645 1933470
Enfk Charge for the year 74548 433 125,132 299 534 = - 200,946
NEREDOHE  Impaiment loss recognised
BE in profit or loss 258,050 - 121,049 4,494 24 - 6,599 390,436
ERTHEHELE  Transfer to assets held
(H3k30) for sale (note 30) (752,453) - (183,136) (26,918) - - - (962,507
HERLE Eliminated on disposal (2.577) - (3.287) 19 (1,680) - - (7,623)
E= g Eliminated on writien off - - (3,786) (146) (516) - - (4,448)
BB Exchanges alignment (18,200) (461) (38,002) (939) (2,368) (42 49) (60,144)
20235128318 As at 31 December 2023 383,621 7973 1,053,925 132 4,363 318 39,198 1,490,130
BEFE Net carrying values
202312318  As at 31 December 2023 1,091,860 3,638 714,444 9,399 1,315 - 33,5271 1,854,183
2020128318 Asat 31 December 2022 1,572,674 401 916,475 17,454 1,811 - 107,338 2,619818
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B 5 notes:
(i) AEBHHEET W RIEFTRHREHRD ()  The carrying amount of the Group’s leasehold land and
REESTOAT : buildings at the end of the reporting period are analysed
as follows:
2023 2022
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
hEPHBHEE Medium term leases in the PRC 1,091,860 1,572,674
iy M2023F12A31H  BEEEAHY (i)  As at 31 December 2023, leasehold land and buildings
304,402,000/ JT (20224 : 592,049,000 and plant and machinery with a carrying amount of
BL)2HELHRET  BHERESED approximately HK$304,402,000 (2022: HK$592,049,000)
ERIRITIEE 2 (MH5E34) - have been pledged to secure bank borrowings (Note 34).
RAFEEZ2YE  BEI&KE2FEHTH The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
R adopted for the current year are as follows:
-HELTHREF HEHRK - Leasehold land and buildings Over the lease terms
-THEMEERE 2F54 - Leasehold improvements 2 to 5 years
- = Kk es 32405 - Plant and machinery 3 to 40 years
- RE R RNERE 2E 124 — Furniture and office equipment 2 to 12 years
! 47104 — Motor vehicles 4 to 10 years
- A 5% - Ship 5 years

-TARIEAR 24 - Tooling and moulds 2 years
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

18. REMXE 18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
FATT

HK$’000
2% Cost
R202241 A1 H As at 1 January 2022 154,672
B H, 3 £ Exchange realignment (11,679)
R2022F 12 A31H8 &2023F1/A1H As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 142,993
P& 5 5 & Exchange realignment (5,097)
MA2023%F12H31H As at 31 December 2023 137,896
2WE Accumulated Depreciation
1202241 H1H As at 1 January 2022 48,617
F A Charge for the year 2,968
P& 5 A& Exchange realignment (8,768)
2022912 A31H &2023F1/81H As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 47,817
F AR Charge for the year 2,820
& N % Exchange realignment (1,755)
#2023%F12H31H As at 31 December 2023 48,882
REFEE Net carrying values
M2023F12H31H As at 31 December 2023 89,014
20229 12H31H As at 31 December 2022 95,176

BEMEEEENE —HR-HZEER -

LAREMEFBIEERBEZEN &
RAFIEEEHERNIREREERE -

The investment properties represent the buildings of

phase one and phase two of the Yunxiao properties.

The above investment properties are held for
capital appreciation purpose, measured at cost and

depreciated on a straight line basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

NEEH E2023F12831HEREME
B8R T 0% {8 #989,014,0007 JT (20224 :
4995,176,0008 L) - R A BB EH
89,780,000/ JT (20224 : #796,069,000
BIL) cHEREAEBE Y EBE BT
AERGEMET REEEEL2ES
VEBERGEEMEAZHENREREDSN
FEER  MEHAEEHE2023F12H
S1AZEREMEZRMEELRE -

BREMEZDERDRIAENREFTES
BERAERDEEER AR ERRETE -

ERMER R B - NE2 BB REE
Mg BEBHKAR -

BERERRAEEREMEZHBUR
BRAARERBRZFRAOT

20234 2023
20224 2022

N E £2023%F12 8318 &2022412 A31
BIEFE REDETEEERS WA -

tHlREMEZFEAEBERRE

The net carrying values of the Group’s investment
properties as at 31 December 2023 were approximately
HK$89,014,000 (2022: approximately HK$95,176,000)
and the aggregate fair value were approximately
HK$89,780,000 (2022: approximately HK$96,069,000).
The valuation was performed by independent qualified
valuers not connected with the Group. Based on
the result of management’s assessment by making
reference to the valuation report issued by the
independent qualified valuers, there is no impairment on
the carrying value of the Group’s investment properties
as at 31 December 2023.

The fair value of the properties portion of the investment
properties was determined base on deprecation
replacement costs approach by reference to the
replacement cost and deprecation rate.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is the their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and

information about the fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

IREE RAEF=ER

Fair value

Carrying at Level 3
Amount hierarchy
FHET FExT
HK$’000 HK$’000
89,014 89,780
95,176 96,069

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022, no rental income was generated from
investment properties.

The carrying value of investment properties shown
above comprise:

2023 2022
TEx THET
HK$’000 HK$’000

EHRERFE In the PRC held on:
HFHEIEE Medium term lease 89,014 95,176
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19. EHREEE 19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
=+ 3 5 FA R WAE &5
Land use
right Office Total
FET FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
M2022F1 A1H At 1 January 2022 227,316 5,642 232,958
NE Additions - 1,269 1,269
WES Depreciation charge (9,239) (676) (9,915)
B EE Impairment loss (29,408) = (29,408)
R S Exchange alignment (16,360) (409) (16,769)
R2022F12 A31H & At 31 December 2022 and
2023%F1A1H 1 January 2023 172,309 5,826 178,135
hes Depreciation charge (7,700) (1,074) (8,774)
ERERELEEE Transfer to asset held for sale
(P 7£30) (note 30) (21,007) - (21,007)
B EE Impairment loss (22,547) = (22,547)
PE 34, 38 & Exchange alignment (5,960) (160) (6,120)
#A2023%F12H31H At 31 December 2023 115,095 4,592 119,687

EREEEEASEREELHEZHER
HMBAANEREEEE T R MENETR
HER AR E RETITE R REHBERBED
R UREHAEHEREMMFELHE -

2023F12 831H -+ BRH {E #975,262,000
7 7T (20224 : 108,768,000/ 7T) 2 & B
BEEz THFERAEEBFIERITERZ
IR (F15E34) -

RREFE AEBEREEKEERAEL
HWERERBAT - gl AEEREA
EHEANFT L2 ETEHR D 5 AB50F
(20224 : 505 ) R2F E244 (20224 : 2
FE24F) - MERTREE A W T BT il 2 i 5
TR BRI - T E AR IR (A B A
HERT BERETRGRLIGHE -£E5
TE R E PR K R E N T U R v RS
AEBERAAOZTEIWET 8 H T
BRI ZHR -

EREREEEZRENAABNGAEY
TR FE23IREE -

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights
to use underlying leased land and premises under
operating lease arrangements over the lease terms,
which are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

As at 31 December 2023, the land use right of right-of-use
assets with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$75,262,000 (2022: HK$108,768,000) have been
pledged to secure bank borrowings (Note 34).

For both years, the Group leases land use right and
offices for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 50 years for land use right (2022:
50 years), and 2 years to 24 years for office (2022:
2 years to 24 years) but may have extension and
termination options as described below. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

Details of the impairment testing on right-of-use assets
are disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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20. B & 20. GOODWILL
FAT
HK$'000
2% Cost
R2022F1A1H » 2022F12A31H +  As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022,
2023F1H1H &2023F12H31H 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 197,368
ZitHE Accumulated impairment
R2022F1 A1H  2022412A31H +  As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022,
2023F1H1H 1 January 2023 46,252
BB Impairment 167,118
MA2023%F12H31H As at 31 December 2023 197,368
RHEFE Net carrying values
7"2023F12H31H As at 31 December 2023 o
R2022%F12H31H As at 31 December 2022 151,116

PREAEERSELEU([REELE
7)) 2 EEREB D BRI -

BEREERBEHEMEZRENB AR ([
BERXEE] BEMREEIEXRBR
HEMNHEESBEMEBER

REiBRACELEVNELERSRE
ZEAE VX BELEREG BELEE-
CREEEMEBRERNPDESTARE
BeELBM - AETRENRE -

ARBEBEZREANRAFBERESMBEER
B FE23 4% 5E -

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating
units (“CGU”) identified according to business segment.

The goodwill was resulted from the acquisition of REMT
and its subsidiaries (“REMT Group”). The principal
activities of REMT Group are manufacturing and sale of
magnesium-related products.

In addition to goodwills, property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, right-of-use assets and mining rights
belonging to the CGU that generate cash flows together
with the goodwill are included in the respective CGU for
the purpose of impairment assessment.

Details of the impairment testing on goodwill are
disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

ERE [ ¥ &t
Technical
Know-how  Trademark Patent Total

TER TER TR TR
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000

KA Cost
202241 R 18 As at 1 January 2022 3,687 346,213 54,891 404,791
b Written off (3,687) - - (3,687)
EHAE Exchange alignment - (26,141) (4,144) (30,285)
MN2022%E12A31 8 & As at 31 December 2022 and

20231718 1 January 2023 - 320,072 50,747 370,819
EHAZ Exchange alignment - (11,410) (1,809) (13,219)
120225127311 As at 31 December 2023 - 308,662 48,938 357,600
Rt BERAE Accumulated amortisation and

impairment

R2022%1A1A As 1 January 2022 3,687 80,494 29,485 113,666
ENEH Amortisation for the year - - 1,448 1,448
bk Written off (3,687) = = (3,687)
ENBRNAERR Impairment loss recognised for the year - 43,961 942 44,903
EHAZ Exchange alignment - (7,510) (2,067) (9,577)
202212318 i As at 31 December 2022 and

2023%F1R18 1 January 2023 - 116,945 29,808 146,753
FREH Amortisation for the year - - 4,503 4,503
FRRANAEESRE Impairment loss recognised for the year - 9,816 2,443 12,259
EHAE Exchange alignment - (4,344) (1,012) (5,356)
12023%12A31H As at 31 December 2023 - 122,417 35,742 158,159
REFE Net carrying values
202312318 As at 31 December 2023 - 186,245 13,196 199,441
72022512 F31H As at 31 December 2022 - 203,127 20,939 224,066
AR EHEN R AFHAT The following useful lives are used in the calculation of

amortisation:

2 My 70 75 BN Technical know-how . 3to 5 years
1R COEHR Trademark : Indefinite

=5 © 9ZF 164 Patent :  9to 16 years
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W A E B 2 AIE R AT E R ER A
AT EETHE - WA EEBVEEZARE
REHRAERY ASSFRMNAEESR
BEEMEARBREEGZEEER
BERAERFH 2 o WL EEAZ
E=MHHBR  IERFHFGEHERS
BRARYK  ME2FHRHPERKRRE
REERRE EXHEHEERABTLE
BRI -

EREBREEZRENAFBNGES M
TR M EE231 55 -

ted

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Details of the impairment testing on intangible assets
are disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

22, iR 22. MINING RIGHTS
2023 2022
TERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
5N Cost
MW1H1H As at 1 January 538,492 582,470
I 2 Exchange alignment (19,196) (43,978)
MW12A81H As at 31 December 519,296 538,492
Rat#e Accumulated amortisation
»1A18 As at 1 January 113,772 121,755
FREH Amortisation for the year 2,416 1,369
VERIE! Impairment 24,917 =
PE Exchange alignment (4,426) (9,352)
M®12A31H As at 31 December 136,679 113,772
REFEE Net carrying values
MW12A31H As at 31 December 382,617 424,720

HAPEIT&HEREFNENARERSE
EME BT Z B E A R R IR REE
mMMBRBEEAENBARENES T
s o

AEEZRERBEENAABRDERA
MEEE G REENATKRE S - 2R
RAERBERA  HEEENKREFE
BB EE R WHERRIE -

BREREE ZRENAFBREE VB R
KM 23T E o

These represents two mining rights, the serpentine
mine located in Donghai County of Jiangsu Province,
the PRC and the dolomite mine located in Baishan City
of Jilin Province, the PRC, which are amortised by the
production quantity over the ore reserve.

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of the
mining rights based on higher of fair value less costs
to disposal. The carrying amount of the relevant assets
exceed the recoverable amount based on fair value less
costs to disposal and impairment has been recognised.

Details of the impairment testing on mining rights are
disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.



23. MK HWERRW ERESRE -

HE EERERBRBEZRE
A=

H E2023F12A31BILFEE  K&ER
EHEERIASERLELESIHOR
FRNAEEGEBEAMKRIBAERELR
BEANMERcELESEMN HMEERER
(B ERMEBNERS>B(HEEE
BM1 ) UEREBEEREESB([BREE
FEBEN2]) BERBEEABENIRR S
EEBMN2ZEERB RN AR
AEBEEERAEGTERETR I H
R & 2 Bl A1,854,183,0007 JT (2022
% :2,619,818,000/ 7T) * 119,687,000
BT (20224 178,135,000/ 1) -
T35 T (20224 151,116,000 75) -
199,441,000/ 7T (20224 : 224,066,000
7 7T) %382,617,000 7T (20224
424,720,000 7T0) cFTBRZEHREELE
BUMNYE BEARE FRHEEE -
BE EREERRBEETRETE -

EEEEB AR AR E S REE  ANEBG
HEEMBRSELEMNINBESELEE
2z B &5 BIERARESE—
B REERSREAREE SHEELES
UAREBRHEBMIBNE 2 RIER - 18
CELEVIRREELEN2EEZER®R
BE5 Bl & 41,414,800,0005 7T (20224 :
1,990,600,000/% 7t) &% 1,101,300,000/% 7T
(20224 : 1,441,500,000/% 7)) °

BeELE 1
REELEMIZATYRE €58 T EREA
BEELIEEF AHEEZIRAERASE
BEEEBMEZREHBIF Z2UKIE
B EME S RETER  R2023F12 A
31H AT 1% BL IR R 512.48% (20224 :
12.64%) ° EBE5F HY (20224 : 5F HY) 2
ReREEFEBEERX2.16% (20224F :
2%)HHE - MERTTENEEITEERTE
AEH - WES R AERITER T K 8
ERX -FEFHEBEEMNEMEZERRATE
HBWA EFEREKER HERRE
EEBUZATRBEREEBEHMGERE
ZTEHREEE ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

23. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY,

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS, GOODWILL, INTANGIBLE
ASSETS AND MINING RIGHTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
management of the Group reviewed that two
cash-generating units of the Group, fertiliser business
and metallurgical flux business segment (“CGU 17)
and magnesium product business segment (“CGU
2”) had underperformed and incurred losses due
to the constraints to working capital and debt
restructuring of the Group during the year. In view of
the economic performance of the CGU 1 and CGU
2 was not as previously expected, management of
the Group concluded there was an indication for
impairment and conducted impairment assessment
on the property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, goodwill, intangible assets and mining
rights with carrying amounts of HK$1,854,183,000
(2022: HK$2,619,818,000), HK$119,687,000 (2022:
HK$178,135,000), HK$Nil (2022: HK$151,116,000),
HK$199,441,000 (2022: HK$224,066,000) and
HK$382,617,000 (2022: HK$424,720,000) respectively
belonging to these CGUs.

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of
CGU1 and CGU2 to which the assets belong when
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, including allocation of corporate assets
when reasonable and consistent basis can be
established. Each cash-generating unit represents the
Group’s manufacturing plant in respective geographical
locations. The carrying amounts of assets of CGU1 and
CGU 2 were approximately HK$1,414,800,000 (2022:
HK$1,990,600,000) and HK$1,101,300,000 (2022:
HK$1,441,500,000) respectively.

CGU 1

The recoverable amount of CGU1 has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering
the following 5 years with a post-tax discount rate is
12.48% (2022: 12.64%) as at 31 December 2028.
The cash flows beyond the five-year (2022: five-year)
period are extrapolated using 2.16% (2022: 2%)
growth rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant
industry growth forecasts and does not exceed
the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation are the budgeted revenue, gross margins
and operating expenses, which are determined based
on the cash-generating units’ past performance and
management expectations for the market development.
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R2023F12A31H » MEeEABM1IZER
BEFTEMN UG £ 54 A1,414,800,000

77T (20224 : 1,990,600,000/ 7T ) °

ERBEFHER ~AEEETEEET
ReEEXBEMIZAIRESBEEAERE -
BESHEETREZFEAEEE - WE &K
EREEUNREREE HMSBEEEN
FEETSHREZEERERAARBERLE
RA EFERABERSZREE - ERE
BREBEEEREBEIE  EnEZEEE
HEACEBBEANFERAEEE W K
ELEE EREENANEEEZREE
2 Bl FE 2 6 E &5 816,671,000 JT (2022
F : 27,451,0007% 7T) * 201,495,000 JT
(20224 : 277,553,0007% 7T) * 9,816,000
7 7T (20224 : 43,961,000/ 7T) &

18,275,000 7T (20224 : BB IT) ©

HeELEMN2

ReEELEBEM22TRE S EETERER
BEEEIET BBEEZHAERESE
BEREEMAE L REHBST UK E
BEMNBE S R=EA - B2023F12 8
31H A i 14 BH 3R & £18.90% (20224 :
14.41%) o 8B5S B (20224 : 5F ) 2
Re ke HHEAEEE2.16% (2022F :
2%)HEE - HEFABENHEMEZERR
ABEERA  ENEREBER HER
BeELEVMZATREAREEEH TS

TRAHERE -

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of
the CGU1 based on the value in use was approximately
HK$1,414,800,000 (2022: HK$1,990,600,000).

Based on the results of the impairment assessment,
management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amount of the CGU1 is lower than the
carrying amount. The impairment amount has been
allocated to each category of right-of-use assets,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
such that the carrying amount of each category of asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
cost to disposal, its value in use and zero. Based on the
value in use calculation and the allocation, impairment
loss of HK$16,671,000 (2022: HK$27,451,000),
HK$201,495,000 (2022: HK$277,553,000),
HK$9,816,000 (2022: HK$43,961,000) and
HK$18,275,000 (2022: HKS$NIl) has been recognised
against the carrying amount of right-of-use assets,
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
mining rights respectively within the relevant functions
to which these assets relate.

cGU 2

The recoverable amount of CGU2 has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering
the following 5 years with a post-tax discount rate of
13.90% (2022: 14.41%) as at 31 December 2023.
The cash flows beyond the five-year (2022: five-year)
period are extrapolated using 2.16% (2022: 2%)
growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculated are the budgeted revenue, gross margins
and operating expenses, which are determined based
on the cash-generating units’ past performance and
management expectations for the market development.



MR2023F12A31H ' BE& EE B MR F
FAEEFE KO £5E4 A1,101,300,000
76 7T (20224 : 1,441,500,0005%& 7€) °

ERNFHER ASEEEEET  Be
ELfBEi2z kB EEAKREE - &
EBESHEELEEME BEEXESEHR
BEE BEURKEEEREAFHDY
EREE HMSBEAENEERETS
HBREEREAABREERA HF
AEERZEZERE ENFHEEE
ERBBEIE EREZEEEMRBEZ
EHBEANME BERRBEAESR
E-BE UREFEEZEEED IR
28 B 5 18188,941,000 & JT (20224
58,631,000/ 7T) - 5,876,000 i 7t (2022
# : 1,957,000/ 7t) * 151,116,000/ JT
(20224 : TH L) 2,443,000/ 7T (2022
& 1 942,000/ 7T ) &6,642,0007% 7T (2022
F:ETET) -

HE2022F12A31HIEFE - AR AAE
BHEXNASRIEEE  WRBENERT
B ERD RFEERBOEL LFGRE
ARENTE BEE-_REREAAE

i -
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As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of
the CGU2 based on the value in use was approximately
HK$1,101,300,000 (2022: HK$1,441,500,000).

Based on the result of the assessment, management
of the Group determined that the recoverable amount
of the CGU2 is lower than the carrying amount. The
impairment amount has been allocated to each category
of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
goodwill and intangible assets with finite useful live such
that the carrying amount of each category of asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less cost
of disposal, its value in use and zero. Based on the
value in use calculation and the allocation, impairment
loss of HK$188,941,000 (2022: HK$58,631,000),
HK$5,876,000 (2022: HK$1,957,000), HK$151,116,000
(2022: HK$nil), HK$2,443,000 (2022: HK$942,000) and
HK$6,642,000 (2022: HK$NIl) has been recognised
against the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill, intangible
assets and mining rights respectively within the relevant
functions to which these assets relate.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the carrying
amount of mining rights has not been reduced since
the fair value less cost to disposal is higher than the
carrying amount. The mining rights were measured at
fair value based on Level 2 hierarchy using the market
price of dolomite and the remaining ore reserve.
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24. FEMELT 24. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(a) TA2023%F K2022%F12A31H » KK &
BERNTERBARZEBET :

(a) Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follow:

HRAIHER Bk
%R EARRER TERBAERNE HREEMRB 2F M AAARENERRELL D RENREELE
Name Place of
incorporation and Principal activities Particulars of issued share/ Proportion of ownership Proportion of
kind of legal entity  and place of operation  paid up registered capital interest held by the Company voting power held
B B
Directly Indirectly
2023 2022 2028 2022 2028 2022
R ENRERAR Fi BREALNR  RERRELK IRERRERAE00ET - - 100%  100%  100%  100%
Century Sino Technology Hong Kong, limited Investment holdings in 1 ordinary shares of HK$1,00 each
Limited liability company Hong Kong
tERXEENRERAR B BRAMARD  NEARELRK 1,000 EBRERAR00ET - - 100%  100%  100%  100%
Century Sunshine Ecological  Hong Kong, limited Investment holoings in 1,000 ordinary shares of
Technology Limited liability company Hong Kong HKS1.00 each
IHRENRREARAT 1B AREAAAY  REREREEEM AMRSRBEARS - - 100%  100%  100%  100%
Jiangsu Azureblue Technology The PRC, limited liabiity -~ Manufacturing and sale of 297,000,000
development Company company fertiisers in the PRC Registered and paid up capital of
Limited RMB297,000,000
IEERIIERAR hE FREMAR  RREEMEAANT.  ERRAARKE00000007R - - 100%  100%  100%  100%
Jiangsu Longteng The PRC, limited bty RRRH#HE 8RR AR £30,676,3307
Petrochemical Limited company Processing, exploration and  Registered capital of
sales of serpentine in the RMB50,000,000 and paid up
PRC capital of RMB30,676,330
EALRARAA SERANE RREL NEARELR 100k 5 BRERARIZT 100%  100% - - 100%  100%
Long Xiang Enterprises Limted A7 Investment holdings in 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each
British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong
limited liability
company
KRRRECHARAT  FR RREMDNE  RERRESK IRERRERAE! 08T - - 100%  100%  100%  100%
Madrone Investment Hong Kong, limited Investment holdings in 1 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each
Management Limited liability company Hong Kong
Ming Xin Developments Limted BRZEE  AREF WEERERR 100 % BRERAE 0% - - 100%  100%  100%  100%
A
Ming Xin Developments Limited British Virgin Islands, ~ Investment holdings in 100 ordlinary shares of
limited liability Hong Kong US$1.00 each

company



HRRLBER
t# EARRER
Name Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity
LRIALIRAERAR #HE AREFAR
Shandong Hongri Chemical  The PRC, limited liabilfty
Joint Stock Gompany company
Limited
EERGRERERAY  9E FRAAAT
BEEGREHERAA  The PRC limited liabiity

company

hE - BREAAA
The PRG limited liability
company

TRRRERILIERAT
IBRRSRILIARAR

PENREERRERAT BRE BREMAT

(MR Bermuda, limited labilty
Rare Earth Magnesium company
Technology Group

Holdings Lirited (‘REMIT’)
FERARRRARLE 98 BRRMLA

Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium  The PRC, limited liability
Products Gompany Limited ~ company

AUTRZERERZAR +8 ARALLT

A7 The PRC, limited liability
Baishan City Tianan company
Magnesium Resources

Company Limited
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BERfTRA/
TEEBANEEHE HREMRA 2R
Particulars of issued share/
paid up registered capital

Principal activities
and place of operation

ReRRERHERH AMRGRBEARS
Manufacturing and sales of 260,000,007
fertiisers in the PRC Registered and paid up capital of
RMB260,000,000
RRRERHERH AMRERBEEARY
Manufacturing and sale of 30,000,000
fertiisers in the PRC Registered and paid up capital
of RMB30,000,000
ReRRERHERH BETRGRREARY
Manufacturing and sale of 500,000,0007¢
fertiisers in the PRC Issued and fully paid
RMB500,000,000
RERENSREARR SRV BETRERRE
Investment holdings in 592,595,103
Bermuda Issued and fully paid up capital of

592,595,103 of HK$0.01 each

MESEREELBERE AMRARKAARY
Ef 171,800,0007
Manufacturing and sales Registered and paid up capital of
of magnesium-related RMB171,800,000
products in the PRC

RABRERAECEEAE EREARBAARK

En 280,332,007
Manufacturing and sale Registered and paid up capital of

of magnesium-related RMB280,332,000

products

HE2023F12831HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

ARARENEERELLD RENRERLA
Proportion of ownership Proportion of

interest held by the Company voting power held
E# B

Directly Indirectly

2023 2022 2023 2022 2028 2022

- - 70.02% 70.02% 70.02%  70.02%
- - 100%  100%  100%  100%

- 100%  100%  100%  100%

- 40% 6010%  40%  60.10%
- 40% 6010%  40% 60.10%
- 40% 6010%  40% 60.10%
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EREJNEERAUFEREREATE
FERAEEEEFEERBLONARRA
TEMBRA EZRRAINEMHMBEAR
AMENERERBARITE -

(b) HEEXFIERERF2EN

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors, affected
the results for the year materially or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries, in the opinion of the directors, would
result in particulars of excessive length.

(b) Detail of non-wholly owned

B2 EFEIE subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests
FERESERFEZ
HEMRY - ZEf FEEERRREELS
N & i 2 Proportion of PEFHERERZ
Place of ownership interests il AFtFERER
NG incorporation and voting rights held Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name of registration by non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
company and operation interests interests interests
2023 2022 2023 2022
THET TET THET FET
2023 2022 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
M EERHE ARE 60% 39.90% (223,617) 560 367,785 437,285
REMT Bermuda
AR
BB RIS E R
L)=NG|
Individual
immaterial
subsidiaries
with
non-controlling
interest (649,899) (643,045)
(282,114) (205,760)

ATRBEEERGFERERZIAE
BEHBARNMBEERME - UT
MBERBENEREANRREY
SHAT SRR o

Summarised financial information in respect of
each of the Group’s subsidiary that has material
non-controlling interests is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.
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HEHR REMT
2023 2022
FET TAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MEEE Current assets 341,231 427,700
ERBEE Non-current assets 1,101,300 1,445,474
mENB R Current liabilities (184,751) (172,754)
FRBEE Non-current liabilities (644,819) (604,468)
NRNFIER AELER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 245,176 658,667
TR R Non-controlling interests 367,785 437,285
2023 2022
F# T TAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 263,491 383,899
53 Expenses (687,091) (382,495)
ERkE S (EE) Profit/(Loss) for the year (423,600) 1,404
KNATEB AEIRW S S Profit/(Loss) attribute to owners of
(f&18) the Company (199,983) 844
RIS E AR UR 2S Profit/(Loss) attribute to
(&) non-controlling interests (223,617) 560
FRlz (F8) Profit/(Loss) for the year (423,600) 1,404
KRARHEEAELEZR Total comprehensive (loss)/income

(E18) Wzt e

FEB SR EE
(B8 s

FRam(BE) WaeiE

attributable to owners of the

Company (247,412) (95,673)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income

attributable to non-controlling

interests (250,265) (63,516)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year (497,677) (159,189)

RETHMERSREFE
RETZHMARSREFR
BMERBAE (FAR)RL

RN
mMEF

B mAFRE

Net cash flows generated from

operating activities 27,838 28,082
Net cash flows used in investing

activities (12,854) (1,420)
Net cash flows generated/(used) in

financing activities 7,247 (21,978)

Net cash inflow 22,231 4,684
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25. R REHARRZEEIR 25. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2023 2022
FTET FAB T
HK$’000 HK$’000
hEE Listed investments
- BNz ETRRAEF - — Listed equity securities in
EanE(FEE) Australia, at fair value (note) 727 1,690
Bt 5 - note:
SZRBEREAEERBMNZ FTEHEEIRE K& The amount represents the Group’s investment in listed
® 3% BFinTech Chain Limited 13,913,373R% % securities in Australia. The Group held 13,913,373 shares
7 (20224 : 13,913,373 &) ° (2022: 13,918,373 shares) of FinTech Chain Limited.
FTIRABASIREZ AR BIIREETRM S Z Fair values of the investments in listed equity securities are
BAEBMEFE determined by reference to bid prices quoted in active markets.
26. #8 26. INVENTORIES
2023 2022
THER T
HK$’000 HK$’000
R R Raw materials 72,910 126,224
RS Work in progress 2,521 323
UK an Finished goods 48,335 96,614
123,766 223,161
HEERHIEHE A E (MF30) Transfer to assets held for sale
(Note 30) (1,114) =

122,652 223,161
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27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
FET FATT
HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 W IE (H3E) Trade receivables (note i) 224,196 577,964
BHEEEERE Allowance for expected credit
losses (221,266) (523,060)
2,930 54,904
JE s 2= 4% (Y i) Bills receivables (note i) 1,665 702
4,595 55,606
M5 note:
(i) AREBRTESRPZEEH —RITB (i) The Group allows a credit period normally not more than

iB180H (20224 : T#BiB180H) °

iy FBERKEBHUARKE-

customers.

180 days (2022: not more than 180 days) to its trade

(i) All the bills receivables were denominated in RMB.
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AEEEHEKFE (MBEREEER
B 2RO RBERAH27) T ¢

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the
Group presented based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for expected credit losses was as follows:

2023 2022

TER FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

B60H LA Within 60 days 1,718 10,286
61290H 61 to 90 days 17 55023
91%FE180H 91 to 180 days 1,195 39,095
2,930 54,904

SE SRR FAZ EEERREESHIT

The movements of allowance for credit losses of trade
receivables are as follows:

2023 2022
FHET FHATT
HK$’000 HK$’000
W1HA1H As at 1 January 523,060 352,620
CHEREHREZEGRBRE Allowance for expected credit

losses recognised 15,676 203,880

BoEHEEEERE Reversal of allowance for expected
credit losses (3,948) (175)
R Written off (294,608) -
B i, 3 £ Exchange alignment (18,914) (33,265)
M12HA31H As at 31 December 221,266 523,060

S AEHZ2023F12A31BILEFEE 5 JE
WHRENEHEEBBEG A MR LR
B8 5 W RIE 2 B # 411,719,000 7T
(20224 : 162,443,000 7T) ° 1& Bl & &
BESRBREEARFEXNICEHRES
B TEERERIRE SRR — 3D o

#H £20234F &2022F12A31H It F EH
FEWE SR EZERETEABEINGEH
SRR M -

Included in the allowance for expected credit losses
of trade receivables for the year ended 31 December
2023 is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of approximately HK$11,719,000 (2022:
HK$162,443,000). The individually impaired trade
receivables relate to customers that were in default
or delinquency in payments and only a portion of the
receivables is expected to be recovered.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills
receivables for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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28. AFIRIB REREMEURIE 28. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
FE T FHAT
HK$’000 HK$’000

H th B U Fk I8 (M =Ei) Other receivables (note i) 22,814 29,961

TE 4 3 IE (B =il Prepayments (note ii) 250,628 267,205

& (B i) Deposits (note iii) 29,341 30,567

302,783 327,733

BHEEEERE Allowance for expected credit loss (29,957) (31,686)

272,826 296,047

MoaE - notes:

(i) EtERREFTZBEFRENHT K ()  Other receivables mainly comprise of value-added tax
[o] 3% (B B 495,021,000/ JT (20224 : recoverable in the PRC of approximately HK$5,021,000
12,719,000/ 7T) ° (2022: HK$12,719,000).

iy M2023F12A31H - BRREBEBXEZEE (i)  As at 31 December 2023, prepayment mainly comprise of
75 2 J8 5 FRIE#9199,243,00058 7T (2022 prepayment for inventory of approximately HK$199,243,000
£ 1 223,240,000 7T) © (2022: HK$223,240,000).

@iy  F2023F12A31H  HERETEBEX (i) As at 31 December 2023, included in the deposits
NEHEREZLEBRAORBRE 2R mainly represented the refundable trade deposits of
Qg 5 R4 #129,314,000/% 7T (20224 : approximately HK$29,314,000 (2022: HK$30,115,000)
30,115,000 7T) ° which were paid to suppliers for due performance.

RS NEMEWRZREZ ZEEBEEE The movements of allowance for credit losses on

BT : deposit and other receivables are as follows:

2023 2022
F#E T AT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MW1HA1H As at 1 January 31,686 1,089
ERREEEERE Allowance for credit losses
recognised 438 31,717
BE{EEBERE Reversal of allowance for credit
losses (1,099) (4)
PE A X Exchange alignment (1,068) (1,116)

W12 A31H As at 31 December 29,957 31,686
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20. EEHBITERRBITREASR

R

2023F 124318 » AL BB ERTEH
T (2020F - REBEZRITERERA
9,698,000/ 7T ' EUARKE X BEF
FEE2AE) ©

2023512 A31 8 » R 1T 17 ;X 4166,000/8
7T (20224 : 69,000/ 7T) R Z# T (2022
1 9,698,0008 L) E D RIER BN ZEE
(FF7E31) B & (Mi5E34) Z 3K i -

MIMEBR  RITRIRSAERBIEATIE
B :

29. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK

AND CASH BALANCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has no fixed
deposits with bank (2022: the Group has fixed deposits
with bank of HK$9,698,000, which were denominated
in RMB and carried a fixed interest rate of 2.1% per
annum).

As at 31 December 2023, deposits with banks of
approximately HK$66,000 (2022: HK$69,000) and
HKS$NIl (2022: HK$9,698,000) have been pledged to
bills payables (Note 31) and secure borrowings (Note
34) respectively.

At the end of the reporting period, bank and cash
balances comprise of the followings:

2023 2022
FHET FH&T
HK$’000 HK$’000
RRBEENRITRESE Bank and cash balances under
current assets:
BEBIRITERLRITES Pledged bank deposit and
cash at bank 66 9,767
RITREeNFHEES Cash at bank and on hand 61,240 76,602
st Total 61,306 86,369
B BIEEAEEREMNEEE  Less: Pledged deposits with bank
R BB IRITER pledged as security for
borrowings and bills payables (66) (9,767)
BeMERIRESIER Cash and cash equivalents 61,240 76,602

RTRAS RS RRERRTEREN
FEMEHE -

Bank and cash balances, and pledged bank deposits
were denominated in the following currencies:

2023 2022
THER T

HK$’000 HK$’'000

AR RMB 45,772 84,539
BT HK$ 15,516 1,812
Hih Others 18 18
61,306 86,369

MARBHEZRITRRSEREL P
AXTEBFERNINEE HITRR -

The remittance of bank and cash balances denominated
in RMB out of the PRC is subject to the foreign
exchange control restrictions imposed by the
government of the PRC.
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HEHERE 30. ASSETS HELD FOR SALES
2023
THER
HK$’000
ME - BB KR E (KEE17) Property, plant and equipment (Note 17) 93,244
RS E (ME19) Right of use assets (Note 19) 21,007
GFE (MsE26) Inventory (Note 26) 1,114
115,365

Mok - Note:

IR E WL THER R AR EER2024
FIAGHKINAE BB A ARE1.06
BT - E— P EFIBEHR A AR A H /2024
FIABHMAE °

The Assets of Jiangxi Tianrui Fengshou Chemical Co., Ltd.
were sold successfully for an aggregate amount of RMB106
million at auction on 5 March 2024. Further detail were set out
in the Company’s announcement date 8 March 2024.

EEEASEREMNSE 31. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
2023 2022
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
g S EMNFE Trade payables 86,840 91,494
JES R IE Bills payables 32,698 33,908
119,538 125,402

R12A318 AR EE 5 BN B 2Kk
D (REZBHEF)DWT :

As at 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade
payables of the Group presented based on the invoice
date was as follows:

2023 2022

FET FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

30H LA Within 30 days 5,253 3,885
312604 31 to 60 days 399 2,392
61290H 61 to 90 days 65 571
390 H Over 90 days 81,123 84,646
86,840 91,494

FRBERZFH{EEHAG0R E90H
(20224 : B0OHE90H) - AEE X B TE
E B EEER - LERATA B RIERE
BEHRELR -

PN R IR B G AR R 1T 17 SRR (B9 E29) ©

The average credit period on purchases of goods is
60 to 90 days (2022: 60 to 90 days). The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

Bills payable was secured by pledged bank deposits
(Note 29).
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32. ExtEBH HttEGREBERSH 32. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND
fafR CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2023 2022
FTET FABT
HK$’000 HK$'000
JEst & A N E 4th < 0B (PP 3Ei)  Accruals and other payables (note i) 357,502 660,975
B SRR & & (M) Financial guarantee liabilities (note ii) 40,133 42,089
397,635 703,064
& K8 & (M i) Contract liabilities (note iii) 156,277 154,553
553,912 857,617
Rl &4 Current 531,838 834,727
JEENHA Non-current 22,074 22,890
553,912 857,617
Mt - notes:

(ii

2023612 A31H » BRI R H &
NREZZRREKEDE BER&E
2 FE 1~ 3018 I 48 B8 AR 7K £938,002,0007%
7T (20224 : 103,022,000 JT.) * E 1
JE < B 18 #929,683,0007%8 JT (20224 :
21,437,000 T) REMRITHNELD
119,724,000/ 7T (20224 : 388,617,000
BIT) °

20235 12A318 ' LKA B3t — &8
SME=F (2022F  —BBWIULE=H) AT
EREERER—HRIT (2022F : —@E
R17) B BERLO AR 141,000,000
70 (20224 : A R #141,000,0007T) ° &
WEREEBITER  BATUIM -

MR2023F12A31H » ZERARERZ
TEHIZ B BB B # 4 540,133,000 7T
(20224 : 42,089,000/ 7T) °

BHARERZEZFE H2HBH
/320169 H27 B 2 N R fr & I R
Bt 3E46(a) ©

As at 31 December 2023, accruals and other
payables mainly comprised of payable for acquisition
of property, plant and equipment and the related
cost of approximately HK$38,002,000 (2022:
HK$103,022,000), other tax payable of approximately
of HK$29,683,000 (2022: HK$21,437,000) and bank
interest payable approximately HK$119,724,000 (2022:
HK$388,617,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Shandong Hongri has
executed financial guarantees to a bank (2022: a bank)
for credit facilities granted to an independent third party
(2022: an independent third parties), for approximately
RMB141,000,000 (2022: RMB141,000,000) which would
be required to be paid if the guarantees were called
upon in entirely.

As at 31 December 2023, the allowance for expected
credit loss in respect of these corporate guarantees was
approximately HK$40,133,000 (2022: HK$42,089,000).

For more detail of the corporate guarantees, please refer
to announcement date 27 September 2016 and Note
46(a) to the consolidated financial statements.
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iy BHEBEZEEBWOT : (i)~ The movements of contract liabilities is as follows:
2023 2022
FERT FEx
HK$’000 HK$'000
M1 A1H As at 1 January 154,553 220,318
FFAEYIEHNBEE®RZ Revenue recognised that was included
2RI A in the contract liabilities balance at
the beginning of the year (20,585) (121,799)
FRNRBREEEH 264 Increase in contract liabilities as a result
B EE M of receiving deposits during the year 27,949 71,014
P 5, 3 & Exchange realignment (5,640) (14,980)
W12A31H As at 31 December 156,277 154,553
33. lHE &R\ 33. LEASE LIABILITIES
2023 2022
FTHET FATT
HK$’000 HK$'000
[ENTHEAE : Lease liabilities payable:
—F AR Within one year 870 963
—F N ETBIEMRE More than one year but not later
than two years 415 884
ME EENHEBRF More than two years but not later
than five years 1,517 1,429
AELE Over five years 2,557 3,226
5,359 6,502
WA BERESEER T A  Less: Amount due for settlement
WNE B4 E 2 KIB within 12 months shown
under current liabilities (870) (963)

FIESERBBENR T @A % Amount due for settlement after
BIEf4EE 2 308 12 months shown under

non-current liabilities 4,489 5,539
THEaGEMMERZMEESES EXF The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
KN F6.93%E7.05% (20224 : 6.93% % applied to lease liabilities range from 6.93% to 7.05%
7.05%) © (2022: from 6.93% to 7.05%).
BRI EE NN EEA B HEEE Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies
ESR N other than the functional currencies are set out below:
2023 2022
FET FATT
HK$’000 HK$’000

AR RMB 4,863 5,384
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34. & E 34. BORROWINGS
2023 2022
TET FHEIT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
RITREE Bank borrowings 722,758 813,189
H A8 E (M i) Other borrowings (note ii) 974,208 551,721
W REZE (K i) Listed subordinated notes (note iii) - 590,781
1,696,966 1,955,691
TEEREREMKEHREN TS  Carrying amounts of borrowings that
HEEN 2 ERZEEE do not contain repayable on demand
(MrzEv) - clause and repayable (note v):
—FNR Within one year 600,288 1,516,357
— N EET@BBRFEHEA Within a period of more than one
(B EE()(d)) year but not exceeding five years
(note (i)(d)) 927,579 205,512
et Sub-total 1,527,867 1,721,869
BEREREMEZRAENTHIE  Carrying amounts of borrowings that
MEMZERZEEE contain a repayment on demand
(MF5EV) - clause and repayable (note v):
—ER Within one year 169,099 233,822
/N5t Sub-total 169,099 233,822
1,696,966 1,955,691
B FIESE B B & 2 RIB Less: Amounts shown under
non-current liabilities (927,579) (205,512)
il {’E}ﬁiﬂfﬁfﬁz%ﬂlﬁ Amounts shown under current liabilities 769,387 1,750,179
HRERENNEREER#ER  Carrying amounts of borrowings that
SREMEEZREE are repayable on demand that have
(BIEmEN B &) (M Evi) loan defaults or breach of loan
covenants (shown under current
liabilities) (note vi) (764,387) (1,734,391)
REETENNEREZEE 2 Amounts shown under current liabilities
BEIEREBE IR for the borrowings without loan
defaults or breach of loan covenants 5,000 15,788
BE : Borrowings:
BHEA (5ED) Secured (note i) 816,840 837,078
A (P i Rziv) Unsecured (notes iii & iv) 880,126 1,118,613
1,696,966 1,955,691
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Borrowings were denominated in the following

currencies:
2023 2022
FTHET TFA&TT
HK$’000 HK$’000
AR RMB 722,758 749,532
BT HK$ 932,580 572,959
ETT Us$ 41,628 42,419
03 T SGD = 590,781
1,696,966 1,955,691

AEEEEOERFE (AZRA D7
) WEDT :

BERFIE
EE A R EE

(ii

MN2023FE12A31B  AEBEETE
DAEBZYME - BEREKE FAE
BERBITIGTEREER 2B Y
304,402,000 7T ~ 75,262,000/ 7T &
T T (20224 : 592,049,000/ 7T
108,768,000/ Jt &% 9,767,000 7T) * BA
RARZEW B AR EAA G ERIEER -

M2023F12A31H 5T AEMEEN A
(a)El X & Bt 2 7] B 3 4941,628,0007% 7T
(20224 : 42,419,000/ 7T) * (D)EHH
12,750,000/ 7t (20224 : 56,314,000
BIT) ~ (0B TEFHNT AT (20224 -
247,476,000/ L) ~ (A =R ERE A
&1 E154F B & 37228,620,0007% Jt (2022
£ : 205,512,000 7T) R(e)A A AIERE A
&1 2154 81 & 3696,210,0005% T (2022 :
THET) °

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also
equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s
borrowings are as follows:

Variable-rate borrowings

notes:

(ii

BZE H=E
2023412881H 202212 A31H
ILEFE IEFE

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2023 2022

4.5% to 24%
4.5%%24%
2.65% to 5.5%
2.65%%5.5%

4.5% to 8.47%
4.5%%8.47%
4.25% to 5.5%
4.25%£5.5%

As at 31 December 2023, the secured borrowings
were mainly secured by property, plant and equipment,
right of use assets and deposits with banks of the
Group amounting to approximately HK$304,402,000,
HK$75,262,000 and HK$NIl (2022: HK$592,049,000,
HK$108,768,000 and HK$9,767,000) respectively and
corporate guarantees between the fellow subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2023, included in other borrowings
was (a) IFC loan of approximately HK$41,628,000
(2022: HK$42,419,000), (b) loans of approximately
HK$12,750,000 (2022: HK$56,314,000), (c) several
bonds of approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$247,476,000),
(d) REMT Creditor’'s Scheme 5 years term loans of
HK$223,620,000 (2022: HK$205,512,000) and (e) The
Company Creditor’s Scheme 5 years term loans of
HK$696,210,000 (2022: HK$NIl).
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(@)

BE—EHHARAF ZEEEWEA
AEBEESRAR (EBEERA
ADFTVHERBGZ  BReHD
A B [ M B A 7] 1% 127,000,000
ETZ2ER - ZEFIRAEFEN
T4.99/E2 £5.04F 5 & BRI H&
REIR B 5K 5 Pk A 78 R I8 30 B AR
FE-REBRBERMATZERTIA
THEEEER : (VAREEHZ
PEER: ((EHAEEBRBRER
AR([BE] - BEERI)EEZ
NA R ° R2023F12831H
549,280,000% f% 17 B f 7 2= &
KERSBARMEAMBTLEERY
AR R(iBITEROZE T (2022
F 19,698,000/ 7T) ° A+ AAD
RIEERIEBRBRBCELECGE
BENBEZEZR) ABRKRSEA
Bl ERER AR R 2 REF R
2 - AEERNBATESTETH
Ho HPREERMBRIBAZET
FIERY) o ZEHE R2020F AR
NEHMEBEEEL ©

MR2023%F12A31H %S5 45
B MR 2G5 ((1)5,000,0007%
TTERBERKEE  BFF X6E T
B+ (2)7,750,000/% 7T B 1A M £ N
B8 RENKR45EHB) A H
12,750,000/ 7t °

MR2022F12H31H  EF B4 —
% R2018FE12 A6H 5] ML W B 2 1
HOFHBARE—HBAR
A H) & = % F40,000,0005% 7T ) &
BHEE BRIFREER  BERZR
| HI B A2020%67A31H W& E
B 202147 A31H - ttERHAE
REZBHNE TRE CEKE
o ZEFIRENFRERIELE -
R2022%12A318 » ERHEME K
A 48 %856,314,000 T 2 i =4
512120238 A31H £ W& My A

%3 E -

MR2022%12A31H  EFBE—%
% 71 #9108,576,00078 Jt H) 0] & 4
B ARARAERXEFRET
& 3R+ 7% Al #2 #2 & % 7 20209F 7 A
1B BIZREKEN  EFHESE
HhEEWIRF N EK24EFT B - R
20224 12A31H » EREMESE
H 4858047, 476,000 T2 IHE A
512 R 2023F8 A31H £ W& My A

Zatdl o

Pursuant to a loan agreement entered into by a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
and International Finance Corporation (“IFC”),
IFC had granted a loan of US$27,000,000
to the subsidiary. The loan bears interest at
variable interest rate from 4.99% to 5.04% and
the amounts due are based on the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
The loan from IFC was secured by (i) corporate
guarantee given by the Company; (i) pledges
of shares in the Company as owned by Alpha
Sino International Limited (“Alpha Sino”), the
substantial shareholder. As at 31 December 2023,
549,280,000 shares, has been pledged by Alpha
Sino to IFC as security for the loan granted; and
(iiiy deposits with banks of approximately HK$Nil
(2022: HK$9,698,000). In addition, Mr. Chi Wen
Fu, a director and controlling shareholder of the
Company (through his interest in Alpha Sino), has
given an undertaking to IFC to maintain a minimum
level of shareholding in the Company. The Group
and the subsidiary had to comply with certain
covenants, including, among other things, certain
financial covenants, under the loan arrangement.
The loan had been defaulted in 2020 due to cross
default.

As at 31 December 2023, these represent
borrowings from shareholders of (1) HK$5,000,000
repayable on demand, carried an interest rate
of 6% per annum, (2) HK$7,750,000 repayable
within 2 years, carried an interest rate at 4.5% per
annum, totalling HK$12,750,000.

As at 31 December 2022, among which, there
includes a loan agreement entered on 6 December
2018, a subsidiary was granted HK$40,000,000
facilities limit by a director of a subsidiary. The
original maturity date of the loan was 31 July 2020
and had been extended to 31 July 2021 unless
early redeemed. The loan was defaulted upon the
breach of certain covenants of the loan agreement.
The loan carried at a default interest rate of 9%
per annum. As at 31 December 2022, altogether
with other loans in aggregate of HK$56,314,000
were compromised into the Scheme upon the
effective of Scheme of Arrangement on 31 August
2023.

As at 31 December 2022, among which,
there includes a former exchangeable bond of
approximately HK$108,576,000 become repayable
on demand on 21 July 2020 due to breach of
certain terms in the instruments by the Company,
and were reclassified to other borrowings and
carried at a default interest rate of 24% per
annum. As at 31 December 2022, altogether with
other bonds in aggregate of HK$247,476,000 were
compromised into the Scheme upon the effective
of Scheme of Arrangement on 31 August 2023.



(i)

(iv)

(d) 202295A31H @ W ERIFEREA
&I AR o N2022%5 8318 -
EREEEAGEBETEEZR
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F o B E2023F12831H ILFE -
ZERBEHEREEEAGTEZ
f& B R h & 5 B 4918,108,0007%
7T (20224 : 6,918,000/ 7T) ° 1
2023%12A31H B EREHN
HHERBERAGTEETHER
%4 /223,620,00058 JT (20224 :
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MR2022F 12318 ;T AERIFEEH
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AEEBAETHRITIBREREMEEREA
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2023128318 "NEBTERE 1T
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(vi)
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(d On 31 May 2022, the REMT Creditors’
Scheme became effective. The fair value of the
borrowings under the REMT Creditors’ Scheme
of approximately HK$198,594,000 as at 31 May
2022 were extended for a period of five years.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, this
borrowings under the REMT Creditors’ Scheme
recognised the imputed interest of approximately
HK$18,108,000 (2022: HK$6,918,000). As at 31
December 2023, the borrowings under the REMT
Creditors’ Scheme which extended for a period
of five years was approximately HK$223,620,000
(2022: HK$205,512,000).

(e)  On 31 August 2023, the Company Creditors’
Scheme became effective. The fair value of the
borrowings under the Company Creditors’ Scheme
of approximately HK$679,906,000 as at 31
August 2023 were extended for a period of five
years. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
this borrowings under the Company Creditors’
Scheme recognised the imputed interest of
approximately HK$16,304,000 (2022: HK$ Nil).
As at 31 December 2023, the borrowings under
the Company Creditors’ Scheme which extended
for a period of five years was approximately
HK$696,210,000 (2022: HK$ Nil).

This represents the carrying amount of the 7.0%
subordinated notes with the face value of SGD101.75
million (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme) issued by the Company on 5 June 2017.
The notes are listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange
and was matured and defaulted on 3 July 2020. Upon
the effective of Scheme of Arrangement on 31 August
2023, the notes were compromised into the Scheme. On
29 January 2024, the notes were also delisted from the
Singapore Stock Exchange.

As at 31 December 2022, included in unsecured
borrowings of approximately HK$43,663,000 represents
bank loans guaranteed by the corporate guarantee of the
Company. These bank loans were compromised into the
Scheme upon the effective of Scheme of Arrangement
on 31 August 2023.

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements.

Certain of the Group’s banking facilities and other
borrowings were subject to the fulfilment of covenants
as are commonly found in lending arrangements. As at
31 December 2023, the Group could not fulfill covenants
on certain borrowings with an aggregate amount of
HK$764,387,000 (2022: HK$1,734,391,000) that
constituted into default of repayment or loan covenants.
As at the date of this annual report, the aforesaid
borrowings were not yet renewed nor repaid.
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35.

R2023F 128318 @ SRITEEREMEE
ZIEFHEBRFE L7142 (20224F :
9.23[E) o

MN2023F12A31B ' (EEZREE R
H A 4 1,696,966, ooo,% 7t (20224 :
1,955,691,000/% 7T ) HE &

— ) L Bt 1 > W) 5% 17 B o 4 AR
"%

R2022F8 A5H - HERHEEREEREA
STEIGER AN ERAZITEREE AT RR
BEHF(MERRAIRKES] A& BFE
411,313,000/ 7T °

W EERHE AT E A T ESFIFE AER
AR ER(E0.033 (KL AR FARKNTE
(20224 : 1.20/%70)) 80 & WM £ BHE IR
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35.

The weighted average effective interest rate of bank
borrowing and other borrowings as at 31 December
2023 was approximately 7.14% (2022: 9.23%).

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
borrowing approximately equal to its fair value were
HK$1,696,966,000 (2022: HK$1,955,691,000).

CONVERTIBLE BONDS ISSUED BY A
LISTED SUBSIDIARY

On 5 August 2022, the REMT has issued zero coupon
convertible bonds (“REMT Convertible Bonds”) with
aggregate principal amount of HK$11,313,000 to
external creditors, pursuant to the terms of the REMT
Creditors’ Scheme.

The REMT Convertible Bonds entitle the bondholder
to convert to REMT shares at a conversion price of
HK$0.933 after adjusted for the effect of rights issue
during the year (2022: HK$1.20) The maturity date of
the REMT Convertible Bonds is 5 years from the date
of issue. Conversion may occur at any time before
maturity date of the REMT Convertible Bonds. Unless
previously redeemed or converted, REMT shall redeem
the REMT Convertible Bonds on the maturity date at
the redemption amount which shall be equal to 100%
of the principal amount thereof outstanding. REMT may
in its absolute discretion, without requiring the consent
of the Bondholders, redeem the whole or part of the
outstanding REMT Convertible Bonds at the principal
amount of the outstanding REMT Convertible Bonds to
be redeemed at any time prior to the maturity date (the
“Issuer Redemption Options”).
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At initial recognition, the REMT Convertible Bonds
were separated into a liability component and an equity
component representing the conversion options of the
REMT Convertible Bonds. The fair values of the liability
component and the equity conversion component
were determined at the issuance date. The fair value
of the liability component was estimated using the
prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible
instruments, which is referenced to professional
valuation conducted by an independent professionally
qualified valuer. The residual amount, representing
the value of the equity conversion component, has
been reported as non-controlling interests. The Issuer
Redemption Options are considered as closely related
to the host debt and we not separated from the host
contract.

The liability component was amortised over the term
of the REMT Convertible Bonds with the effective
interest method. The effective interest rate of the liability
component of the REMT Convertible Bonds on initial
recognition is 8.47% per annum and is subsequently
carried at amortised cost.

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments reasonably approximate to fair
values.

The liability component REMT Convertible Bonds
recognised at the end of the reporting period are
calculated as follow:

2023 2022
FE T FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
M1A1H As at 1 January 7,899 -
BITAIRES ¢ Issurance of the Covertible Bonds:
o 8 B AT AR (B 5 10 Fair value of the REMT
NhE Convertible Bonds - 8,692
FE 12 i 4 2 Non-controlling interests = (1,049)
RETHENAGEND Liability component at the
issuance date - 7,643
B Interest expenses 669 256
W12831H As at 31 December 8,568 7,899
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36. EIEU A

S8 ME R BUT K

36. DEFERRED REVENUE

Government grants received related
to assets

2023 2022
F#& T FH&T
HK$’000 HK$'000
66,881 69,354

ABRESTEZER ALUMRALSEBH
BEAR QAR R2012F B8 & i BT 5] 32
—H - BIEZBE  EHEARER
HLUTRZEBEBREARARIREY B
B (TER ) AREHEEERBERRESY

X BERRBNERE-

H E2023%F K2022F12A31H EFE -
& B K B URERE ] & B - ifn & =£20234F
K2022512 H31 B 1L 5 [Z 7 8 7 58 H fth U
A ° PA20234F 2022912 831 H 2 AR

HEZEHTHANERZRE -

PR EREX BRI Z B B) - WA HER RIR T
WAREEAMBINEERS BZAT

FEEERARFHNBRRER -

In order to encourage the development of magnesium
industry, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co., Limited entered into an agreement with the local
government in 2012. Pursuant to the agreement, the
local government agree to provide financial assistance
(the “Assistance”) to Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited to improve their production
technology and enhance the capacity of the property,
plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group has not received any Assistance and there
were no other income was recognised for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. The changes
between the carrying amount as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 are arised from exchange difference.

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables
is initially recognised as deferred revenue and
subsequently recognised in profit or loss over the life of
a depreciable asset by way of as a reduced depreciation
charge expense.
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DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The components of deferred tax balances recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

EEREEE Deferred Tax Liabilities
-BLmKE
nE - BE ARBTH
REE [ERE4E &L ] EVEE TRRES &3t
Convertible
Property, bonds issued
Mining Right-of- plantand  Intangible by a listed
rights  use assets  equipment asset  subsidiary Total
T T T TAL TAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R202F1A1R As at 1 January 2022 89,801 14,106 4,639 66,430 - 175,066
WBAREATRRES Issue of convertible bond by
a subsidiary - - - - 169 169
NBRAEARER (M12)  Credited to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss (Note 12) (302) 3,786 (4,433) (10,990) - (11,939)
ELA% Exchange alignment (6,194) (1,771) (206) (4,658) - (12,829)
R02E12A31B R As at 31 December 2022 and
202351 A1H 1 January 2023 83,395 16,121 - 50,782 169 150,467
SABARRR (MiF12) Credited to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss (Note 12) (4,027) (615) - (2,455) (65) (71,152)
B A% Exchange alignment (2,901) (564) = (1,765) = (5,230)
#2023F12531H As at 31 December 2023 76,467 14,942 - 46,562 114 138,085
EAFIRE 38. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY
vgvid- 4= @IS
Number Share
of shares capital
T & FHEIT
000 HK$’000
EE Authorised:
H2022F1H1H - Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each
20224 12A31H » as at 1 January 2022,
202831 A1B & 31 December 2022,
2023%F12A31H 1 January 2023 and
SR HEE0.02/E T LRk 31 December 2023 10,000,000 200,000
ERITRHBE: Issued and fully paid:
R2022%1 A1 » As at 1 January 2022,
2022%12A318 31 December 2022,
2023F1A1H & 1 January 2023 and
2023%F12H31H 31 December 2023 4,581,117 101,419
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) BERAE (a) Statement of Financial Position
W12A31H As at 31 December
2023 2022
F#E T AT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
KRB AR ZIEE Investments in subsidiaries 2,108 2,108
2,108 2,108
REBEE Current assets
H b fE Y kI8 « BB Other receivables, prepayments
Rize and deposits 288 2,028
JE W Pt /B8 A R FRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,317,890 1,266,456
RITRBELER Bank and cash balances 42 44
1,318,220 1,268,528
REBEE Current liabilities
b fE < 5RI8 Other payables 1,673 332,746
FERTFR 1SR Income tax payable 2,974 2,974
ETE Borrowings 5,000 878,251
9,647 1,213,971
REBEEFE Net current assets 1,308,573 54,557
EEHERRBARG Total assets less current
liabilities 1,310,681 56,665
ERBER Non-current liabilities
e Borrowings 703,960 =
EEFE Net assets 606,721 56,665
AATEEAELMRA Capital and reserves
RfEE attributable to owners of the
Company
f& 7 Share capital 101,419 101,419
i Reserves 505,302 (44,754)
RSB Total equity 606,721 56,665
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(b) f&F (b) Reserves

Bfte RAROERE BEEGE  REEA it

Capital Share
Share redemption option Retained
premium reserve reverse earnings Total

Tk TiET TiET TET TiEL
HKBO0O  HK$O00  HK§0O00  HK§O0O  HK$O000

#R2022F1 A1A As at 1 January 2022 1,353,356 4,526 14,982 (847,741) 526,123
ERER Loss for the year - - - (572,734)  (572,734)
ERzERRLE Total comprehensive expense

for the year - - (572,734) (572,734)

RELERNNZ 2R 5 Equity settled share-based transactions - - 2,857 - 2,857

R2020512A318 R202351A18  As at 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023 1,353,356 4,526 17,839  (1,420475)  (44,754)

Emgh Profit for the year - - - 548417 548,417
ERzENELE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 548417 548,417
RELERNAR RS Equity settled share-based transactions - - 1,639 - 1,639
B XM E Share options lapsed - - (323) 323 .

R2023%12/31A As at 31 December 2023 1,353,356 4,526 19,155 (871,735) 505,302
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40. fRERHE AT @

(a)

ELEIZERENE

ARSI RBEBEFZEIUNERRE
NEBER  ARREEEINSE K
B TERZAERKRSEE  AQ
A A2019F6 A 26 H £ 4y — 1B B A% 12
& ([ZET8)) - AERZHEEE
BEAEEEE BERHAEH
BB AEEABDRE  HERXK
RS IER o BIERTTFESHIERT -
T AIZET 8% B &R A B#E10F A
B ZFTEIZH T FHY AS5F
(20296 A268 @) °

BERETREEE2ENBEENE
JB - 17 s E Al 75 T A 16 R B R A
MR - B B ER RRREZ
AT BRI EAD IR R R AFAR T — 2R ©

REETZLRUTERSE  ()KHB
EFEREELBEREERARS
FTERAR ([BRAT]) BEAMMER
BTl 2 We i {8 (A% 1p A B B AR 4
KHEHBEASER S ARERAEH
HRERXRAH 2 FHUTE - K&
1 Z E{E0.028 T » RIKZ A8/ 7] 8
REBRESR2&SRMHDEE -
AETAZRARARTEZE LT
AEAR30% - RENRHBREZE4
B ERTFTEARARAXNRIE
1.008 7T °

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(a) Share option scheme of the Company

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group’s
businesses and to provide additional incentives
or rewards to selected qualifying participants,
the Company adopted a share option scheme
on 26 June 2019 (the “Scheme”). The qualifying
participants mainly include employees of the
Group, Directors and contractors, suppliers
or service providers of the Group who have
contribution to the Group. The Scheme, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years since its establishing date. The
remaining life of the Scheme is approximately 5.5
years (expiry on 26 June 2029).

Options may be granted on such terms and
conditions in relation to their vesting, exercise or
otherwise as the directors may determine in its
absolute discretion, provided that such terms and
conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other
terms and conditions of the Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheet of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on the date of offer of the option; (ii) the average
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
5 trading days immediately preceding the date
of offer of the option; and (i) the nominal value
of a Share of HK$0.02. The maximum number of
Shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Scheme shall not, in aggregate, exceed
30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. Upon acceptance of the offer
for the grant of option, an amount of HK$1.00 is
payable by the grantee to the Company.
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The Company can issue options so that the
total number of shares that may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme does not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issue on the date of approval of the
Scheme. The Company may refresh this 10% limit
at any time, subject to shareholders’ approval and
the issue of a circular and in accordance with the
Listing Rules provided that the number of shares
to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes
does not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from
time to time.

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each eligible person (including both exercised and
outstanding options under the Scheme) in the
twelve-month period expiring on the offer date
must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company. Where any grant of options
to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any
of their respective associates, would result in the
securities issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the twelve-month
period up to and including the date of such grant
(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
relevant class of securities in issue; and (i) (where
the securities are listed on the Stock Exchange),
having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the securities at the date of each grant,
in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of
options must be approved by shareholders of the
Company.

The share options are exercisable only if the
Eligible Participants remain in the service of the
Group from the grant date of the share options up
to the designated exercise date.
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20234 2023
#2023 1#2023%
1A1A ERR ERITE FREN EREZ  12831H
BE ZERE ZBRE ZBRE ZBRE BE
Held at Options Options Options Options Held at
1 granted exercised lapsed transferred 31
January during during during during  December
2023 the year the year the year the year 2023
aity
The Scheme
(A E8 131,900,000 - - - - 131,900,000
Employees
(B) &M (MizH) 110,000,000 - - - - 110,000,000
Consultants (note i)
(c) E%
Directors
M E 20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000
Chi Wen Fu
HE 8,000,000 - - - - 8,000,000
Chi Jing Chao
PRE 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) - -
Guo Mengyong*
REXK 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000
Cheung Sound Poon
s 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000
Sheng Hong
284,900,000 - - (5,000,000) - 279,900,000

* MR2023F5 HOH Bt -

Passed away on 9 May 2023.

e
B

Exercise
price
HK$

0.3
0.3
0.3
0.3
0.3
0.3

0.3

0.3
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20224 2022
#2022 #2022
1A1H FEREH FERTR ERER EREZ  12A31A
2] ZERE ZERE ZBRE ZBRE 2] e
BT
Held at Options Options Options Options Held at
1 granted exercised lapsed transferred 31
January during during during during  December Exercise
2022 the year the year the year the year 2022 price
HK$
it 8l
The Scheme
(A EE 131,900,000 - - - - 131,900,000 0.3
Employees
(B) R (FizH) 110,000,000 - - - - 110,000,000 0.3
Consultants (note i)
c) 2
Directors
X E 20,000,000 = = = - 20,000,000 0.3
Chi Wen Fu
b 8,000,000 - - - - 8,000,000 0.3
Chi Jing Chao
PEE 5,000,000 = = = = 5,000,000 0.3
Guo Mengyong
RER 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.3
Cheung Sound Poon
&t 5,000,000 = = = = 5,000,000 0.3
Sheng Hong
284,900,000 - - - - 284,900,000 0.3
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CES

()  M2019%F7H25H ' 3ZEMEA D
Bl J& $45,000,0001% * 25,000,000
19 % 40,000,000 B AR 1 - R E A
EERAEENBLE=F Wi
H(BEERRR) ERRHETS
BRETH  ETREEENRE
fth & E R TR IR A & BARTESE -

ARARR ERAEEERER
BER@FRGE R mERKXLE
BEEIRE LB Z S RER
ERREBEEER -BREDLIR/ET
ZEBRARAEEREFSER
T N B 5 R B B R Y 2R
AEERM ARG ERENE
B BRELOBEREN  ARFL
ERZFRBAREHERNRBRESE
1R A fr) EL A SR -

MN2023FE12A31H » i A IT{E B AR
AN ERBE  (TERRITEE -

note:

On 25 July 2019, 3 consultants were granted each
with 45,000,000, 25,000,000 and 40,000,000
Share Options respectively. They are body
incorporated and independent third parties to the
Group who are rendering, including but not limited
to, services in relation to assisting of all types of
financing arrangement, introducing of investors,
and other financial services if appropriate and
available, etc.

The Company consider that in view of the limited
resources of the Group and to maintain a long
term growth, the Share Options granted to the
consultants can help to retain and motivates these
non-employees to generate growth in company
value. The Share Options was granted as incentive
for these consultants to provide ongoing service to
the Group and to maintain a long-term relationship
with them so that the Group can maintain a
streamline operation with stability. Apart from
the Share Options granted, the Company has
not provided any other remuneration to these
consultants for their services provided.

Options outstanding at 31 December 2023 have
the following expiry date, exercise period and
exercise prices.

yiEsg=: & B H 1Tt 5 FRATHEE BREHE
Exercise prices Number
Grant date Expiry date Exercise period per Share of Options
BT
HK$
ZEtEl
The Scheme
201947 H25H 2025912 A30H B2020F11 A1 ZE 0.3 279,900,000
2025912 A30H
25 July 2019 30 December 2025 From 1 November 2020

to 30 December 2025



(b)

RAFHRAL ZtBBEBTAHE
TZARRRMGBE (B it ﬁﬁi
TIE AR HE) 5438,111,6840% © 1HE
RAARE BB BETRAL.56% °
ZETE 52202946 A26 B @i °

ZET 8B TR #E E2019F12 A31
BIEFEMRE2ERE FHA=
BEAHETERAETAAEAY
21,291,000/ 7C ° & A Z [ EE R
MEZHEREZARKH B R
B0.2238 L (ERBRMD D IFHW T L
EHFAE) - EaifTEE - FBHRE
W E)H42.352% c FEERBFIE A
1.367% ° 496.4384F 78 51 i A% 4 F HA
K0% 2k B & - 1% 78 # i% (& B 7} &9
BEREMAENRE  THRIEA
201647 A25H £201947 A25H #)
SEHRENSGA M ES D - &
E2023F12A31HLLEFE  Eft A
MEeEBEmAxNZE2EEHAE1,639,000

77T (20224F ¢ 2,857,000/ 7T) °

WELEIZIERENE
BEERE

ARSI RKBEFEIERAER
HERENER THRLERTEE
BoEERBEENEHKODF B
FERIFRA2017F 12 A4 B £ 4 BE A% 1
& ([HExEREEtal]) -68K2
HEFTBREREE BF - ABHE -
HEFIRGEHEED BEHLA
BERBEBREDER HHERRK
SEEERTBHEFTERER
tE 317 BEUH SIS B Bl B Hh © #5 8E FY
BaT 8182 T F B4 B4F (R20274F
12A4BEm) °

(b)
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As at the date of the annual report, the total
number of Shares of the Company available for
issue under the Scheme (including the above
Options outstanding not yet exercised) was
438,111,684, representing approximately 9.56% of
the issued share capital of the Company as of the
date thereof. The Scheme will expire on 26 June
2029.

The fair value of Options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2019 under the Scheme
determined using the Binomial Option Pricing
model was approximately HK$21,291,000. The
significant inputs into the model were share price
of HK$0.223, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility is 42.352%,
annual risk-free interest rate of 1.367%. Expected
life of Options of approximately 6.438 years
and dividend payout ratio of 0%. The volatility
measured at the standard deviation of expected
share price returns is based on statistical analysis
of daily share prices from 25 July 2016 to 25
July 2019. During the year ended 31 December
2023, approximately HK$1,639,000 (2022:
HK$2,857,000) were charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Share option scheme of a subsidiary
REMT

In order to attract and retain the best quality
employees for the development of the Group of
REMT’s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying
participants, REMT adopted a share option
scheme on 4 December 2017 (the “REMT
Scheme”). The qualifying participants mainly
include employees, directors, contractors,
suppliers or service providers who have
contribution to the Group of REMT. The REMT
Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years since its
establishing date. The remaining life of the REMT
Scheme is approximately 4 years (expiry on 4
December 2027).
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ZEEBATIRELNRASI+ =@
AHEAERERE (BEBERE
FTEITE 1T K is R 7750 0 BE IR )
BT EMESRTREEZTHRY
BE - TEBEMERBBERITRA
1% HABHER T EERRRBE L
FRTES (SIBESENEAHE
AN BLAEMNEREMEREEER
HBEH(EEZE) I+ =@A8 M
RN FRALTEERERGERHZ
HERE(BIECETHE  CEEEM
RITEREERR ) BITE M 31T &8
FERTNEBELFEE (/A LHBBHEAE
HRIEBITHESFM0.1% 5 K(i) (HE
HFREZAT E™) BRIBEEFNSE D
AE BT E R B EE#S5,000,000
B BN EREALSH S
R RS AL o

2023128318 @ B E K K1TE
i A o

RAFHRAH HHEREFEET
BT IRENBEROBE A
22,871,9500% » & R # xR R
RNHHEB TR A L3.86% ° #ix
BB 2 TEHOA4IE  THBER
2027F12 4B @ °

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each eligible person (including both exercised and
outstanding options under the REMT Scheme) in
the twelve-month period expiring on the offer date
must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
REMT. Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of REMT, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the securities issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the twelve-month period up to and
including the date of such grant (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of
securities in issue; and (ii) (where the securities
are listed on the Stock Exchange), having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
securities at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, such further grant of options must
be approved by shareholders of REMT.

No options were outstanding at 31 December
2023.

As at the date of the annual report, the total
number of shares of REMT available for issue
under the REMT Scheme was 22,871,950
representing approximately 3.86% of the issued
share capital of REMT as of the date thereof.
The remaining life of the REMT Scheme is
approximately 4 years and to be expired on 4
December 2027.
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20234 2023
R2023F ErRtz  ERfife  EAiNz  H2023f
1818 #B=R% RENR  RERR  RENK  12A31A
BE  ENEE  QRRESE BhE EhE EhE 58
Adjusted REMT REMT REMT
upon the Options Options Options Held at
Held at  completion granted  exercised lapsed 31
1 January of the  Held after during during during  December
2023 rights issue rights issue the year the year the year 2023
(A &
Employees 8,170,000 1,040,280 9,210,280 - - (9,210,280) -
7,000,000 - - - - (7,000,000 -
B) %
Directors
FEL 250,000 31,832 281,832 - - (281,832 -
Cheung Sound Poon
BENREMESZ 1,750,000 222,826 1,972,826 - - (1,972,826) -
Other directors of
REMT
10,170,000 1,294,938 11,464,938 - - (11,464,938) -
7,000,000 - - - - (7,000,000) -
17,170,000 - 11,464,938 - - (18,464,938) -

R2023%
10830F
A
SRTEE
BT

Exercisable
price per
share
before
rights
issue on
30 October
2023

HK$

20235
10A30A
et
BREZHZ
BHEGEE
#7
Adjusted
exercise
price per
share
option offer
the rights
issue on

30 October
2023

HK$

7
NATER

7
N/ATER
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20224 2022
R2022E  ERREZ  EROFZ ERXRZ 20206
1818 RERR RhERR hERH ki 12A318
i Bl Bl BiRiE AbFAE i g
BT
(FizE1) liEa)
REMT REMT REMT
Held at Options Options Options Held at
1 granted exercised lapsed Adjustment 31
January during during during for share December Exercise
2022 the year the year the year  consolidation 2022 price
HKS
(note 1) (note 1)
W E&
Employees 163,400,000 - - - (155,230,000) 8,170,000 8
140,000,000 - - - (138,000,000) 7,000,000 6
B) 2%
Directors
RAK 5,000,000 - - - (4,750,000) 250,000 8
Cheung Sound Poon
RENRANES 40,000,000 - - (5000000 (33,250,000 1,750,000 8
Other directors of REMT
208,400,000 - - (5,000,000 (198,230,000 10,170,000 8
140,000,000 - - - (138,000,000) 7,000,000 6
348,400,000 - - (5,000,000 (326,230,000 17,170,000
I 5E - note:
1. ZRAFHER BB A202247A 1.  Reference is made to the REMT’s announcement
138 B A - 7202297 148 - dated 13 July 2022. On 14 July 2022, the exercise
ARBERTETEOEHE  TEE price and number of share options have been

FEREHEE TAE - adjusted due to share consolidation by REMT.



H E2019F12A31B It FE K H
ZIERI B IRE R E A H R
EEENEE AR EA#13,509,000
BT e MAZGERANEZFER
ZAREE AHMNRE.285% T (B
MDD FNFEELARE) « £l
T8 - THHIRRE IR BN 1046.729%
£54.568% « FEERRF E1.459%
£1.758% ° &)1 1E31F A ER
HEREFHARRBREE1.64 1%
FEHRELNRHNZEREMAED
g o iR ¥ 201012 A31H &
2019F7H25BMEBEAREN R H
MEEBE -

H E2018F12A31B It FE &
B HEREERERE FAMIR
-HRNHERABEAREARD
21,558,000/8 7T ° ) A% (A EE R B
EEERZARBE L HHNERE
0.325%8 L (ERBRMD A IFRMFEIE
M) EWliTEE - BERER
N R42.107%E47.596% * F € &
A & F &1.561%%F1.999% ° #91.52
Z5.68F R MERH R ERESH R
TR B K o 1R IBHIRR (B O] 3R A0 12
REMITEMEE - HIRIEH2012
F£10H248 201854 8258 & H
REMNFTIMTESE -

H E2023F12A31BIEFE - #4
EH 4928 7T (20224 : 918,0005# 7T)
Bt ARAEFERA -
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The fair value of REMT Options granted during
the year ended 31 December 2019 determined
using the Binomial Option Pricing model was
approximately HK$13,509,000. The significant
inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.285, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from
46.729% to 54.568%, annual risk-free interest
rate of 1.459% to 1.758%. Expected life of REMT
Options of approximately 1.1 to 3.1 years and
dividend vyield of 1.64. The volatility measured at
the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 31 December 2010 to 25 July
2019.

The fair value of REMT Options granted during
the year ended 31 December 2018 determined
using the Black-Scholes valuation model was
approximately HK$21,558,000. The significant
inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.325, at the grant date and adjusted for
the effect of the share subdivision, exercise price
shown above, expected volatility ranged from
42.107% to 47.596%, annual risk-free interest
rate of 1.561% to 1.999%. Expected life of REMT
Options of approximately 1.52 to 5.68 years and
dividend payout ratio of Nil. The volatility measured
at the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of daily
share prices from 24 October 2012 to 25 April
2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2023,
aggregate amount of approximately HK$Nil (2022:
HK$918,000) were charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

41. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2023 2022
FERT THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000

221

BT OB ARG A M B®RERE  Capital expenditure in respect of
Bz EBREBYE HEKEK the acquisition of property, plant
BzEATH and equipment contracted for but
not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 47,848 68,682




222

43R5t £ ACA R A7 Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

87 55 ¥ = B 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

B ZE2023F12A31H L F[E
For the year ended 31 December 2023

42. HEBEATXZRHAEXR S

BEaMBEBREZEREIN FRAAEE
BETUNTEZMEALRS -

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group entered into the
following significant related party transactions during the

year.
(a) TEEBZEABME (a) Key Management Compensation
2023 2022
FTET FH&ET
HK$’000 HK$’000
= (MIer14) Directors (Note 14) 2,775 3,038
HEMFTEBEHEASR Other key management personnel:
e hEMEEHESREF Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits 4,260 4,845
7,035 7,883

(b) HMNELEEDRBEKEAEQFIED (b) Mr. Chi Wen Fu has given an undertaking to IFC
B BARRcBREERFERE to maintain a minimum level of shareholding in
KEERBERRR FHEL2AM the Company as collateral of the borrowings as
at34 ° detailed in Note 34.

(c) #H2022F12A31H ' —HHE R A (c) As at 31 December 2022, a subsidiary was
RTH—HEHRBARIESR TH — indebtedness in a loan (“the Loan”) amounting
%%%ﬁt_ﬁ% 314,000/ 7T 818 =X ([ 1B to HK$36,314,000, at an interest rate of 6% per

;) FEFEEE o annum, granted by a director of a subsidiary.
*Eﬁ%%/% BEXZMARRAR ([H Pursuant to Rule 14A.72 of the Rules Governing
READBEHEMBA (T EMHRAD the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
%14A TGRTE EESHRZLE of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”),
HENEEEEGGREBELE the Directors confirm that such borrowing was
TOWIHENEBREERERT Bt conducted on normal commercial terms or better,
TEME EMHRAE14A 73K E and not secured by the assets of the Group,
14A.9016MRE « AE - BRFARE and thus are fully exempt from the reporting,
HEERKZFREBHTE ° announcement, circular and shareholders’
approval requirements under Rule 14A.73 and
Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.
ZEE R E AR F ARG E N The loan has been default in repayment of
R —H # R AEE ,%'\&ﬁf’ﬁ 7 interest and principle since the commencement
ABRRAIERARFRBAGE - of provisional liquidation of the Company, and
enter the Company creditors’ scheme for five year
extension.
M2023%8H31H ' e R (BEAE On 31 August 2023, the Loan which include
jJuﬂ 237,238,000/ 7T) B # B & principal plus interest amounted HK$37,238,000
SEERFHEAEREAGEIER - have been discharged and allocated into the five
year term extension creditors’ scheme loan.
(d R2023F12H318 - /NI (d) As at 31 December 2023, the Company was

$'\
BEABHARAR—REERLN
12,750,000/ 7T (20224 : &8 '
FERR BAE%ECY% °

indebtedness of amounting to HK$12,750,000
(2022: HK$ Nil), at an interest rate of 4.5% to 6%
per annum, granted by a director of the Company.



43.

44.

REEBHATIARA A ([H#
RATDEHEMAB (T ETAAD
FIAAT2IE R E EET A% E
HRENESEERESEEGGE
TOWIUNEEEEAEE AL
SEEFE ETRAIFE14A. 7316 F 5
14A. Q016 MSRE ~ AE ~ BERAMME
HEBKZHRERTE °

Lo REBEBEBEXZMARRAES
ERRAT ERRA) E14AT2M5 - E=
RBRALFBBECERBEALRS - #
e EMBRAUNBAAEFMERNBAER
FERFERAERHZESE

RS

REE2023F12A31BILFE - AEET
EERPHASHAEZHNEREEER
HEAGBEMNIEBRESRE -
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.72 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”),
the Directors confirm that such borrowing was
conducted on normal commercial terms or better,
and not secured by the assets of the Group,
and thus are fully exempt from the reporting,
announcement, circular and shareholders’
approval requirements under Rule 14A.73 and
Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

In addition, pursuant to Rule 14A.72 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”),
the Directors consider that none of the material
related party transactions disclosed above falls under
the definition of connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
had no non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities in respect of lease arrangements of office
premises.

HEEIEB5EHRRHIE 44. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
5 TRRES HEaE @it
Convertible Lease
Borrowings bonds liabilities Total
T AL AL AL
HK§'000 HK§$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R202F1A1R As at 1 January 2022 2,146,074 = 6,214 2,162,288
HERERE Financing cash flow (38,647) - (357) (39,004)
HEHZ Foreign exchange adjustments (56,829) - (1,087) (57,866
E%zEA Debt restructuring (101,825) 7,643 - (04,182)
EtRege () Other non-cash movement (note) 6,918 256 1682 8,856
R2022412R318 R As at 31 December 2022 and
2023F1A1A 1 January 2023 1,955,691 7,899 6,502 1,970,092
HERENE Financing cash flow 11,651 - (1,366) 10,285
SHERE Foreign exchange adjustments (50,859) - (185) (51,044)
EREd Debt restructuring (253,929) - - (253,029)
BB ees (M) Other non-cash movement (note) 34,412 669 408 35,489
R2023512531A Net debt as at
FEE 31 December 2023 1,696,966 8,568 5,359 1,710,893

Wi EHFRe
B -

BEVBERREESR

note: other non-cash movement included finance costs and

additions to lease liabilities.
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45. B A FHARESZEH

HE2023F12A31HILFE  KAEERH
35 BB H) IR #E 160.10% 7 72 £40.00% ©
HRZER S AL E MR IE R 251
IN#9180,764,000% 7T K& £ ib 7 5 15 40 49

159,360,000/ 7T °

HE2022F12A31H I FE  KEERH
R R B72.31%% B £60.10% °
HRZER S NEBERIEIEREDSR
4> 49133,108,0007% 7T & H fth 7 8 35 0 49

162,893,000/% 7T

46. RRRRRNARAR

(a) M2023F12A31H  IWKRA B —
BB E =77 (20225 : —ZBE
=7) A —[RTT (2022F : —[ IR
TG EERENFI T EEER
#9 A R #141,000,0007T (20224 :

o H I E K

THEBITERET  AFUIMA-

A R #141,000,0007T)

FHECEERZEZFHB
HEIA2016F9H27TH 2 A% »

BB E =77 M2022F 1T T
BHEMH  RITHILRABIEER
A BRBMITERER - B AIRRTT
EEUSEREOR - BIRTT - IR
ABBARRTNE-FZTHSK
ERER UBRBZFERER
HZBILF=TRIALETE A

MEASENERBHN L -

F2H

45.

46.

CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
equity interest in REMT was diluted from 60.10% to
40.00%. As a result of these transactions, the Group
recognised an increase in non-controlling interests of
approximately HK$180,764,000 and a decrease in other
reserve of approximately HK$159,360,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s
equity interest in REMT was diluted from 72.31% to
60.10%. As a result of these transactions, the Group
recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of
approximately HK$133,108,000 and an increase in
other reserve of approximately HK$162,893,000.

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

(@) As at 31 December 2023, Shandong Hongri has
executed financial guarantees to a bank (2022: a
bank) for credit facilities granted to an independent
third party (2022: an independent third parties),
for approximately RMB141,000,000 (2022:
RMB141,000,000) which would be required to be
paid if the guarantees were called upon in entirely.

For more detail of the corporate guarantees,
please refer to announcement date 27 September
2016.

As the independent third party was entering into
debt restructuring in 2022, the bank pursued
litigation against Shandong Hongri to claim
enforcement on the corporate guarantee. The
bank has obtained a court ruling at present, but it
has not yet been executed. Shandong Hongri will
seek legal advice in response to further actions by
the bank and will take necessary actions against
the independent third party based on such legal
advice to safeguard the overall interests of the
Group.
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Although the offshore debt restructuring was
completed on 31 August 2023, the cross-defaults
and payment defaults caused previously have
triggered bank creditors of certain subsidiaries
in mainland China and other creditors to initiate
lawsuits against the subsidiaries for immediate
repayment. This may include but is not limited to
requests for asset freezing, seizure, and auction to
recover their debts.

For such litigations, they were mainly in relation
to failure to perform the obligation of the related
liabilities already recognized in the consolidated
financial statements and related assets pledged.
Some of the lawsuits have obtained rulings from
local courts. If the pledged assets are eventually
auctioned, the proceeds will be used firstly
for the repayment of the debts of the relevant
subsidiaries. The group’s overall liabilities will also
be reduced accordingly.

Regarding the creditors who have obtained
local court rulings but have not yet entered the
execution process or are currently suspended from
execution, the Group will actively communicate
with them, striving to seek resolutions through
agreements and settlements, in order to have time
and space for debt restructuring of the relevant
subsidiaries. If new agreements cannot be reached
with these creditors in the end, they may restart
legal proceedings and reapply for court rulings to
be executed.

Currently, the debt restructuring of the subsidiaries
in mainland China is still ongoing. Due to the
Group’s shortage of working capital and the
further complexity added by litigation and
execution cases, it has become more difficult to
carry out the debt restructuring of the subsidiaries
in mainland China, which also restrict its normal
business operations.

Further announcements on the progress of debts
restructuring of onshore subsidiaries in mainland China
will be made by the Company so as to update the
shareholders and investors of the Company in relation
to any material development on such debt restructuring
and litigations.
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47. REMERER

(a)

AN 7] B B9 Bl £2023F 12 A8
H : 202452 A23H &2024F3H8H
MAEANTIFE -

AEEZZ2ENBRAR  TIAKXE
QT HERAR (HIARE]) E
ERERTHRESEE IR &
FEE CIARQRN— %%AEM
78,800,000 E /IR A REEN LT
HERAE - WE - &E EmE ([T
A EE] EHIEFEMNRITER -

AN A 22023496 A308 1F K B IR
%WT&EE ! EZETTHE*’I’EEE’]UILE
B RE/MT B EBEENRR
AEEFBTEE T EREERRE
TR RIMEREFEERENREMKE -

MR2024F3A5HMMAE  JIARQA
BENAHBSHEHARE1.06EE
teo HEMSRBESEBLANERT
AR EMANBRITERUAREM
RRIARBIBEL EHF TH
TRESE  HAEMEMES OB
—HERE - RERFTBELEERFE
TR AT LAES °

47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

(a)

Reference is made to the announcements of the
Company respectively on 8 December 2023, 23
February 2024 and 8 March 2024.

Jiangxi Tianrui Fengshou Chemical Co., Ltd. (the
“Jiangxi Company”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, was undergoing debt restructuring
under the supervision of the court. Among
them, a secured bank loan of Jiangxi Company
approximately RMB78,800,000 was secured
by the land use rights, plant, equipment, motor
vehicles, etc. owned by Jiangxi Company (the
“Assets of Jiangxi Company”).

As disclosed in the interim report for the period
ended 30 June 2023, to maintain the working
capital for fertiliser production and minimize
the risks arising from market fluctuations, the
Group has adjusted and compressed its fertiliser
production scale. The production capacity of
Jiangxi Company still remained idle.

On 5 March 2024, the Assets of Jiangxi Company
were sold for an aggregate amount of RMB106
million at auction. The auction proceeds will be
used firstly for the repayment of the secured bank
borrowings and other debts of Jiangxi Company.
Under the supervision of the court, the Jiangxi
company will undergo bankruptcy liquidation,
and all its other debts will be dealt with as well.
After completing all legal procedures, the Jiangxi
company will be deregistered.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

#HZ2023F12A31HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

(o) Reference is made to the 2023 Interim Results
of the Company, certain bank creditors of
subsidiaries in mainland China have initiated
lawsuits. This includes a mainland Chinese bank
that has filed a lawsuit against Baishan City Tianan
Magnesium Resources Company Limited (“Baishan
Tianan”) for its failure to repay a loan and has
applied for an auction in the local court. Baishan
Tianan is a wholly owned subsidiary of Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(“REMT”) which is a listed group of the Company.
The bank loan is secured by Baishan Tianan’s
land use rights, factory buildings, machinery, and
equipment located in Baishan City, Jilin Province,
China. As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding
principal of the bank loan amounts to a total of
RMB64,000,000.

Baishan Court conducted an auction of Baishan
Tianan’s assets between 10 March 2024, and
11 March 2024, with a total auction price of
approximately RMB133 million. The proceeds from
the auction will be prioritised for the repayment of
the relevant debts of Baishan Tianan. As disclosed
in the 2023 Interim Results of REMT, Baishan
Tianan’s production capacity has been idle for
several years.

As of the date of this report, the auction has
ended without a successful bid.

Saved as disclosed above, there ae no material events
undertaken by the Group subsequent to 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this report. As at the date
of this Report, the Group’s business operations are still
proceeding normally, and the above matters have not
had a significant impact on the Group’s other business
operations.

COMPARATIVES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with current year’s presentation.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE
OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements was approved
and authorised for issued by the board of directors on
28 March 2024.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
FET FHET FTHT FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
HZ12H31H1-%/F  For the year ended 31 December
WA Revenue 315,582 531,605 1,331,858 2,151,811 4,314,420
HEK A Cost of sales (395,915)  (466,105) (1,200,336) (1,848,286) (3,251,036)
EF Gross profit (80,333) 65,500 131,522 303,525 1,063,384
Hilm s EEFE Other gains or losses, net 44,890 (527,657) (959,890) (745,023) 92,128
HERTSEEER Selling and marketing costs (4,728) (7,839) (34,377) (55,377) (107,917)
TR Y Administrative expenses (264,683)  (399,960)  (196,661)  (251,607)  (302,330)
B 5 & A Finance costs (178,819)  (191,776)  (200,301)  (179,501)  (153,664)
BT SR AT (E1E) / (Loss)/profit before income tax
ikl (483,673) (1,061,732) (1,259,707) (927,983) 591,601
miEHEe,/ (BAX) Income tax credit/(expense) 8,537 6,365 5,605 (56,222) (163,347)
FN(EB) /SR (Loss)/profit for the year (475,136) (1,055,367) (1,254,102)  (984,205) 428,254
THALEIEER (Loss)/profit for the year attributable to:
(B18) /A -
Vi/NCTEZ 2N Owners of the Company (236,690) (1,007,080) (1,121,566) (745,368) 380,368
IR ER Non-controlling interests (238,446) (48,287)  (132,536)  (238,837) 47,886
R (BR) /BF : (Loss)/earnings per share:
- EAR(ZRRAW) - basic (HK cents per share) (5.17) (21.98) (24.48) (16.27) 8.30
- B8 (BRRB) ~ diluted (HK cents per share) (7.46) (21.98) (24.48) (16.27) 8.30
R12531H As at 31 December
EELE Total assets 3,222,413 4,361,021  5910,461 6,934,475 7,627,565
BEBE Total liabilities (2,592,283) (3,178,208) (3,446,442) (3,347,477) (3,357,654)
BnBE Total equity 630,130 1,182,813 2,464,019 3,586,998 4,269,911
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